
 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Agenda 
 
7.00 pm, Wednesday 4 December 2019 
St Laurence Centre 
37 Bromley Road 
Catford, London  
SE6 2TS 
 
For more information contact: Timothy Andrew 
(timothy.andrew@lewisham.gov.uk) 
 
This meeting is an open meeting and all items on the agenda may be audio 
recorded and/or filmed. 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2019 

 
3 - 16 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

17 - 20 

3.   Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

4.   Parking policy update 
 

21 - 122 

5.   Cycling 
 

123 - 134 

6.   Select Committee work programme 
 

135 - 160 

7.   Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 
Members 

 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting 
to be held on Wednesday, 4 December 2019.  
 
Kim Wright, Chief Executive 

Tuesday, 26 November 2019 
 
  

Councillor Liam Curran (Chair)  

Councillor Patrick Codd (Vice-Chair)  

Councillor Obajimi Adefiranye  

Councillor Abdeslam Amrani  

Councillor Suzannah Clarke  

Councillor Mark Ingleby  

Councillor Louise Krupski  

Councillor Pauline Morrison  

Councillor Alan Smith  

Councillor James-J Walsh  

Councillor Bill Brown (ex-Officio)  

Councillor Sakina Sheikh (ex-Officio)  
  

   



 

 

 
 
 

MINUTES OF THE SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT SELECT COMMITTEE 

Monday, 28 October 2019 at 7.00 pm 
 

PRESENT:  Councillors Liam Curran (Chair), Patrick Codd (Vice-Chair), 
Abdeslam Amrani, Suzannah Clarke, Louise Krupski and James-J Walsh 
 
APOLOGIES: Councillors Obajimi Adefiranye, Mark Ingleby and Pauline Morrison 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Councillor Stephen Penfold, Councillor Brenda Dacres (Cabinet 
Member for Environment and Transport (job share)), Councillor Sophie McGeevor 
(Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport (job share)), Tony Leach (Parks for 
London), Anne Slater (Lewisham Green Spaces Forum), Timothy Andrew (Scrutiny 
Manager), Kheng Chau (Senior Planning Lawyer), Viv Evans (Head of Programmes), 
Christopher Howard (Environmental Protection Officer), Jon Kanareck (Lewisham 
Homes), Martin Ryan (Head of Environmental Services) (Lewisham Homes), Geeta 
Subramaniam-Mooney (Director of Public Protection and Safety) and David Syme 
(Strategic Planning Manager) 
 
1. Minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2019 

 
1.1 Resolved: that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 September be agreed 

as an accurate record. 
 

2. Declarations of interest 
 
2.1 Councillor Suzannah Clarke declared a non-prejudicial interest in relation to 

item four as member of an organisation that bids for funding to hold events in 
local parks. 

 
3. Responses from Mayor and Cabinet 

 
3.1 The Committee discussed the responses from Mayor and Cabinet – the 

following key points were noted: 

 Members believed that the suggested policy for pubs should be 
strengthened. 

 It was recognised that the policy would be an advance on the previous 
proposal – but there was concern that the presumption against 
development did not specify the types of pubs that should be protected. 

 Members believed that historic (20 century and earlier) purpose built 
pubs- especially those that served as landmarks and key locations on 
high streets- should receive additional protections. 

 Members welcomed the response on the redevelopment of Catford – 
however concerns were reiterated about the necessity for new 
infrastructure (including transport and services) to enable any new 
development (and serve existing communities). 

 Members also reiterated their request for a ‘civic strategy’ for Catford – to 
recognise the town centre’s importance as the civic centre of the borough. 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



 

 
 
 

2 

3.2 David Syme (Strategic Planning Manager) responded to a question from the 
Committee - the following key point was noted: 

 Modelling had been carried out by the Greater London Authority which 
indicated that 2600 homes could be delivered in Catford within the 
existing capacity of the transport network. 

 
3.3 Resolved: that the Committee would refer its views to Mayor and Cabinet as 

follows – 

 The Committee recommends that the proposed policy for pubs in the 
upcoming local plan should be strengthened. 

 It is recognised that proposals from officers would be an advance on the 
previous position regarding local pubs – but there is concern that the 
intended presumption against development does not specify the types of 
pubs that should be protected. 

 Members believe that historic (20 century and earlier) purpose built pubs- 
especially those that served as landmarks and key locations on high 
streets- should receive additional protections. 

 
4. Parks management review evidence session 

 
4.1 Jon Kanareck (Director of Resident Service, Lewisham Homes) and Martin 

Ryan (Head of Environmental Services, Lewisham Homes) were invited to 
address the Committee – the following key points were noted: 

 Lewisham Homes brought its services back in-house from Glendale in 
2015. 

 The process had been successful and customer satisfaction had 
increased by 20%. However – there were cost implications as a result of 
bringing the service in-house. 

 Work had taken place with community organisations to increase access to 
green spaces for Lewisham Homes’ residents. 

 
4.2 Jon Kanareck and Martin Ryan responded to questions from the Committee 

– the following key points were noted: 

 Lewisham Homes maintained the quality of its in-house service through a 
rigorous programme of inspections. 

 Employee conditions and pay had improved as a result of bringing 
services in-house. This had led to in improvement in motivation of staff 
and the quality of their work. However – this had also resulted in 
increased pension and overhead costs. 

 Refuse collection services could not keep up with the volume of waste 
being produced on housing estates – which meant it frequently 
overflowed into green spaces. 

 It was hoped that there would be some benefits from the Council’s parks 
services being brought in-house. It might enable the sharing of facilities 
and services – as well as the maintenance of some spaces that currently 
fell between the care of Lewisham Homes and the parks service. 

 Residents had expressed a preference for colourful planting in the 
summer – so the service had started annual planting (rather than 
perennials) – it was recognised that this was not as sustainable. Further 

Page 4



 

 
 
 

3 

discussions would be carried out with residents regarding sustainability 
and the climate emergency. 

 Lewisham Homes only provided green spaces management and 
maintenance to Lewisham Homes stock – the Brockley PFI had its own 
arrangements for maintenance and management. 

 The development of the ‘bee corridor’ was in early stages. The service 
had consulted colleagues in the council’s green spaces team when 
devising plans for the corridor. It also benefitted from the expertise and 
knowledge of its own staff. 

 
4.3 Tony Leach (Parks for London) was invited to address the Committee – the 

following key points were noted: 

 Parks for London was set up in 2002 in response to a Mayoral 
investigative committee findings about greenspaces in London. 

 It was recognised that London’s parks and green spaces were 
fragmented – and that services were being delivered in 33 different ways 
by London boroughs, which stifled innovation and collaboration. 

 Parks for London worked with local authorities and independent entities 
(such as park trusts and the Royal Parks) to share knowledge and good 
practice. 

 Three years ago, the first ‘Good Parks for London’ report was published – 
which looked most closely at the delivery of services by local authorities 
and focused on improving quality. 

 There was concern that services had sustained cuts of a number of years. 

 Lewisham was previously at the top of the ‘Good Parks for London’ 
report. In this year’s report it was not at the top but it was still close to the 
top across all of the measures. 

 
4.4 Tony Leach responded to questions from the Committee – the following key 

points were noted: 

 The current trend was for London Boroughs to bring services back in-
house for two main reasons: firstly there were very few costs savings still 
to be made from outsourcing services. There was the possibility that if 
contracts continued to be squeezed then providers might go out of 
business; secondly – the delivery of services in-house allowed for greater 
flexibility, especially during periods of seasonal demand. 

 Parks for London was not only interested in parks and open spaces but 
also in the maintenance of green infrastructure from ‘doorstep to 
destination’. All green spaces mattered. 

 The number of green spaces contractors in London had reduced from 15 
to three in the past five years. This was partly because of acquisitions – 
but it was largely because there was very little money to be made in 
delivering green spaces management and maintenance services. 

 There were ways to ensure that insourced parks services could be 
encouraged to maintain services. In some boroughs, user groups were 
enabled to report on the maintenance and management of parks and 
green spaces. Parks for London had developed a quality manual to 
assess standards in parks which could be used to support this work. 

 The presence of people in parks helped to maintain a sense of safety – 
there were examples of parks in which dog walkers – and residents in the 

Page 5



 

 
 
 

4 

vicinity of parks were given a special contact phone number to report 
issues. 

 The days of having permanent staff at every park were over. However, 
some boroughs issued uniforms to members of friends groups – so that 
they stood out. 

 Traditionally – councils had looked upon parks as assets that maintained 
themselves. However, this was not the case – parks needed 
management. 

 Income generation could be part of the mix of activities in parks. Parks for 
London had developed an events policy for councils to use – it also 
benchmarked costs between boroughs. 

 The quality of cafes in parks varied considerably. There were a number of 
issues to consider – including: local feeling towards established providers; 
affordability of the offer; the opportunity to improve provision. 

 The Council might seek to manage green spaces as a whole rather than 
maintaining the artificial division between parks and housing green space. 

 Sustainability was a key part of the judging for green flag awards. There 
was no contradiction between sustainability and meeting the green flag 
awards standards. 

 In order to achieve a green flag award – a site had to have a 
management plan – which should help with bio-diversity and 
sustainability. 

 It was recognised that the standards of parks were falling over time – as 
the squeeze of resources pushed boroughs to do the minimum to 
maintain their parks and green spaces. 

 Parks user groups were formed for a variety of different reasons – often in 
response to a threat to a park. However, once they had achieved their 
objectives – these groups often lost their impetus. Support could be 
provided for user group – but care had to be taken about how this was 
delivered. Efforts by boroughs to set up user groups might be well 
meaning but they were fraught with problems. 

 User groups should have a named person at the Council that they could 
contact for support. 

 Sometimes user groups needed more coordinated support from 
fundraisers or other technical support. 

 The Good Parks for London report was not perfect – but it was the only 
report that enabled boroughs to compare their services with each other. 

 
4.5 Anne Slater was invited to address the Committee on behalf of the Lewisham 

Green Spaces Forum – the following key points were noted: 

 The Forum welcomed the opportunity to contribute to the Committee’s 
review – but would welcome more time and additional opportunities to 
engage with the Committee on the issue of parks management and 
maintenance. 

 Lewisham’s parks groups were made up of lots of different people – with 
varied interests and a range of concerns about management of parks, 
however, there were some key issues for all parks, including: 
o Support for park rangers – or otherwise trained/named officers 

responsible for specific parks. 
o Conservation and biodiversity. 

Page 6



 

 
 
 

5 

o Tree planting (which it was felt should be carried out in liaison with 
friends groups). There were particular concerns about ongoing upkeep 
of newly planted trees. 

o Recycling in parks was a significant concern as was the general 
approach to litter collection and bins in parks. 

o Possible proposals for income generation – and the potential impact 
on parks. 

o There were some concerns that the insourced parks service might not 
be managed as rigorously as the contract that was currently 
outsourced. 

 
4.6 Anne Slater responded to questions from the Committee – the following key 

points were noted: 

 It was recognised that Glendale was at the limit of what it could provide 
and still make money. 

 It was hoped that the insourcing of the service would enable innovation 
and flexibility. 

 There were tensions in some parks regarding the balance between formal 
planting; meadow land for biodiversity; and space for sports and other 
activities. 

 
4.7 Councillor Sophie McGeevor (Cabinet Member for Environment and 

Transport) was invited to address the Committee about the decision to 
insource the parks service – the following key points were noted: 

 Insourcing would present a financial risk. 

 Whilst it was likely that costs would increase – it was recognised that 
there would be benefits in terms of better and more flexible services with 
a better trained, better paid and better motivated workforce. 

 There was a recognition of the importance of green spaces for 
sustainability and environmental protection. It was believed that the 
insourcing of the parks service would create more opportunities for the 
parks service to respond to these issues. 

 Parks friends groups were an important part of the Council’s approach to 
parks. There was a clear disparity between parks with and those without 
friends groups. 

 Friends groups had been successful at attracting external funding for 
parks. They were also helping to prioritise the £360k of funding that had 
been allocated through Lewisham’s new greening fund. 

 She was proud of Lewisham’s parks and of local user groups. 

 There was no intention to ‘sweat assets’ in parks. One of the benefits of 
bringing the service in-house would enable the Council to retain income 
and to manage events for local benefit. 

 One of the benefits of holding events in parks was that they might bring in 
new users. 

 Parks cafes were important for all parks users – but particularly for 
parents and for people with limited space at home. 

 There wasn’t necessarily a correlation between income/deprivation and 
local engagement in parks user groups. Some of the most active, 
democratic and engaged user groups were in deprived parts of the 
borough. 

Page 7



 

 
 
 

6 

 
4.8 Councillor Brenda Dacres (Cabinet Member for Environment and Transport) 

was invited to address the Committee – the following key points were noted: 

 It was recognised that Lewisham had a successful parks service – but it 
should strive to continue to improve – and insourcing should help the 
Council to do so. 

 Parks user groups should be praised for the work that they did for parks. 
Their contributions should not be underestimated. Further consideration 
should be given to supporting parks that did not have user groups to 
ensure that they did not fall behind. 

 
4.9 In the Committee’s discussion, the following key points were also noted: 

 It was recognised that friends groups and volunteers were a vital resource 
for parks. 

 The Committee recognised that the parks service was performing well. 

 Members were concerned about the costs of bringing the service in-
house. It was proposed that the service should stay contracted to 
Glendale. 

 Members recognised concerns about the need to manage the 
performance of the in-house parks service. 

 Members were concerned about the lack of accessible play facilities in 
the borough. 

 Members believed that there should be a play strategy for the borough – 
that would take into account the needs of all user groups. 

 The Committee welcomed the contribution of user groups to the delivery 
of parks services – however- it believed that there should be a volunteer 
management framework for parks as well as a strategy for engagement 
(to ensure that parks without user groups did not miss out on 
opportunities for support; to ensure that roles and responsibilities were 
defined between user groups and the parks service and; to ensure that 
adequate succession planning could be put in place). 

 Members wanted to better understand whether there were opportunities 
for the Council to provide commercial maintenance and management 
services to private spaces in the borough. 

 Members reiterated concerns about the balance of meadow land/space 
for biodiversity and other spaces in parks. 

 The Committee noted concerns about the quality of spaces for sports in 
the borough. It was noted that there should be a balance of spaces for 
different activities in parks – and that these could work harmoniously 
together. 

 
4.10 Resolved: that the evidence for the Committee’s review be noted. 
 

5. Implementation of the air quality action plan 
 
5.1 Christopher Howard (Senior Environmental Protection Officer) introduced the 

report – the following key points were noted: 

 There was a legal requirement to provide a status report to the Greater 
London Authority (GLA on the implementation of the air quality action 
plan. 

Page 8



 

 
 
 

7 

 The GLA had approved the report (which covered activities in 2018) and 
was happy with it overall. In particular, the integration of different groups 
and various strands of work had been welcomed. 

 The main focus of the report was on transport – and a number of actions 
related to the management of vehicle emissions. 

 The main purpose of the air quality action plan was to draw together the 
different pieces of work that were taking place across the Council. 

 The air quality working group met regularly to support this work – as did 
the strategic air quality board. 

 The number of monitoring locations in the borough had been increased to 
more than 50 – with a number being located near to schools. The ‘super 
site’ in Honor Oak Park was also monitoring air quality in the borough. It 
was one of only three locations in the country that had been chosen for 
this investment. 

 There were future proposal to create a monitoring site in Deptford to 
measure levels of PM2.5 and NO2. 

 A number of the actions in plan required funding to carry out – and the 
Council had been successful in accessing external funding for new 
projects. 

 A successful bid had been made to Kings College London to take forward 
some work on the accuracy of air quality sensors. 

 Future work would be carried out to review the air quality action plan to 
ensure it stayed in line with the approach from the GLA. 

 The intention would be to prioritise the actions in the plan to make it more 
accessible. There would also be an increased focus the actions that 
residents could take to improve air quality. 

 One of the most significant future developments would be the expansion 
of the ultra-low emission zone. Consideration would be given to the 
mitigating factors required for the areas around the south circular that 
were not due to be included in the zone. 

 One of the key messages from Transport for London was that people 
would need to use their cars far less – and that there would need to be a 
greater shift to other forms of transport. 

 
5.2 Christopher Howard and Geeta Subramaniam-Mooney (Director for Public 

Protection and Safety) responded to questions from the Committee – the 
following key points were noted: 

 The issue with personal air quality sensors was that they were only 
indicative of air quality. However – one of the benefits of personal air 
quality sensors was that they could be used for comparisons before and 
after interventions. 

 The air quality monitor project would help people to better understand the 
appropriate uses and reliability of residents monitoring air quality. 

 There was a variety of different air quality monitoring equipment being 
used by residents – some people were also building and using their own. 

 Lewisham had 50 sites with diffusion tubes – that were adjusted against 
national and reference sites. 

 There were close connections between the work to improve air quality 
and the climate emergency action plan. 

Page 9



 

 
 
 

8 

 Research into the 20mph speed limit found that in areas that were likely 
to be congested – the speed limit helped to keep traffic moving and would 
be likely to reduce pollution. In areas of low congestion – the speed limit 
might increase vehicle emissions because engines did not operate as 
efficiently at low speeds. Nonetheless – it was believed that lower speed 
limits made the roads feel safer for pedestrians and cyclists 
(consequentially reducing emissions overall). 

 
5.3 In Committee discussions – the following key points were also noted: 

 The quality of the Council’s equipment for monitoring air quality was very 
high. The issues that had been identified were with residents monitoring 
air quality. 

 The Council should publicise more information about air quality and air 
quality monitoring. 

 It was noted that the 20mph speed limit had mixed effects on air quality – 
but it was recognised that the limit was safer for pedestrians (who were 
more likely to survive being hit a vehicle travelling at 20mph than at higher 
speeds). 

 Members welcomed the planned future rollout of healthy neighbourhoods 
programme. 

 
5.4 Councillor Sophie McGeevor addressed the Committee – the following key 

points were noted: 

 Lewisham’s air quality was monitored by Kings College London – which 
was one of the world leaders in air quality monitoring. 

 Lewisham’s 50 air quality monitoring stations (combined with three 
permanent sites and the new super site) allowed modelling to be carried 
out to a high degree of accuracy across the entire borough. 

 Monitoring did not have to be carried out on every street in the borough in 
order for the Council to develop a picture of air quality across the 
borough. 

 The quality of Lewisham’s monitoring had been recognised by the GLA in 
response to the air quality management plan. The super site had also 
been placed in the borough in recognition of the quality of local 
monitoring. 

 There were issues with people doing their own monitoring – on one hand 
it was helpful because it drew attention to the poor quality of London’s air. 
However – there were instances in which home monitoring was different 
to the Council’s monitoring. This could be for a number of reasons 
(including the possibility that the monitoring was being carried out over 
varying time periods, for different durations or of different pollutants). It 
was important that people had confidence in the quality and accuracy of 
Lewisham’s monitoring. 

 The Council’s monitoring indicated that air quality across the borough was 
poor – as was the case with all inner London boroughs. 

 
5.5 Resolved: that the report be noted. 
 

6. Parking policy update 
 

Page 10



 

 
 
 

9 

6.1 This item was deferred to the December meeting. 
 

7. Surrey Canal Triangle design framework draft SPD 
 
7.1 Viv Evans (Head of Programmes) introduced the report – the following key 

points were noted: 

 The report and its appendices were part of the new approach to the 
comprehensive redevelopment of Surrey Canal Triangle. 

 Over the past 18 months the Mayor and officers had brought together the 
two principal parties (Millwall football club and Renewal) to explore how 
they could work together and collaborate with the Council. 

 The Council and the two principal parties had agreed some key objectives 
in order to: facilitate the delivery of a comprehensive development of high 
quality; deliver a significant uplift in genuinely affordable housing (from 
that which was previously agreed through the outline planning permission 
for Renewal); enable the Millwall football club to have a secure long-term 
future in the borough; deliver a mixed use community in the Surrey Canal 
Triangle. 

 The report was a key part of achieving these key objectives. 

 The Surrey Canal Triangle was currently an allocation in the statutory 
core strategy for the Council – as strategic site allocation three (SSA3). 

 Agreement had been reached between the Council and the principal 
parties that the best way forward would be for the Council to set out its 
key objectives and elaborate on the allocation of SA3 in a strategic design 
framework (which is what the Committee was being asked to consider). 

 Mayor and Cabinet had agreed to terminate the previous land sale 
agreement. 

 The SPD had been developed in consultation with the two principal 
parties. 

 
7.2 Viv Evans and David Syme responded to questions from the Committee – 

the following key points were noted: 

 The Council granted an outline planning permission in 2011 (which was 
still in existence and could still be implemented) for Renewal – however – 
it required the transfer of three pieces of land to facilitate. 

 The Council had previously entered into a compulsory purchase 
indemnity agreement for land in Surrey Canal Triangle to enable the 
development. This would have ensured that the cost of the compulsory 
purchase would have been covered by Renewal – should the purchase 
have been required. 

 The Council agreed that it would continue to work with Renewal on a 
varied compulsory purchase indemnity agreement – in case there was a 
requirement for other pieces of land to enable the development, which the 
company could not acquire through negotiation with landowners. 

 The Council agreed with principal parties that it would own the strategic 
objectives for the Surrey Canal triangle and that both parties would be 
free to submit applications to enable the redevelopment of the area. 

 Any planning application would be assessed against the strategic plan for 
the area. 

Page 11



 

 
 
 

10 

 If the decision was taken by Mayor and Cabinet to carry out consultation 
on the plan – then the intention would be to bring a final version to the 
Committee’s meeting in January 2020 – in advance of formal adoption by 
Mayor and Cabinet. 

 The SPD had to be in line with the existing core strategy allocation – it did 
not set any targets for affordable housing above those in the core 
strategy. 

 The Council was in advanced discussions with Renewal regarding a new 
planning application, which was likely to be submitted before the end of 
the calendar year. 

 The existing outline planning application was for 2400 homes – with 12% 
affordable housing (split approximately 25% social rent and 75% shared 
ownership) which meant that around 288 affordable housing units (78 
social rent 210 intermediate housing) would be provided. The expectation 
was that the overall quantity of housing would increase to 3500 units 
(subject to a planning application) with 35% affordable housing ( a 
70/30% split in favour of affordable rent) this would increase the number 
of units for social rent from 78 to 850. 

 The train station was still a key part of the proposal (and was included in 
the SPD). However – at the time of the outline planning permission by 
Renewal, the company had committed several million pounds towards the 
delivery of the station. Since that time, however, TfL had secured £23m of 
housing infrastructure funding from the government to deliver the station. 

 The Committee’s comments about the funding for the station were noted 
– but it was informed that the issue of developer contributions would be 
considered in any future planning application (rather than the SPD). 

 The Council had not committed to a single faith centre in Surrey Canal 
triangle. The existing planning allocation had proposed that space be set 
aside for ‘community use’. 

 The new outline planning application was a ‘hybrid’ application which 
included elements of detail and elements in outline. Most of the 
application would be ‘outline’. It would have to conform with the strategic 
site allocation – and once the SPD had been adopted – it would be 
assessed against that document 

 The legal parameters of what could be achieved through the design 
framework were limited. It would not be possible to create new policy. 

 Designation of specific uses for the site could not be resolved in the SPD 
– references to a ‘faith centre’ would be amended in the draft. 

 It was not clear what proposals Millwall football club might bring forward 
for the site (other than improvements to the stadium). It was possible that 
they would come forward with a mixed use proposal around the stadium – 
but no discussions were currently taking place. 

 
7.3 In Committee discussions – the following key points were also noted: 

 That the Council no longer intended to compulsorily purchase land around 
Millwall football club – and that the club would be free to submit its own 
application for development. 

 The Committee noted the funding that had been provided by the 
government for the delivery of the station and it highlighted the 

Page 12



 

 
 
 

11 

importance of securing developer contributions for affordable housing and 
other infrastructure projects. 

 Members were concerned about the development of the proposed ‘faith 
centre’ for the development in Surrey Canal Triangle and the potential use 
of community infrastructure levy (CIL) or section 106 (planning obligation) 
funding for this purpose (Kheng Chau (Senior Planning Lawyer) informed 
the Committee that the Council’s regulation 123 CIL list stated which 
infrastructure could benefit from CIL monies and it specifically excluded 
places of worship). 

 Members were uncertain what opportunities and influence they had to 
ensure that any development in Surrey Canal Triangle would meet the 
needs of the local community (and any future community) in 2019 (and 
beyond) rather than 2011. 

 The Committee expressed concern about the significant changes that had 
taken place in Surrey Canal Triangle since 2011, including: the loss of the 
sports centre; the development of the train station with the use of public 
funds and the change of the proposed multi-faith centre into a ‘cathedral 
sized’ church for a single faith group. 

 Members reiterated their concerns about the status of the developer 
‘Renewal’ – in terms of its corporate set up and its capacity to carry out 
the development. 

 
7.4 Resolved: that the Committee would share its views with Mayor and Cabinet 

as follows – 

 The Committee welcomes the advances in discussions between all 
parties regarding the future development of Surrey Canal Triangle. 

 The Committee is concerned about the lack of any new analysis1 
regarding the needs of existing and potential future communities in Surrey 
Canal Triangle and it recommends that Mayor and Cabinet should seek 
assurances that further detailed work will be carried out to assess local 
need for social and physical infrastructure (for both new and existing 
communities). 

 The Committee broadly welcomes the draft supplementary planning 
document. However, it believes that the ‘D1’ planning designation for 
community uses should not at this stage refer to any sub-category of 
usage. 

 The Committee notes that there are a number of issues surrounding any 
future planning applications that other Council committees will need to 
address. In addition, the Committee recommends that the Housing Select 
Committee should consider the developing SPD in relation to issues of 
affordable and social housing. 

 
The Committee also made a number of general comments about any future 
development in Surrey Canal Triangle: 

 The Committee heard that alternative sources of funding had been 
secured for the development of a new train station to serve Surrey Canal 
Triangle – and that developer contributions were no longer required. 
Therefore, the Committee recommends that proper consideration be 

                                            
1 See particularly, the section in the draft design framework on ‘social infrastructure’, page 100. 

Page 13



 

 
 
 

12 

given to using this funding for the delivery of additional affordable 
housing. 

 The Committee also believes that any future development in the vicinity of 
Millwall football club should consider the potential benefits to the local 
community. 

 Members of the Committee highlighted councillors’ previous questions 
about the viability of Renewal – and urged that consideration should be 
given to any future due diligence necessary to assure working 
relationships with developers. 

 
8. Local Plan update 

 
8.1 David Syme introduced the report – the following key points were noted: 

 The Council was in the advanced stages of developing the new local plan. 

 Four member briefings had been held to update councillors on progress. 

 At the first session (July 2018) – the challenges and opportunities arising 
from the new plan were presented; the second session set out the 
direction of travel for the new plan - as well as generally setting out the 
strategic objectives for the new plan; in the third session, strategic 
objectives were agreed and in the final session (July 2019) members 
were presented with the draft development management policies and 
draft site portfolio work. 

 Officers were conscious that there was lots of information for members to 
take on board as well as lots of changes in comparison to the previous 
development management policies. 

 Not as much feedback from councillors had been received as had been 
anticipated. 

 A review of ‘metropolitan open land’ was currently taking place – this was 
not with the intention of building on metropolitan open land. It was a 
standard review, in line with the review of the local plan. 

 The infrastructure delivery plan was also being reviewed. This would set 
out the parks, schools and transport infrastructure that needed to be 
delivered in order to facilitate the implementation of the local plan. 
Departments across the Council would be involved in the development of 
the plan. 

 A viability study was also being carried out. Fifty sites across the borough 
would be ‘tested’ for their viability for development. In particular, it would 
review the viability of sites to support affordable housing. 

 The plan was in an advanced stage. It was proposed that a draft of the 
plan would be presented to the committee in December 2019 – before 
approval for consultation by Mayor and Cabinet in the spring of 2020. 

 
8.2 David Syme responded to questions from the Committee – the following key 

points were noted: 

 It was a difficult time to prepare a local plan – given the level of 
uncertainty in a number of areas – and in particular the challenges to the 
assumptions in the London Plan. 

 Inspectors proposed that the number of small sites for housing delivery 
being proposed in the local plan should be reduced by half – which in turn 

Page 14



 

 
 
 

13 

– reduced the overall amount of housing proposed in London by 20% 
(over the lifetime of the Plan). 

 The Council had taken legal advice on the development of the local plan, 
which clearly stated that Lewisham could not pause preparation of the 
plan in light of the questions around the London Plan. However, this was 
complicated by the fact that the London Plan would be assessed for 
conformity with the old national planning policy framework and 
Lewisham’s local plan would be assessed against the new national 
planning policy framework. 

 The figure for small sites in Lewisham per annum based on the original 
London Plan assessment was for the delivery of 800 homes a year on 
small sites. Based on the new figures this would be 350-400 homes a 
year (of the 2117 homes per year proposed for Lewisham in the London 
Plan). 

 
8.3 Resolved: that the report be noted. 
 

9. Select Committee work programme 
 
9.1 The Committee discussed the work programme for its December meeting 

and agreed to make space for the draft local plan by moving back its final 
evidence session on parks management. 

 
9.2 The Committee also discussed the evidence it had gathered for the parks 

management in-depth review - the following key points were noted: 

 That the Committee would make note of some draft recommendations for 
the parks review: 
o The Council should develop a play strategy for parks that includes a 

plan for accessible play. 
o That planning policy should be reviewed to ensure that play facilities 

for children were close to proposed developments. 
o That further work should take place to map out the contribution of 

parks user groups – and that the new parks service should develop a 
model for engagement with and support of user groups. This should 
also include support to enable continuity of user groups in the event 
that there are changes in key members. 

o That there should be additional work carried out to develop monitoring 
protocols for parks – and that this might include work with parks user 
groups. 

o That the playing pitch strategy should work in combination with the 
Council’s approach to bio-diversity. 

o That planting should be carried out - where possible - to support bio-
diversity. 

o That consideration should be given to the development of an 
integrated pest management policy. 

o That the Committee would welcome further information about national 
capital accounting. 

o That there should be recognition of the social value of cafes in park 
and that the management of cafes should be linked with the Councils 
broader policy objectives. 

Page 15



 

 
 
 

14 

o That the Council should carry out a review of historic features, 
memorials and special areas of planting in parks and open spaces 
when it took on the management and maintenance of parks and open 
spaces. 

o That there should be renewed cooperation between Lewisham Homes 
and the insourced parks service. 

 
9.3 The Committee agreed all of the components of its referral on the draft SPD 

(7.4). 
 

10. Items to be referred to Mayor and Cabinet 
 
10.1 Resolved: that the Committee’s comments under items three and seven be 

referred to Mayor and Cabinet. 
 
The meeting ended at: 22:15 
 
 
Chair:  
 ---------------------------------------------------- 
 
Date: 
 ---------------------------------------------------- 

Page 16



Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Declaration of interests 

Contributor Chief Executive Item 2 

Class Part 1 (open) 2019-20 

 
Declaration of interests 
 
Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item on the 
agenda. 
 
1. Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s Member 
Code of Conduct: 
 
(1) Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2) Other registerable interests 
(3) Non-registerable interests 

 
2. Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 

(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit or 
gain 

 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than 

by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for inclusion in the 
register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a 
member or towards your election expenses (including payment or financial 
benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c) Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which they 

are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the 
securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for goods, 
services or works. 

 
(d) Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e) Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f) Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, the 

Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant person* is a 
partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in the securities of 
which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)  Beneficial interest in securities of a body where: 
 

(a) that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or land 
in the borough;  

Page 17

Agenda Item 2



(b) and either 
 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 1/100 of 
the total issued share capital of that body; or 
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the total issued 
share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  

 
3.  Other registerable interests 

 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to register the 
following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to which you 

were appointed or nominated by the Council 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to charitable 

purposes, or whose principal purposes include the influence of public 
opinion or policy, including any political party 

(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an 
estimated value of at least £25 

 
4. Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would be likely 
to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close associate more 
than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area generally, but which is 
not required to be registered in the Register of Members’ Interests (for example a 
matter concerning the closure of a school at which a Member’s child attends).  

  
5.  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 

 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they are 

present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, they must 
declare the nature of the interest at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered. The declaration will be recorded in 
the minutes of the meeting. If the matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest 
the member must take not part in consideration of the matter and withdraw 
from the room before it is considered. They must not seek improperly to 
influence the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of Members’ 
Interests, or participation where such an interest exists, is liable to 
prosecution and on conviction carries a fine of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of the 
interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any event before 
the matter is considered, but they may stay in the room, participate in 

Page 18



consideration of the matter and vote on it unless paragraph (c) below 
applies. 

 
(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 

disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether a 
reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would think 
that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to impair the 
member’s judgement of the public interest. If so, the member must 
withdraw and take no part in consideration of the matter nor seek to 
influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would affect 
those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating to the 
declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a registerable 
interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to seek the 
advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6. Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests. These are interests the 
disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to risk of violence or 
intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed that such interest need not 
be registered. Members with such an interest are referred to the Code and 
advised to seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in advance. 

 
7. Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate in 
decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them doing so. 
These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the matter 

relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears exception) 
(b) School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a parent 

or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school governor unless 
the matter relates particularly to the school your child attends or of which 
you are a governor;  

(c) Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d) Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e) Ceremonial honours for members 
(f) Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Parking Policy Update: consultation results and recommendations 

Contributors 

Jon Wallace, Head of Highways & Transport 

Ralph Wilkinson, Director of Public Services 

Seamus Adams, Parking Services Manager 

Item 4 

Class Part 1 (open) 4 December 2019 

 
 
 

1. Summary 

1.1 The Council’s current Parking Policy was approved by Mayor and Cabinet in 2014. It 
was agreed that the policy would be updated in 2019 to bring it in line with current 
legislation, best practice and other feedback received and to take into account the 
Council’s commitment to improving air quality in the Borough.  

1.2 Following consultation with SDSC in December 2018 and approval received from the 
Council’s Mayor and Cabinet in March 2019, the Council committed to consult with 
the public on key changes to the parking policy during 2019. This public consultation 
ran from 10th June to 2nd August. 

1.3 The consultation was one of the most extensive undertaken in recent years by 
Lewisham Council. Care was taken to ensure that the consultation was promoted to 
as wide and diverse an audience as possible. As a result, 3767 responses were 
received and officers are satisfied that the results provided are representative of the 
borough as a whole. 

1.4 Support was demonstrated for most proposals included in the consultation and it is 
recommended that the proposals made during the policy review are adopted with 
minor amendments suggested following the feedback received.  

 
2. Purpose 

The purpose of this report is to present the results of the parking policy consultation 
and to seek the views of the Committee on the recommended amendments to the 
Parking Policy as a result.  

 
 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 The Committee is recommended to: 

1) Note the results of the public consultation; 
2) Endorse the following updates to the Council’s parking policy:  

 

Page 21

Agenda Item 4



 

 

i. The introduction of an emissions based charging scheme for parking permits, 
as set out in the charging bands proposal in Appendix 4 and detailed in 
section 6.4 of this report. A separate £50 surcharge for diesel vehicles should 
also be implemented, but diesel vehicles that conform to the most recent 
vehicle emissions standards (Euro VI standards or higher) should be 
exempted. This exemption standard should be reviewed annually and revised 
per the latest research and emissions standards. Any refunds that need to be 
issued will incur a £15 administration cost; 

 
ii. To automatically provide ten hours of visitor parking credit annually free of 

charge to all households when they purchase at least one paid annual 
resident parking permit as detailed in section 6.5 of this report and to increase 
the cost of visitor permits as set out in that section and in Table 1; 

 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

1 hour £1.40 £1.60* 

Book of 10 vouchers £10.00 £16.00 

5 hours £2.80 £3.20 

Daily £5.60 £6.40 

Weekly £20.00 £25.60 

*sold as part of a book of 10 permits 
TABLE 1 – Proposed increase to the cost of visitor permits 

 
iii. To approve the proposal to harmonise the rate for PCNs at the Band A rate 

across the borough, as detailed in section 6.6 of this report. Approval for this 
will then need to be sought from London Councils; 

 
iv. To provide only mandatory, enforceable disabled parking bays (and no longer 

provide advisory disabled parking bays), as detailed in section 6.7 of this 
report; 

 
v. To amend the application criteria for disabled bays to new criteria set out in 

Appendix 6. Further details regarding this can be found in section 6.7 of this 
report; 

 
vi. To increase the tariff for pay and display parking to £0.50 for each 15 minute 

period for both cash and cashless payments as shown in section 6.8;  
 

vii. To rationalise the number of pay and display machines in the borough as 
shown in section 6.8; and 

 
viii. To make the minor amendments, as detailed in 6.11 of this report. 

 
ix. Remove the limit on the number of ‘floating car club permits’ issued to car club 

operators, with this monitored closely by officers, as set out in section 6.12. 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



 

 

4. Policy context 

4.1 The London Mayor’s Transport Strategy (MTS) was published in early 2018. The 
Council has also prepared a new Transport Strategy and Local Implementation Plan 
2019-41 (LIP3) which sets out how the Council intends to deliver the objectives of 
the MTS at a local level. This includes ambitions to increase the number of trips 
made by sustainable means, such as by walking, cycling or public transport. Further 
objectives include a reduction in traffic levels and car ownership, improved air quality 
and support for the delivery of new homes and jobs.   

4.2 The Mayor of London has also committed to expanding the Ultra-Low Emission Zone 
to the inner London area bounded by the North and South Circular roads. From 25 
October 2021 any petrol or diesel vehicle including cars, motorcycles and vans 
within this area will need to meet new tighter emissions standards called the Ultra-
Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) standards. 

4.3 The Council’s current Parking Policy was approved by Mayor and Cabinet in October 
2014, following a comprehensive review. It was agreed that the policy would be 
updated in 2018/19 to bring the policy in line with current legislation and best 
practice. 

4.4 In line with the Council’s strategic objectives, the parking policy update supports 
priorities 4 to 7 of the 2018-2022 Community Strategy: 

 
4. Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high quality job 

opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving and inclusive local 
economy.   

5. Delivering & defending: Health, Social Care and Support - Ensuring everyone 
receives the health, mental health, social care and support services they 
need. 

6. Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces and benefits 
from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve our local 
environment. 

7. Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure living here 
as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of crime. 

 
4.5 As part of this parking policy update, the introduction of an emissions based charging 

scheme for certain types of parking permit is proposed. A separate surcharge for 
diesel vehicles is also being considered. This responds to an action included within 
items 34 and 35 of the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (2016-2021) and provides 
incentives for permit holders to switch to lower emission vehicles 

 
5. Background 

5.1 The Council’s current Parking Policy was approved by Mayor and Cabinet in October 
2014, following a comprehensive review. It was agreed that the policy would be 
updated in 2019 to bring the policy in line with current legislation and best practice.  

Page 23



 

 

5.2 Following an officer level review, a report was presented to SDSC in December 2018 
including proposals for an update to the Lewisham Parking Policy with certain 
options to be taken forward to public consultation. Recommendations from SDSC 
were taken forward and incorporated into a report presented to Mayor and Cabinet in 
March 2019. Approval was granted by the Mayor to go forward with public 
consultation on the proposed updates to the parking policy, to take place in 2019. 

5.3 The public consultation ran from 10th June to 26th July 2019. This was extended by a 
week to Friday 2nd August to enable some final comments to be captured. The 
objective was to obtain feedback regarding the proposals outlined in this report.  

5.4 The consultation questionnaire and supporting documents were available on-line via 
the consultation portal on the Council’s website and the consultation was 
communicated by a wide ranging awareness exercise. This exercise included local 
press, an article in the Council newsletter “Lewisham Life”, email notification via 
Council mailing lists, use of on-street advertising at bus stops across the borough 
and through social media. Opinions of groups including environmental groups, 
disability awareness groups, pensioners, pedestrian and cycling organisations and 
transport associations were sought. All permit holders were also sent a consultation 
questionnaire. 

5.5 A total of 3,767 survey responses to the consultation were received during this eight 
week period. The response rate was some eight times larger than most public 
consultations conducted by the council, and significantly above the 500 or so 
required to deliver a statistically significant survey, given the population of the 
borough. This is thought to be due to the awareness campaign that was run and the 
public interest in the consultation content, which was designed to appeal to everyone 
in the borough, rather than solely motorists. 

5.6 A report on the public consultation, including details of the methodology and a 
breakdown of the responses received to the consultation, can be found in Appendix 
1 with a breakdown against each policy proposal in section 6.  

5.7 A separate internally-focussed survey was conducted amongst staff regarding Staff 
Permits. A summary can be found in section 6.9 of this report, with a detailed report 
provided as Appendix 2. 

5.8 The Council issues business permits to Lewisham hospital staff and also issues a 
permit to park for up to 2 hours in a CPZ to NHS staff and Council officers carrying 
out essential health services to the Borough. As part of the consultation, we 
contacted and spoke with a variety of administrators who manage the allocation of 
permits for NHS staff. Details regarding this are presented in section 6.10. 

5.9 References in the parking policy to any superseded or out of date regulations, 
legislation or policy documents will be revised as part of this update. This includes 
certain minor updates to the policy which are presented in section 6.11. 

5.10 Following review and discussion at SDSC, any recommendations will be brought 
forward to Mayor and Cabinet for approval and sign-off prior to adoption of any 
approved policy changes. An indicative timetable is shown below. 

Page 24



 

 

 Report to SDSC – 28 October 

 Update Policy following SDSC Comments – November 

 Report to M&C – 11 December 

 Publication of updated Parking Policy – TBC  

 Borough wide parking review – Spring 2020 

 Implementation of new emissions based permit charges – April 2020 
 

5.11 It is suggested that the next Parking Policy Review be undertaken in another 4-5 
years, by which time the impact of the extended ULEZ, and the initial stages of 
implementation of our Transport Strategy will be known. Updates to the parking 
policy may also be required in response to changing local or regional policies. 

 
6. Policy proposals as a result of the consultation 

6.1 A report summarising the results of the consultation is presented in Appendix 1. 
Proposed amendments to the Parking Policy as a result of the consultation are 
summarised below.  

6.2 This section addresses each proposal in turn, providing details of the original 
proposal presented in the consultation, the policy background, a summary of the 
consultation results, the proposed recommendations following the consultation and 
the justification for each recommendation.  

6.3 The consultation provided respondents with the facility to provide written answers for 
particular comments or concerns. A common response to the consultation was that 
proposals are viewed as a revenue-raising exercise by the Council. While revenue 
could be expected to increase in the short-term as a result of the new charging 
structure, it is expected that, as people upgrade their vehicles, revenue from the 
scheme would decrease over time. In addition, some of the proposals will reduce 
income, such as the allocation of free visitor credit proposed in section 6.5. 
 

 
6.4 Proposal 1: Introduction of an emissions based charging scheme 

Original consultation proposal: to introduce banded charging for parking permits 
based on vehicle CO2 emissions and to introduce an additional surcharge of £50 to 
the cost of parking permits for diesel vehicles; 
 
 
Policy justification 
 

6.4.1 In the Parking Policy 2014, the Council stated that parking charges reflect the need 
to not only cover the costs of delivering parking controls but also managing other 
issues, including the effects of increased car ownership, the insatiable demand for 
parking spaces and the need to reduce the harmful effects of car use on the 
environment.  

6.4.2 Charging helps to prevent the borough from becoming a ‘car park’ for those travelling 
into London from the south east, and to fulfil the Council’s other policy aims set out in 
its Transport Strategy and Local Implementation Plan 2019-2041.  

Page 25



 

 

6.4.3 Since the current parking policy was introduced, the Council has enhanced its 
commitment to improving air quality in recognition of the emerging evidence of the 
impact of pollution on health as set out in Council’s Air Quality Action Plan (2016-
2021).  One of the actions from this plan was to investigate the feasibility of 
emissions based parking charges, as well as a diesel surcharge. 

6.4.4 The introduction of an emissions based charging scheme for parking permits would 
be in support of these measures and provide incentives for permit holders to switch 
to lower emission vehicles. 

6.4.5 Furthermore, the Mayor of London has committed to expanding the Ultra-Low 
Emission Zone to the inner London area bounded by the North and South Circular 
roads. From 25 October 2021 any petrol or diesel vehicle including cars, motorcycles 
and vans within this area will need to meet new, tighter, Ultra-Low Emission Zone 
(ULEZ) standards.  The Council’s proposals will therefore help to align with TfL’s 
wider policy in readiness for the introduction of TfL’s Ultra Low Emission Zone in 
2021.   

6.4.6 In February 2019 Lewisham Council agreed a motion to declare a ‘Climate 
Emergency’ and asked Mayor and Cabinet to agree a new climate change action 
plan by the end of 2019/20 with the aims of making the borough carbon neutral by 
2030. Transport is a significant source of carbon emissions as well as other 
pollutants harmful to air quality and this proposal, with reductions in CO2 emissions, 
will move the borough closer to this goal. 

6.4.7 The Council’s proposed charging structure for parking permits will be banded based 
on a vehicle’s CO2 emissions. An assessment of vehicles currently registered to the 
Council for permits has been used to determine the number and percentage of those 
vehicles that would be included in each emissions band. Proposed charges, based 
on these bandings are included in Appendix 4. 

6.4.8 As previously noted, the purpose of emissions-based charging is to encourage 
vehicle owners to switch to less polluting vehicles. As people respond to the scheme 
by upgrading their vehicles, it will be necessary to review the charges annually to 
ensure that the scheme remains effective. Any proposed changes will be reported in 
the Council’s Annual Parking Report, which is presented every December. 

 
Proposal details – residents 
 

6.4.9 Existing costs for residents’ permits are included in Appendix 3. The proposed new 
costs of resident permits can be found in Appendix 4. These costs will be banded 
based on vehicle CO2 emissions reflecting HMRC banding of cars (i.e. the bandings 
that are used to determine vehicle excise duty rates). A surcharge of £50 will be 
applied to diesel vehicles. 

6.4.10 The proposed cost of visitor permits is covered in section 6.5 of this report, but is not 
intended to be emissions based. When the technology advances we may look at 
emission based charging for visitor parking. 

  

Page 26



 

 

Proposal details – other users (business, council staff, hospital staff) 
 

6.4.11 Details of existing permits for users other than residents can also be found in 
Appendix 3. The costs for these permits will also be banded based on vehicles CO2 
emissions reflecting HMRC banding for motor vehicles. It is proposed to rationalise 
these permits to improve clarity and improve the customer experience when 
purchasing permits on the on-line portal or via a mobile device. This includes 
Lewisham Council staff permits, and permits for health workers. Lewisham staff were 
consulted separately, using the same questionnaire with details available in section 
6.9. Health service administrators were 6.10. 

All permit holders were sent a consultation questionnaire  

 
Summary of consultation results 
 

6.4.12 The public consultation, details of which are included in the consultation report in 
Appendix 1, with the questions on Air Quality in section 3.1 of this appendix covering 
this proposal, showed that over three-quarters (77%) of respondents agreed with the 
Council’s policy to improve air quality within the borough. In further support of this, of 
the respondents who answered the same questions regarding Business Permits, 
81% agreed with this policy. 

6.4.13 The consultation also provided significant support (77%) for the Council to 
encourage people to drive less polluting vehicles. In further support of this, of those 
respondents who also answered the same questions regarding Business Parking 
Permits, 81% agreed with this policy. 

6.4.14 A majority (58%) of respondents agreed that the Council should introduce lower 
rates for vehicles with lower emissions. It is worth noting that 21% strongly disagreed 
with this, however. 

6.4.15 While a high proportion (85%) of respondents are aware of the health issues posed 
by diesel vehicles, support for a £50 surcharge on permit was 51% in favour and 
47% against. A number of comments were received highlighting the more stringent 
EU emissions controls on new diesel vehicles. 

6.4.16 While not part of the original proposals, officers took the opportunity to ask whether 
parking permit charges should be reviewed on an annual basis. These charges 
haven’t been reviewed for a number of years previously.  A little over half of 
respondents (66%) were in favour of an annual review (44% strongly), but 20% 
objected (13% strongly). A number of comments were raised regarding the council’s 
objectives in raising revenues over and above a basic desire to ‘control’ parking in 
particular areas/streets of the borough. 

 
Summary of key points raised in verbatim comments  
 

6.4.17 The consultation provided respondents with the opportunity to submit 
written/verbatim comments regarding the proposals. These comments have been 

Page 27



 

 

considered as part of this report and are available as background documents for  
reference.  

6.4.18 Some concerns were raised that the proposed surcharge for diesel vehicles did not 
reflect the exemptions in the existing TfL ULEZ scheme. These concerns have been 
taken on board and the proposal has been revised to allow for exemptions to the 
surcharge for diesel vehicles that conform to the most recent vehicle emissions 
standards (the Euro VI standards or higher). This will be kept under review, and 
officers will continue to explore the feasibility, and justification, of moving to a Euro 
standard based system. 

6.4.19 Views were also expressed that the diesel surcharge could be viewed as a 
punishment for owners that purchased diesel vehicles based on government advice. 
Government grants are available to assist with the purchase of cleaner vehicles. For 
instance the Mayor of London has already made grants available to ‘micro’ 
businesses, sole traders and charities to replace vehicles that don’t meet ULEZ 
standards, as part of the launch of this scheme. There are also further plans for 
those on lower incomes due to be announced. 

6.4.20 Respondents asked for provision of more electric vehicle charging points on 
Lewisham Roads. There are existing programmes under the council’s Low Emission 
Vehicle Charging Strategy for 2018–2022 and planning policies to either directly 
install new electric vehicle charging point bays directly or require their installation as 
part of planning conditions The vision for this strategy is to ensure that all of 
Lewisham’s residents, businesses and visitors are within 500m of a charging point 
by 2021, with a range of options available that remain fit for purpose and encourage 
further uptake of low emission vehicles.  

6.4.21 Certain comments such as requests to plant more trees or concerns regarding 
conversion of front gardens to driveways are out of the scope of this review but are 
regularly considered as part of other council schemes. In response to the cumulative 
impact guidance on the permeable surfacing of front gardens was produced that 
requires planning permission for any garden hard-landscaped for more than five 
square metres. Further detail can be found online at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permeable-surfacing-of-front-gardens-
guidance. When assessing applications, we would require that the material used for 
hard landscaping is permeable so water does not run off on to the highway and 
includes suitable drainage measures. 

 
Policy recommendation 
 

6.4.22 Policy recommendation: the introduction of an emissions based charging scheme 
for parking permits should be adopted, as set out in the charging bands proposal in 
Appendix 4. A separate £50 surcharge for diesel vehicles should also be 
implemented, but diesel vehicles that conform to the most recent vehicle emissions 
standards (currently the Euro VI standards or higher) should be exempted. This 
exemption standard should be reviewed annually and revised per the latest research 
and emissions standards. 

Page 28

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permeable-surfacing-of-front-gardens-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/permeable-surfacing-of-front-gardens-guidance


 

 

6.4.23 Permits will also be available to buy for set time periods (one month, 3 months, 6 
months or 12 months), all of which will be pro rata and will not penalise or incentivise 
anyone wanting to buy a permit for shorter or longer periods. Any refunds that need 
to be issued will incur a £15 administration cost.  

 
6.5 Proposal 2: Visitor parking credits 

Original consultation proposal: to automatically provide ten hours of visitor 
parking credit free of charge annually to all households that currently have at least 
one paid annual resident parking permit; this replaces the book of 10 one hour visitor 
parking permits provided on request, free of charge to households that currently 
have at least one paid annual resident parking permit. 

 
Policy background 
 

6.5.1 The Council’s current policy is that upon application, a book of 10 one hour visitor 
parking permits will be provided free of charge to all households that currently have 
at least one paid annual resident parking permit. This is provided as a book of 
scratchcards posted to the applicant. 

6.5.2 It is proposed to instead provide ten hours of visitor parking credit free of charge to 
all households when they purchase at least one paid annual resident parking permit. 
The credit would be applied to the resident’s on-line account and used via their 
mobile phone app at their convenience. This would remove the requirement for 
residents to apply for the allocation of visitor permits, making this process fairer and 
more transparent for users. As a result of this change, the allocation of visitor permits 
would be made using the new on-line service or via a mobile device, thereby 
removing the need to post physical permits to residents except in those cases where 
they are not able to use or access the internet, where they would be available on 
request.  Any further permits that need to be purchased can be done so on-line and 
will be held in their account as and when they need to use them. 

6.5.3 The costs of visitor permits have not been increased since 2011. It is proposed to 
increase the cost of visitor permits, as shown in Table 1, and shown in detail in 
Appendix 4. Visitor permits are not intended to be charged on an emissions basis at 
this time. When the technology advances we may look at emission based charging 
for visitor parking. 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

1 hour £1.40 £1.60* 

Book of 10 vouchers £10.00 £16.00 

5 hours £2.80 £3.20 

Daily £5.60 £6.40 

Weekly £20.00 £25.60 
*sold as part of a book of 10 permits 

TABLE 1 – Proposed increase to the cost of visitor permits 

6.5.4 Residents with limited or no internet access would still be able to apply for a book of 
vouchers. Additionally, the current policy provides that upon application, a book of 
ten (1 hour) visitor parking permits will be provided free of charge to any residents in 

Page 29



 

 

CPZs who are over 60, and in receipt of Council Tax support, and do not have 
another parking permit per annum. It is proposed that this provision would be 
retained. 

 
Summary of consultation results 
 

6.5.5 A detailed analysis of responses to the public consultation can be found in Appendix 
1, with Section 3.1 of the appendix including a breakdown and analysis of relevant 
questions for the proposed emissions based permit charges. Section 3.2 covers 
some permit specific questions. The majority (84%) of respondents were aware that 
anyone with a parking permit in a CPZ could apply for free parking for visitors per 
year. There was a clear majority (82%) in support of this remaining the case. A little 
under half (46%) of respondents stated that they used visitor permits for their guests.  

 
Summary of key points raised in verbatim comments 
  

6.5.6 Comments were received stating that the proposals are viewed as a revenue raising 
exercise by the council and more than the ten hour allocation should be provided. 
While the council appreciates these concerns, it should be noted that the cost of 
visitor permits has not increased since 2011.  

6.5.7 Section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act requires London Authorities to keep an 
account of income and expenditure in relation to parking place provided on the 
highway and any surplus must be either carried forward to the following year or 
applied for all or any of a number of specific purposes set out in that section.  

6.5.8 In Lewisham, any surplus income generated from permit sales is used to support the 
funding of concessionary fares such as the Freedom Pass which allows free travel 
across London for older people and disabled persons, which is in line with this Act. 
The council recognises that the current system can be improved with new 
technology which we will be implementing in the online permit system which will be 
much more customer friendly and reliable. 

6.5.9 Respondents also stated the visitor permits are needed for business visitors and 
tradespeople as well as family and friends. Visitor permits, including this credit 
allocation can be used for any visitor and the new permit system will make this 
process more flexible and easier to use. 

6.5.10 The council is implementing a new parking IT system which improve the customer 
journey to be more user friendly. This will make it easier to apply for a permit in-line 
or via the mobile app and will provide automated reminders for permit expiry by 
email and text. This system will provide more flexibility in how visitor permits may be 
used by residents. For example, residents would be able to forward visitor permits to 
visitors and tradespersons via the app, providing those visitors with the flexibility to 
enter their vehicle details, parking time and duration etc. Residents would also be 
able to save details of regular visitors, should they wish, making it simpler to allocate 
permits to those regular visitors.   

Page 30



 

 

6.5.11 Some concerns were raised regarding Car Club vehicles parking in CPZs. There are 
in excess of 12,000 car club members registered in Lewisham, with vehicles 
including plug-in hybrids and electric vehicles. Each car club vehicle typically results 
in eight privately owned vehicles being sold, and members reducing their annual car 
mileage by more than 25 per cent.  

6.5.12 Comments regarding visitor permits also highlighted the prevalence, and likely 
increase, in converting front gardens to hardstanding (impervious to rainfall, with 
attendant environmental/ flooding results) in order to bypass annual parking permit 
charges. Paragraph 6.4.21 of this report responds to this comment 

 
Policy recommendation 
 

6.5.13 Policy Recommendation: To approve the original consultation proposal and 
automatically provide ten hours of visitor parking credit free of charge to all 
households when they purchase at least one paid annual resident parking permit 
and to increase the cost of visitor permits as set out in Table 1. 

 Current cost Proposed cost 

1 hour £1.40 £1.60* 

Book of 10 vouchers £10.00 £16.00 

5 hours £2.80 £3.20 

Daily £5.60 £6.40 

Weekly £20.00 £25.60 

*sold as part of a book of 10 permits 
TABLE 1 – Proposed increase to the cost of visitor permits 

 
6.6 Proposal 3: Penalty Charge Notice pricing 

 Original consultation proposal: to amend the Penalty Charge for parking offences 
so that the higher rate charges apply for the whole borough instead of being at a 
lower rate for roads south of the A205. 

 
Policy justification 
 

6.6.1 The Council is responsible for the enforcement of all waiting, loading and parking 
restrictions on roads for which the Council is the Highway Authority and also in 
Council operated off-street car parks. 

6.6.2 Under the provisions of the Traffic Management Act 2004, local authorities in London 
may set Penalty Charges for parking contraventions to one of two bands, A or B.  

6.6.3 These PCN bands are set by London Councils and shown Table 2. 

Page 31



 

 

 Higher  

(e.g. for parking on yellow lines 
or causing an obstruction) 

Lower 

(e.g. where parking is permitted 
but regulations are contravened, 
such as an expired P&D ticket) 

Band A £130 £80 

Band B £110 £60 

TABLE 2 - London Councils – Current levels of Penalty Charge Notice  
(set by London Councils April 2011) 

6.6.4 Currently, PCNs issued for vehicles illegally parked on roads in Lewisham to the 
north of the A205/South Circular Road are set at Band A and PCNs issued on roads 
to the south of the A205/South Circular Road are set to Band B. 

6.6.5 It is recommended that the Council adopts the use of Band A PCN charges for the 
whole of the borough. This would bring Lewisham’s approach into line with similar 
inner and outer London Boroughs such as Croydon, Enfield, Newham, Haringey, 
Hammersmith & Fulham, and Waltham Forest. 

6.6.6 It is considered that the implementation of the new Ultra Low Emission Zone (ULEZ) 
to the north of the A205/South Circular Road, starting in 2021, is likely to result in 
some parking being displaced from the current Band A area into the current Band B 
area. It is hoped that the introduction of the higher charge in the south of the 
Borough will help to discourage an excess of illegal parking in the south of the 
Borough.  

 
Summary of consultation results 

 
6.6.7 A majority (69%) of those that responded to the consultation did not agree that 

penalty charges should be cheaper in the south of the borough, and three-quarters 
(75%) of those answering the question agreed that fines should be uniform across 
the borough. 

 
Summary of key points raised in verbatim comments  

6.6.8 Some comments stated that PCN charges are too high, even at the lower rate. 
However, the available rates for penalty charges are set by London Councils, with 
boroughs only deciding which of the Band A or Band B rates to apply.  

6.6.9 There were concerns expressed in the comments that the grace and observation 
periods for enforcement are too short. The observation periods for parking offences 
are set out in the Operational Guidance for Civil Enforcement Officers issued by the 
Department for Transport.  

6.6.10 The rules for signing are set-out out in the Traffic Signs Regulations and General 
Directions 2016. This prescribes the wording the must be used on regulatory traffic 
signs 

Page 32



 

 

Policy recommendation 
 

6.6.11 Policy Recommendation: To approve the proposal to harmonise the rate for PCNs 
at Band A across the borough. Approval for this will then need to be sought with 
London Councils.  

 
6.7 Proposals 4 and 5: Changes to provision of disabled parking places 

 
6.7.1 Original consultation proposal 4: to provide only mandatory, enforceable disabled 

parking bays (and no longer provide advisory disabled parking bays) 

Original consultation proposal 5: to amend the application criteria to new criteria 
based on assessment of medical need by a qualified person and also highway 
criteria under which a location would be assessed to determine if a disabled bay may 
be installed. 

 
Policy background 
 

6.7.2 The Council currently provides two types of disabled bay, following an initial 
assessment of each applicant under the current parking policy criteria.   

6.7.3 Mandatory disabled bays are introduced following statutory consultation and the 
implementation of a Traffic Management Order (TMO). These bays may only be 
parked in by vehicles displaying a valid blue badge – vehicles not displaying a blue 
badge may be enforced against and a Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) issued. Drivers 
issued with a blue badge who have a vehicle registered at their address are eligible 
to apply for a mandatory disabled parking bay, subject to certain criteria including 
road safety and the results of statutory consultation (required as part of the TMO 
process). 

6.7.4 The second type of bay is an advisory marking, which may not be enforced and can 
still be parked in by any road user without penalty. They do not require a TMO. Blue 
Badge holders who have a vehicle registered at their home address in the borough 
(and do not live within a Controlled Parking Zone) can apply for an Advisory 
Residential Disabled Bay. If the blue badge holder is not the driver, the driver must 
be their recognised carer and must reside full time at the same address. 

6.7.5 Under this proposal, only mandatory disabled bays would be provided by the Council 
to ensure that disabled bay provision may be properly enforced. 

6.7.6 The proposed new criteria, set out in Appendix 6, have been set to prioritise 
residents with severe mobility issues. Residents within a CPZ with a blue badge may 
apply for a free residents parking permit. This would still be available to blue badge 
holders should they not meet the medical criteria for installation of a mandatory 
disabled parking bay 

 
 

Page 33



 

 

Summary of consultation results 
 

6.7.7 The consultation sought to establish the size of the population that identified as 
being disabled, with 9% of respondents identifying themselves as disabled, with 5% 
who preferred not to say. 

6.7.8 There is significant support, with 92% of respondents in favour, for the proposal that 
all marked disabled bays should be enforced through PCNs to ensure that only Blue 
Badge vehicles can use them.  

 
Summary of key points raised in verbatim comments 
 

6.7.9 Comments were received during consultation that more and better policing of 
disabled bays is needed. This proposal would result in only mandatory, enforceable 
bays being provided ensuring that any abuse of disabled bays can result in the issue 
of PCNs. 

6.7.10 Requests were made via the comments that unused bays should be rationalised. 
Should this proposal be adopted, there will be a review of existing disabled bay 
provision, although this will be focused mainly on advisory bays. 

6.7.11 Some comments did request clarification regarding “vehicle” vs “person” with regards 
to parking permission and permits. Details on the use of blue badges in disabled 
parking places are set out in guidance provided to blue badge holders when the 
badges are issued.   

 
Policy recommendation 
 

6.7.12 Policy recommendation: to provide only mandatory, enforceable disabled parking 
bays (and no longer provide advisory disabled parking bays) and to amend the 
application criteria to new criteria based on assessment of medical need by a 
qualified person and also highway criteria under which a location would be assessed 
to determine if a disabled bay may be installed, as set out in Appendix 6 

 
 
6.8 Proposal 6: Pay and display / pay by phone parking charges 

 
6.8.1 Original consultation proposal: to harmonise the hourly rate for parking to £1.60 

for both cash and cashless payments and to rationalise the number of pay and 
display machines in the borough. 

 
Policy background – parking charges 
 

6.8.2 The pay and display hourly rate for parking is currently £1.40, and has been since 
2011. Customers who choose to use the cashless payment system are charged an 

Page 34



 

 

additional £0.20 per parking session; this is called a convenience fee and is charged 
by the service provider. 

6.8.3 In the process of reviewing parking charges and revenues raised since the last 
increase in 2011, it was noted that annual use of pay and display parking has 
increased by 88,000 parking acts per year. This points to an increase in motorised 
vehicle journeys into or within the borough with the associated air quality impacts.  

6.8.4 Council policy, established in the Transport Strategy and Local Implementation Plan 
2019-41 (LIP3), as outlined in section 4.1, is to increase the number of journeys 
made by sustainable means, with objectives including a reduction in traffic levels and 
car ownership. The observed increases in pay and display parking discussed above 
clearly run contrary to this adopted policy; it is clear that some form of intervention is 
necessary to reverse this increase. It is considered that parking charges are a 
legitimate tool to affect this behaviour change.  

6.8.5 Research demonstrates that parking charges can also be used to support local 
urban centres; thus providing attractive local alternatives to out-of-town retail outlets.  

6.8.6 Officers reviewed evidence on the importance of parking in retail areas. This 
included an analysis of the following key reports: 

 London Councils – Benefits of Parking Management in London (2018) 
http://londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/34485  

 Living Streets - The Pedestrian Pound (2018) -
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf 

 London Councils – The relevance of parking in the success of urban centres 
(2012) 
https://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/The_relevance_of_parking_in_t
he_success_of_urban_centres_-_A_review_for_London_Councils.pdf  

 Sustrans research from a proposed transport scheme in Bristol (2006) 
http://www.tut.fi/verne/wp-content/uploads/Shoppers-and-how-they-travel.pdf 

6.8.7  Key points identified from this research were that: 

 There are considerable benefits to retailers in parking management; 

 Retailers have inaccurate perceptions around the modal share of shoppers, in 
that they tend to overestimate the proportion of journeys made by car; 

 Shoppers tend to be relatively local, meaning that there is scope for these 
journeys to be made by sustainable modes; 

 There is a disparity between what retailers think shoppers want from their retail 
experience compared to what shoppers say they actually desire; 

Page 35

http://londoncouncils.gov.uk/node/34485
https://www.livingstreets.org.uk/media/3890/pedestrian-pound-2018.pdf
https://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/The_relevance_of_parking_in_the_success_of_urban_centres_-_A_review_for_London_Councils.pdf
https://www.britishparking.co.uk/write/Documents/The_relevance_of_parking_in_the_success_of_urban_centres_-_A_review_for_London_Councils.pdf
http://www.tut.fi/verne/wp-content/uploads/Shoppers-and-how-they-travel.pdf


 

 

 Pedestrians and public transport users in particular are likely to spend more in 
retail areas over the course of a week or month than car drivers do. They also 
tend to visit more shops; 

 There is evidence that investment in the public realm and in encouraging more 
sustainable travel to a retail area, results in increased footfall and retail spend. 

6.8.8 A benchmarking exercise was undertaken to review pay and display charges for 
similar London Boroughs:  

 Southwark parking charges vary from £2.75 to £6 per hour; 

 The majority of Greenwich is charged at £2.80 per hour; 

 Newham parking charges range from £1.00 to £2.00 per hour, with the majority of 
parking spaces charged at £2.00 per hour; 

 Waltham Forest charges £2.00 per hour; and 

 Tower Hamlets parking charges range from £3.80 to £4.80 per hour 

6.8.9 The current pay and display tariffs in Lewisham are at the lower end of these similar 
London Boroughs.  An increase to the current tariff for Lewisham should be in line 
with these charges to encourage people to adopt more sustainable means of 
transport in the borough. Any increase in revenue would then be allocated to 
transport improvements as described in section 8. The expected impact of increased 
parking charges would be a slight reduction in parking as people move to other more 
sustainable modes of transport. These prices have been set to be comparable with 
the costs of using public transport, for example a single journey on the TfL bus 
network costs £1.50 using Oyster or contactless payment methods, with additional 
journeys available free of charge if it is made within 1 hour of the previous payment. 
 

6.8.10 An increase to a tariff of £0.50 for each 15 minute period, which would equate to an 
hourly charge of £2.00, would be appropriate, based on the tariffs set by similar 
London Boroughs as shown in the above benchmarking exercise, and this increase 
would be in support of the Council’s policy objectives. Setting the hourly tariff higher 
than the cost of a bus journey would also provide an incentive to switch transport 
modes. The option of paying for 15 minutes of parking would promote shorter 
parking durations and faster turnover of spaces. 
 

6.8.11 As part of the parking consultation it is proposed that the following changes are 
made to parking fees: 

1. The convenience fee is removed from the cashless parking service, to further 
encourage the use of cashless transactions.  

2. The tariff for parking is increased to £0.50 for each 15 minute period, for both 
cash and cashless transactions. 

 
 

Page 36



 

 

Summary of consultation results 
 
6.8.12 Results of the consultation are presented in detail in section 3.3 of Appendix 1. 

 
6.8.13 The consultation asked respondents what they thought the cost of an hours parking 

should be anywhere in the borough, with a range of costs presented. The most 
popular selection was £1.20/hour with 42% of respondents.  However, 22% of 
respondents thought that it should be at the proposed charge of £1.60/hour or 
higher. 

6.8.14 Residents agree, with 86% of respondents in favour of the proposal to harmonise the 
payment charges at pay and display machines. 

6.8.15 Evidence from the parking survey suggests that the public would prefer a lower 
charge for pay and display parking. However, reducing the trend towards increased 
pay and display parking will not be achieved by reducing parking charges. It is 
therefore recommended that the pay and display parking charge is increased to 
£0.50 per 15 minute period. 

 
Policy recommendation 

6.8.16 Policy recommendation: to approve this proposal to increase the hourly rate for 
parking to £2.00 for all paid for parking places, including pay and display and pay by 
phone/app/online. 

 
Policy background – pay and display machines 
 

6.8.17 Currently, the Council has 191 pay and display machines in the Borough. The 
machines are over 15 years old and many are beyond repair. The cost of replacing 
all the machines would be in the region of £850,000. One way to mitigate this cost as 
well as create efficiencies within the service is to further encourage customers to opt 
for the cashless payment service. Over the years, motorists have been migrating 
from cash to cashless payments. The volume of cashless transactions in 2017/18 
was 38% higher than the previous year. A number of London boroughs have 
removed all pay and display machines. However, Lewisham is not going down this 
route and will provide pay and display machines in all Council owned car parks and 
on-street where there is sufficient demand. 

6.8.18 The key aim of the rationalisation programme is to provide new pay and display 
machines where there is sufficient demand. 

6.8.19 The Council has temporarily taken out of service 98 pay and display machines. 
Notices explaining the proposed removal and providing contact information should 
users have any concerns have been displayed on each of these machines. Any 
removals will be subject to feedback from the public. Machines have been selected 
for removal where income from cash payments was under £30 per week – the 
weekly income for removed machines ranges from £0.13 to £29.88. The locations of 
the machines which are proposed to be removed and their weekly income can be 
found in Appendix 5. Given that the cost to replace a pay and display machine is in 

Page 37



 

 

the region of £4500, plus cash collection and maintenance, it would not be 
economically viable to replace these machines especially where there is a clear 
move away from cash to cashless parking. 

6.8.20 The Council is proposing to replace all machines located in off-street car parks and 
where there is sufficient demand on-street. All new machines would be linked to a 
central location and monitored, which would allow out of order machines to be 
detected and fixed more quickly. 

 
Summary of consultation results 
 

6.8.21 Results of the consultation are presented in detail in section 3.3 of Appendix 1. 

6.8.22 However, there was strong disagreement (relative to the rest of the consultation) 
regarding questions around a complete or partial switch to machines that wouldn’t 
accept cash, with around 53% of those answering, disagreeing (compared with 30% 
agreeing) 

6.8.23  The suggestion was also made to switch to car or app only machines except where 
use of cash payments remains high. This did not receive overall acceptance, with 
44% of those answering disagreeing with this suggestion and 36% agreeing. 

 
 Policy recommendation 

6.8.24 Policy recommendation: to approve this proposal to rationalise the number of pay 
and display machines in the borough. 

 
 
6.9 Lewisham Council Staff survey 

6.9.1 As part of the public consultation, we also ran a survey for London Borough of 
Lewisham staff, as around 10% purchase a parking permit to enable them to park 
their cars that they drive to work in the staff car park. Staff permits are charged at the 
same rate as a Business Permit (£500 per year), but can be paid off in monthly 
instalments via direct deductions from salary. A report summarising the responses to 
the consultation is presented in Appendix 2. 

6.9.2 Responses were received from 168 individuals (54% of whom drive to work) out of 
an employee workforce of around 2,300, of which 255 staff park in nearby council 
car parks using Staff Permits. Those LBL staff that responded agreed 
overwhelmingly (76%) with Council policy to try and improve air quality within the 
borough and also (68%) that the council should be helping to reduce vehicle 
pollution. 

6.9.3 Staff (45% agreed) were less convinced than residents (58% agreed) that the council 
should be linking annual parking permit fees to emissions as a result. There was 
disagreement (51% against) that staff should be charged the same as employees of 
other businesses within the borough for their annual parking permits: 

Page 38



 

 

 
Summary of key points raised in verbatim comments 
  

6.9.4 Staff contributed a number of comments with their responses. Suggestions were 
made to improve the car park at Laurence House, which is out of the scope of this 
report and would need to be considered separately.  

6.9.5 Staff also pointed out that the Staff Permit costs are not a claimable business 
expense for council workers and that government policy has previously supported 
the purchase of diesel vehicles.  There were also suggestions that permits should be 
charged at a residential rate, rather than a business rate and that alternate options 
should be made available such as part time or charge-per-day permits for remote 
workers that need to make occasional visits to Council offices. A carrot, rather than 
stick, approach was suggested to incentivise the use of public transport rather than 
to penalise car use. However, residential parking permits are specific to Lewisham 
residents within particular CPZs. Business permits are the more suitable option and 
would need to be charged at that rate. The proposed emission based charging 
structure would also provide an incentive for the adoption of lower emission vehicles. 
Alternatives to parking charges are out of the scope of this review, but could be 
considered separately. The Council intends to carry out a staff survey which will be 
used to inform the development of a staff travel plan in the coming year. This will 
review how staff currently travel, and what measures are needed to incentivise staff 
to use more sustainable modes of travel to work and also for journeys during their 
working day, where possible. 

 
Policy recommendation 
 

6.9.6 Policy recommendation: that staff parking permits remain on the business tariff and 
move to an emissions based charging scheme as set out in Appendix 4. 

 
6.10 Health services permits 

6.10.1 As part of the consultation, we contacted and spoke with a variety of administrators 
who manage the allocation of permits for NHS staff. This teased out some 
misunderstandings about the use of parking permits by NHS staff, that wasn’t clear 
in the original policy proposal discussion with Mayor and Cabinet. 

 
Current policy 
 

6.10.2 There are two types of permits available to health and care-giving professionals and 
employees in the borough.  

6.10.3 The first is the “Health Trust Permit”. These permits allow parking for up to two 
hours in permit bays in all borough CPZs and are used by relevant Health Authority 
staff visiting patients in home. These are managed via a cardboard clock – similar to 
a Blue Badge – displayed on a vehicle’s dashboard. These are currently charged at 
£200 p.a. 

Page 39



 

 

6.10.4 There tends to be high turnover of staff in these professions, and current permits are 
bought annually and transferred to appropriate staff as they join or leave. This is a 
manual, time-consuming and paper-based process. 

6.10.5 A limited number of “Lewisham Hospital Staff permits” are available for Lewisham 
Hospital. Hospital staff permits are only valid in the designated CPZs surrounding the 
hospital, and are charged at the full business permit rate, currently £500 (see 
Appendix 3). A bulk application is made by Lewisham Hospital on behalf of its staff, 
with hospital administrators charging an additional £50 administration fee to cover 
the time needed to manage the paper and cheque-based processing of these 
permits. 

6.10.6 As part of this update, we propose to clarify and simplify the permits and their pricing 
and descriptions.  

6.10.7  The “Essential services health permit (2HR)” will be provided to health and 
council staff professionals that provide urgent or essential medical or care services 
to Lewisham residents in their homes. They require flexible, cross-borough parking 
at all hours of the day without having to hunt around to find a pay and display 
machine, request a visitor permit etc. 

6.10.8 These permits will be controlled via an app and will provide 2-hours parking at a 
time. This will have the option to extend via in-app update (simple touchscreen 
acknowledgment of an alert notification). 

6.10.9 Charging may need to be done on a monthly basis to account for staff turnover and 
minimise the potential administrative time and costs involved in account switching, 
refunds processing etc. The proposed annual fee is to be emissions-based, 
equivalent to the Resident Permit charging scale. 

6.10.10 The “Health services business permit” will be made available to hospital staff 
who need to drive to work, and to park near to their work location. Eligibility criteria 
should be defined for these permits, although adopting Lewisham Hospital, or 
Lewisham Council’s criteria for a permit may be sufficient (subject to monitoring and 
controlling levels of demand). 

6.10.11 The administration of these permits should be much simplified and accelerated 
through the provision of the new online payment portal (currently under 
development) and electronic payment processing. 

6.10.12 The proposed annual fee would be an equivalent scale to Business Permits, as 
they are currently, and is included in the proposed emissions based charging 
scheme in Appendix 4 to this report. 

 
6.11 Other minor updates to the parking policy 

6.11.1 In order to ensure that the parking policy is up to date with current guidance, 
regulations and Council policy the following minor amendments are proposed for the 
policy document. This will ensure that the policy document remains accurate and up 
to date. Although detailed in the previous Mayor and Cabinet report, these 

Page 40



 

 

amendments were not specifically mentioned in the consultation, but are 
recommended for inclusion in the updated policy. 

6.11.2 The updates include: 

 Making all parking permits available as virtual permits, where they are not 
already currently, reducing the need to issue paper permits; 

 Development and implementation of a new IT system for citizens to purchase/ 
renew parking permits and visitor permits; 

 Update references to key policy documents including the Mayor’s Transport 
Strategy (2018), the Council’s Transport Strategy and Local Implementation 
Plan 2019-2041 (LIP3), and the Lewisham Air Quality Action Plan (2016-2021); 

 Include a section on the new floating car club permit agreed at Mayor and 
Cabinet in December 2018; 

 Include a section on the new anti-idling enforcement measures agreed at 
Mayor and Cabinet in September 2019; 

 Include a new process for implementation of School Keep Clears as they no 
longer require a TMO in London; 

 Update of the text for crossovers to match current planning policy; 

 Update the maximum loading time on yellow lines from 20 to 40 minutes. This 
is the standard for London and set by London Council’s guidance and current 
TMOs; 

 Update the text for motorcycle parking in CPZs so that motorcycles may park 
free of charge within marked bays so long as they are perpendicular to the 
kerb, or where a marked bay is on or partially on the footway, so long as they 
are parked wholly within the bay; 

 Set out new criteria for assessment and prioritisation of minor parking projects, 
such as new parking bays or yellow line restrictions. These criteria will include 
requests from the public, road safety, technical need, supporting local business; 
and traffic flow and access. The proposed criteria are set out in Appendix 7 to 
this report; 

 Revision to the prioritisation process for informal consultation on Controlled 
Parking Zones (CPZs) based on experience, feedback and updates to Council 
policy. This will provide a two stage process with areas identified from public 
requests and survey data, including from a proposed borough wide survey to 
help determine parking need, being taken forward to a second stage of 
prioritisation. The programme for CPZ consultations would be prioritised by 
criteria including the number of requests received, the presence of key parking 
generators such as local centres and transport hubs, recent review or extension 
of Controlled Parking Zones, upcoming new developments or transport 
proposals (such as ULEZ or Healthy Neighbourhoods), and other factors linked 
to achieving the objectives of the Council’s transport strategy. The proposed 
criteria are set out in Appendix 8 to this report.  
 

6.11.3 It should be noted that officers are currently in discussion with TfL to more fully 
understand the likely impact of the plans to extend the Ultra Low Emission Zone 
expansion to the south circular (ULEX), and how any impacts may be mitigated 
against. The above revisions to the CPZ prioritisation process would allow the 
Council to prioritise any zones where it is considered parking pressure may increase 
as a result.  

Page 41



 

 

 
6.12 Review of Floating Car Club permits 

 
6.12.1 Within a CPZ, the council aims to balance the parking needs of those living, working, 

visiting and trading in the borough. This includes the provision of parking spaces for 
specific classes of user, including bays for resident permit holders, blue badge 
holders and car clubs.  

6.12.2 Car clubs are becoming a popular resource for people who do not wish to own a 
vehicle, thereby freeing up kerbside space for other users. In London, operators 
including Zipcar, DriveNow, Enterprise, Ubeeqo and Oply have started to operate 
one-way car clubs, also called the ‘free floating’ model, in a number of boroughs 
including Lambeth, Wandsworth and Merton. A trial has also been operating with 
Zipcar within Lewisham. Whilst traditional car club operating models have required 
users to pick up and return the car to the same designated space, this new model 
allows one way trips with the car dropped off in a different location to where it was 
picked up, giving greater flexibility to its users. Membership of floating car club 
schemes encourages users to give up their own vehicle in place of the floating car 
club membership.  

6.12.3 Following approval at Mayor and Cabinet in December 2018, the Council has 
formalised the scheme by creating a new “floating car club permit” that car club 
operators may apply for, subject to approval by Officers. As part of the initial 
approval at Mayor and Cabinet, an overall limit to the number of floating car club 
permits that are issued was put in place, to be reviewed annually. Initially, this limit 
has been set at 200 permits overall, to be distributed between any interested 
operators who meet the Council’s criteria, with a maximum 100 permits available to a 
single approved operator. 

6.12.4 Since the Mayor and Cabinet report, the popularity of the floating car club scheme in 
Lewisham has increased. Zipcar have reported that membership has increased from 
9901 in December 2018 to 13466 at end of October 2019. The number of weekly 
active users of their floating car club scheme, referred to as the “Flex service” has 
increased by 35% from May to October 2019. Zipcar have stated that week-day 
demand for the Flex service is between 150 and 200 vehicles, with the potential to 
reach a maximum of 250 vehicles at weekends. Some 25% of the Zipcar fleet of 
vehicles are electric vehicles. Uptake of electric vehicles by members Lewisham is 
around 30%.   

6.12.5 Other operators, including Drivenow, Ubeeqo and Oply have expressed interest in 
operating a floating car club scheme in Lewisham. 

6.12.6 It is proposed that limits on the number of permits available to floating car club 
operators in Lewisham are removed in order to take advantage of the increased 
popularity of this model. Increased take up of floating car clubs will result in reduced 
car ownership in the borough, and the high availability of electric vehicles associated 
will contribute to the Council’s commitments to improving air quality in the borough.  

6.12.7 Furthermore, it is proposed to open up the floating car club scheme in Lewisham to 
more operators, to encourage competition and provide residents with greater choice. 

Page 42



 

 

6.12.8 The operation of the scheme will be closely monitored by officers and reported to the 
Sustainable Development Select Committee on an annual basis as part of the 
annual parking report. There are mechanisms within the draft terms and conditions 
which allow for any issues arising to be carefully managed, with scope for revocation 
of permits if operators fail to comply.  

 
 
7. Financial implications 

7.1 As part of the policy review, a modelling exercise has been undertaken to test the 
possible revenue implications of introducing emissions based charging for parking 
permits. However, this would not produce future year forecasts, which would be 
subject to the speed of uptake of cleaner vehicles by residents, businesses and staff. 
The objective of emissions based charging for parking permits would be not to 
generate additional income for the Council, but to encourage the take-up of low 
emission vehicles and improve air quality within the borough. Should more income 
be generated, this would be allocated to transport related projects.  

7.2 The introduction of emissions based charges for parking may result in some 
additional income in the short term. It is expected that this income will reduce over 
time as vehicle ownership moves toward less polluting vehicles. Any surplus income 
would be subject to the provisions of section 55 of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 
1984 as described in section 8 of this report. 

7.3 The aim of implementing Band A PCN charges is to provide an incentive to drivers to 
ensure that they are parked safely and legally. It is hoped that a higher charge will 
encourage compliance, which from a revenue perspective may offset the increase in 
the charge.  

7.4 There will be a cost implication to the Council of implementing the proposed changes 
to the disabled parking policy. At present, there are more than 150 mandatory 
disabled bays in the borough. An accurate estimate of the number of active advisory 
disabled bays is difficult to obtain, as they may be left to fade/wear out if no longer 
required. Our current estimate is that there could be as many as 1500 advisory bays 
within the Lewisham area. Assessment of these bays would require a survey of the 
borough and consultation with affected residents; this could be accomplished in 
stages and would likely cost in the region of £30,000, taken from existing parking 
budgets. Requests for new mandatory bays (to replace the advisory bays) would 
require Traffic Management Orders (TMOs), which could be implemented in batches 
as per the current arrangement. The cost of marking the bays is around £50 per bay, 
with no signage proposed in alignment with the latest DfT guidance. A full 
assessment of this cost would form part of this process.  

7.5 None of the other proposed changes to the Parking Policy have any financial 
implications. 

 
 
 
 

Page 43



 

 

8. Legal implications 

8.1 The Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 (RTRA) sets out the legal framework for 
parking permits, traffic management orders (which are required to establish parking 
zones or set restrictions such as yellow lines), removal to the car pound and related 
financial controls.  

8.2 Section 122 of the Act imposes a duty on the Council to exercise the functions 
conferred on them by the RTRA as (so far as practicable having regard to the 
matters specified in S122 (2)   to ‘secure the expeditious, convenient and safe 
movement of vehicular and other traffic including pedestrians and the provision of 
suitable and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway’.  

8.3 The matters set out in S122(2) are:-   

(a) the desirability of securing and maintaining reasonable access to premises; 
 

(b) the effect on the amenities of any locality affected and (without prejudice to 
the generality of this paragraph) the importance of regulating and restricting 
the use of roads by heavy commercial vehicles, so as to preserve or improve 
the amenities of the areas through which the roads run; 

 
(c) the strategy prepared under section 80  of the Environment Act 1995 (national 

air quality strategy); 
 
(d) the importance of facilitating the passage of public service vehicles and of 

securing the safety and convenience of persons using or desiring to use such 
vehicles; and 

 
(e) any other matters appearing to the local authority to be relevant 

 
 
8.4 The procedures for making traffic management orders and the form that they should 

take are set out within the Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Procedure) (England and 
Wales) Regulations 1996 and also together with the procedure for orders pursuant to 
S45 and 46 in Schedule 9 to the RTRA. This includes a statutory duty to consult, 
which will be in addition to any consultation set out in the report. 

8.5 The Local Authorities’ Traffic Orders (Exemptions for Disabled Persons) (England) 
Regulations require that orders made under the RTRA include an exemption from 
waiting prohibitions in certain circumstances, and from charges and time-limits at 
places where vehicles may park or wait, in respect of vehicles displaying a disabled 
person's badge 

8.6 Section 55 of the RTRA provides that a London authority must keep an account of its 
income and expenditure in relation to any parking places provided on the highway. 
At the end of each financial year any deficit in the account shall be made good out of 
the general fund and any surplus must be either carried forward to the following year 
or applied for all or any of a number of specific purposes set out in that section. In 
London this includes the power to use it towards meeting all or any part of the cost of 
the doing by the authority in its area of anything which facilitates the implementation 

Page 44



 

 

of the London transport strategy (i.e. the Mayor’s Transport Strategy 2018 as 
referred to in paragraph 4.2) and which is for the time being specified in that strategy 
as a purpose for which a surplus may be applied. Case law has confirmed that these 
powers should not be used for the purpose of generating a surplus but as long as the 
authority sets its charges for a valid purpose having taken into account all relevant 
considerations the fact that those charge lead to a surplus would not render the 
charges unlawful. 

8.7 The Traffic Management Act 2004 (TMA) is the primary legislation for the 
management of parking in England. It reinforces the legal duty under the RTRA to 
ensure the expeditious movement of traffic. Part 6 of the TMA affects parking and is 
accompanied by statutory and operational guidance documents. Councils are legally 
obliged to ‘have regard to’ the former, while the latter sets out the principles 
underlying good parking management and recommends how this can be achieved. 

8.8 The main principles advocated in the TMA statutory guidance are: 

 managing the traffic network to ensure expeditious movement of traffic, 
(including pedestrians and cyclists), as required under the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 Network Management Duty 

 improving road safety 

 improving the local environment 

 improving the quality and accessibility of public transport 

 meeting the needs of people with disabilities, some of whom will be unable 
to use public transport and depend entirely on the use of a car 

 managing and reconciling the competing demands for kerb space. 
 
8.9 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a new public sector equality duty (the 

equality duty or the duty).  It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, 
disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

 
8.10 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its function, have due regard to the 

need to: 

 
(a) eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 

conduct prohibited by the Act; 
 

(b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not;  

 
(c) Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 

and persons who do not share it. 
 

8.11 The duty continues to be a “have regard duty”, and the weight to be attached to it is 
a matter for the decision maker, bearing in mind the issues of relevance and 
proportionality. It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 
advance equality of opportunity or foster good relations. 

Page 45



 

 

 
8.12 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has recently issued Technical 

Guidance on the Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled 
“Equality Act 2010 Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of 
Practice”.  The Council must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates 
to the duty and attention is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the 
equality duty. The Technical Guidance also covers what public authorities should do 
to meet the duty. This includes steps that are legally required, as well as 
recommended actions. The guidance does not have statutory force but nonetheless 
regard should be had to it, as failure to do so without compelling reason would be of 
evidential value. The statutory code and the technical guidance can be found at: 
“https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-
public-sector-equality-duty-england”.  

 
8.13 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 

guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty: 

1. The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
 

2. Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making  
 
3. Engagement and the equality duty 
 
4. Equality objectives and the equality duty 
 
5. Equality information and the equality duty 
 

 
8.14 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 

the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and 
resources are available at: “https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-
guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance”. 

 
 
9. Equalities implications 

9.1 All staff are trained to meet their responsibilities as outlined in the Equality Act 2010.  

9.2 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken as part of the consultation 
process for the parking policy update in regard to each of the six key proposals. 

9.3 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“the Act”) imposes a duty that the Council 
must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to:- 

 

Page 46

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/publication-download/technical-guidance-public-sector-equality-duty-england
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance


 

 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act; 
 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not; 

 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
9.4 The protected characteristics under the Act are:  age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. 

9.5 The duty is a “have regard duty” and the weight to attach to it is a matter for the 
decision maker bearing in mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. 

9.6 The following table provides an overall assessment of the policy as a whole. Further 
detail is then provided where there is considered to be an impact. 

 
Expected impact on service equalities for users – High / Medium / Low, neutral 

or N/A 

Ethnicity: N/A Pregnancy / Maternity: N/A 

Gender: N/A Marriage & Civil 

Partnerships: 
N/A 

Age: L Sexual orientation: N/A 

Disability: L Gender reassignment: N/A 

Religion / Belief: N/A Overall: L 

 
9.7 In regard to the introduction of emissions based charging for parking permits, there is 

a risk that people on lower incomes may not be able to afford to change to a lower 
emission vehicle in the short term. However, alternative more affordable travel 
options are available: walking, cycling, public transport, car club. Government grants 
are also available to assist with the purchase of cleaner vehicles. For instance the 
Mayor of London has already made grants available to ‘micro’ businesses, sole 
traders and charities to replace vehicles that don’t meet ULEZ standards, as part of 
the launch of this scheme. There are also further plans for those on lower incomes 
due to be announced.  

9.8 In regard to the proposed criteria for assessment of disabled bay applications, 
officers have had due regard to persons with protected characteristics. People with 
disabilities would be assessed against the proposed criteria based on an 
assessment of medical need instead of a requirement that the applicant be both a 
driver and a blue badge holder.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



 

 

10. Sustainability implications 

10.1 There is a legal requirement on the local authority to work towards air quality 
objectives under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations made 
under that part. 

10.2 The introduction of emissions based charging for parking permits is expected to lead 
to the adoption of lower emission vehicles leading to a resulting overall improvement 
in air quality. See section 6.4 of this report for further details. The net impact of the 
Parking Policy, and of the proposed policy changes, is therefore expected to be 
beneficial to the environment, through the reduction of emissions from road traffic in 
the Borough. 

11. Conclusion 

11.1 This report summarises the results from the recent parking policy consultation and 
provides recommendations for each of the policy proposals. Responses to the 
consultation were broadly in favour of the proposals presented in that consultation. 
Where questions or concerns were raised through the consultation, these have been 
considered and, where appropriate, addressed.  

11.2 Recommendations for consideration by the Committee are set out in section 3 of the 
report. 

11.3 Should these recommendations be supported by the Committee, any comments 
provided will be incorporated into an updated report to be presented to Mayor and 
Cabinet for approval in December 2019.  

 
12. Background documents and originator 

12.1 Supporting documents for this update include: 

 Lewisham Parking Policy (2014) 
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/parking/Documents/ParkingPolicyOctob
er2014.pdf 
 

 Annual Parking Report (2017)  
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61308/06%20Annual%20Pa
rking%20Report%202017-18%20121218.pdf 
 

 Draft Transport Strategy and Local Implementation Plan 2019-41 
(LIP3)(2018)  
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=21762 
 

 Mayors Transport Strategy for London (Greater London Authority 2018)  
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-
transport-strategy-2018?intcmp=46686 

 

Page 48

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/parking/Documents/ParkingPolicyOctober2014.pdf
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/parking/Documents/ParkingPolicyOctober2014.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61308/06%20Annual%20Parking%20Report%202017-18%20121218.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s61308/06%20Annual%20Parking%20Report%202017-18%20121218.pdf
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=21762
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018?intcmp=46686
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/transport/our-vision-transport/mayors-transport-strategy-2018?intcmp=46686


 

 

 Lewisham Air Quality Action Plan (2016-2021)  
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-
pollution/Documents/LewishamAirQualityActionPlanDec2016.pdf 
 

 Low Emission Vehicle Charging Strategy (2018–2022) 
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/corporate-policy-and-governance/lewisham-
low-emission-vehicle-strategy/user_uploads/draft-low-emission-vehicle-charging-
strategy.pdf 
 

 Verbatim comments from public consultation on the parking policy update 
 

 Verbatim comments from staff consultation on the parking policy update 
 
 

If there are any queries on this report please contact:  

Jonathan Fish, Principal Parking Engineer at jonathan.fish@lewisham.gov.uk; or 
Seamus Adams, Parking Services Manager at seamus.adams@lewisham.gov.uk.   

Page 49

https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-pollution/Documents/LewishamAirQualityActionPlanDec2016.pdf
https://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/environment/air-pollution/Documents/LewishamAirQualityActionPlanDec2016.pdf
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/corporate-policy-and-governance/lewisham-low-emission-vehicle-strategy/user_uploads/draft-low-emission-vehicle-charging-strategy.pdf
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/corporate-policy-and-governance/lewisham-low-emission-vehicle-strategy/user_uploads/draft-low-emission-vehicle-charging-strategy.pdf
https://consultation.lewisham.gov.uk/corporate-policy-and-governance/lewisham-low-emission-vehicle-strategy/user_uploads/draft-low-emission-vehicle-charging-strategy.pdf
mailto:jonathan.fish@lewisham.gov.uk
mailto:seamus.adams@lewisham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

Appendix 1 – Public Consultation Summary 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The Council is in the process of updating its parking policy, and as a part of that a 
consultation program was put in place for seven weeks over summer 2019 seeking the 
public’s views on the key elements of the policy that we are seeking to change, and that this 
report provides a summary of the consultation methodology, and the responses received as 
a result. 
 
The consultation sought to obtain feedback on six proposals: 

1. To amend the pricing for parking permits to reflect vehicle emissions. 
2. Provide 10-hours visitor parking free to all households in the borough where they 

hold a parking permit 
3. Implement uniform Penalty Charges across the borough. 
4. Amend the provision of informal, advisory disabled bays to mandatory disabled bays 

that may be enforced. 
5. Amend application criteria in assessing medical need in determining installation of a 

disabled bay. 
6. Create uniform pay & display parking prices for cash and cashless transactions, 

harmonising tariffs from a mix of £1.40 per hour for cash payment and £1.60 per hour 
for cashless payments, to a uniform £1.60 for all types of payment. 

 

2. Consultation Methodology 
 
Following the Mayor and Cabinet approval in March 2019, the Council conducted a 
consultation with the public on key changes to the parking policy.  
 
The consultation ran from 10th June to 26th July 2019. This was extended by a week to 
Friday 2nd August to enable some final comments to be captured. The survey generated 
3,767 responses over this seven week period. A response rate some eight times larger than 
most public consultations conducted by the council, and significantly above the ~500 or so 
required to deliver a statistically significant survey, given the population of the borough. 
 
The survey covered 54 separate questions for the participants to answer. 
 
We are therefore confident that the survey responses and comments received are a good 
indication of the views of the pubic within the Borough. 
 
The consultation was a comprehensive consultation exercise with all stakeholders regarding 
the proposed policy updates, including the impact on air quality and the Council’s approach 
to the proposed introduction of emissions based charging in the borough. 
 
The objective was to establish if there is public support for the proposals outlined in this 
report. 
 
The consultation was available on-line in the council’s consultation pages of its website and 
was communicated widely through one of the most comprehensive and wide-reaching 
awareness campaigns the council has run:  
 

- During the period of the consultation, the consultation web page was viewed 106,788 
times (54,690 uniquely). 

Page 51



2 

 

o The parking permit tool (allowing people to enter their vehicle registration 
number and see what their proposed new charge would be) was viewed over 
4,637 times (the tracking of this did not start until 25 June – this was set up by 
an external partner). 

 
- The consultation was included in a monthly borough newsletter on 20 June – it was 

the second highest clicked on article (86 clicks). 
 

- Emails were sent to 25,105 persons and businesses who have signed up to hear 
from LBL. This email achieved a 55% open rate, and 16% click-to-open, 2,917 clicks 
to the consultation landing page. 

o A reminder email was sent to this list 2 weeks later – sent to 12,995 who had 
not yet completed the survey (from available emails provided). This achieved 
a 66% open rate and a further 19% click-to-open rate – 1,959 clicks. 
 

- Emails were sent to all residents and business owners that currently have a parking 
permit: approximately after removing duplicates (who were sent the previous email), 
this was sent to 15,874 people, delivering a 64% open rate and 26% click-to-open 
rate – 9,003 clicks to the consultation page. 

o A reminder email was sent to this list two weeks later – sent to 15,087 who 
had not yet completed the survey (from available emails provided). This 
achieved a 54% open rate and a further 22% click-to-open rate – 2,264 clicks. 

 
- Emails were also sent to 239 blue badge permit holders, specifically highlighting the 

proposals for disabled parking bays. This achieved a 76% open rate and an 18% 
click-to-open rate (40 clicks to the survey). 
 

- Posters were put up on ~40 sites that are reserved for messages from the council 
(managed by JC Decaux) across the borough for ~4 weeks. 

 
- In addition posters were bought through JCDecaux on a further 30 sites to “gap fill” 

areas of the borough where LBL sites are less common – this included digital sites in 
Lewisham Shopping Centre and at Lewisham and Grove Park train stations (these 
are commercially sold sites, and so those bought, were those available at the time). 

 
- Total impressions (a PWC-audited measure that indicates the number people seeing 

the posters – this includes a count for the same person seeing posters more than 
once) for the duration of the campaign was reported to be 13,613,628 (13.6 million). 

 
An article highlighting the consultation was published in “Lewisham Life” - Lewisham Life is 
distributed to all 116,000 homes and businesses in the borough as well as libraries and 
leisure centres. Independent research, carried out by Ipsos Mori in 2012, showed that 49% 
of Lewisham residents get information about what’s happening locally from Lewisham Life 
magazine. This compares to 24% for both the News Shopper and the Mercury, and 11% for 
the South London Press. 
 
A press release was issued, alongside a photo of Cllrs Dacre and McGeevor holding a copy 
of the poster, to help promote the consultation. 
 
Social media was used to help promote awareness of the consultation. Organic (free) 
updates were posted on twitter and Facebook by the Lewisham Council accounts. These 
were seen by relatively small volumes of people. A paid series of adverts was also run 
throughout the campaign on Facebook. The 4 Facebook campaigns accomplished: 

Page 52



3 

 

 
- Reach       126,837 
- Impressions      166,341 
- Clicks/engagements (likes/shares/comments etc.) 1,495 
- Page views from FB     7,052 

 
Opinions of groups including environmental groups, disability awareness groups, 
pensioners, pedestrian and cycling organisations and transport associations were sought. 
 

- Attended Lewisham Pensioners Forum event at Town Hall on 24 July, as well as 
providing email awareness for distribution. 
 

- Emails raising awareness of the consultation were sent to the following older people, 
disability and carer groups: 

o Healthwatch  
o BME Carers Network 
o Mental Health Carers Network 
o Positive Ageing Council  
o Carers Lewisham 
o Your Voice in Health and Social Care 
o Bromley and Lewisham Mind 
o Lewisham Pensioners Forum  

 
- Environmental, transport and residential groups were also contacted, including: 

o Lewisham Cyclists 
o Lewisham Rail Users group 
o Lewisham Living Streets 
o SE23/SE26 Life 
o LoveCatford 

 
- NHS health administrators were contacted, and face-to-face briefings were held with 

NHS staff who manage the parking permits for health professionals whose role 
includes home visits (for the elderly, disabled, children’s services, mental health etc.), 
as well as permits for office-based workers at various sites across the borough 
 

- Employees of the council were also canvassed separately with regards to permits 
purchased by those that drive to work. 

o A separate internally-focussed survey was conducted amongst staff. This was 
completed by 125 people. 

 
 

3. Results 
 
The results are based on the six broad areas the survey covered: 

 Air Quality 

 Permits 

 Pay & Display 

 Disability 

 Penalty Charges 

 Demographics 
 
 
 

Page 53



4 

 

 
 
3.1 Air Quality  
Questions: 6-13, 15-22 of the survey 
 
Questions 6 to 14 of the survey are directed to those respondents with resident’s parking 
permits, and questions 15 to 23 are directed to those respondents with business parking 
permits.  
 
Residents Response 
Questions 6, 7, 8, and 9 of the survey sought to gauge participants awareness of the effects 
of air pollution on health and the effect cars, in particular diesel engine emissions have on air 
pollution. 
 
A significant proportion of respondents of Question 6 were aware of the negative effects air 
pollution had on health with 95% awareness out of the 3,588 responses. 
 

 
 
 
Furthermore, 99% of the 3,585 participants responding to Question 7 were aware that 
exhaust from cars contributes to local air quality and pollution. 
 

 
 
 
When asked in Question 11 if respondents that are in possession of a residents’ permit were 
aware that the ULEZ boundary will be extended to the South Circular within the borough by 
2021, 79% of 3,591 respondents said “Yes”  while 21% did not.  

9
5

%

5
%

Y E S N O

Q 6  - ARE YOU AWARE OF THE EFFECTS OF AIR  
POLLUTION UPON YOUR HEALTH?

9
9

%

1
%

Y E S N O

Q 7  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT EXHAUST  FROM CARS 
CONTRIBUTE TO LOCAL  AIR  QUALITY  & 

POLLUTION?

Page 54



5 

 

 
 
 
Participants agreed with the notion that the Council should try to improve the quality of air 
quality in the Borough, and that they should encourage people to drive vehicles with lower 
emissions. While support was consistent in the proposition that the Council is right to 
introduce lower priced permits for vehicles with lower emission, there was some resistance 
amongst respondents.  
 
Question 8 of the survey was comprised of three questions gauging opinions on whether the 
Council should tackle air pollution, and possible methods to address the problem. 
 
Air Quality and Emissions - Do you agree with the Council’s policy of trying to improve air 
quality within the borough? 
Of the 3,591 respondents that answered, 81% were in agreement with the proposition of the 
Council’s policy of trying to improve air quality within the borough, with 58% of people 
strongly agreeing. 11% of respondents did not agree and 8% neither agreed nor disagreed.  
 

  
 
 
Air Quality and Emissions - Do you agree that the council should encourage people to drive 
vehicles with lower emissions? 
Responses to the narrower question of whether the Council should encourage people to 
drive vehicles with lower emissions resulted in 77% of the 3,582 respondents agreeing to the 
concept, 52% respondents strongly agreeing with the statement, outweighing the 13% of 
those that disagree, and the 9% that neither agreed nor disagreed.  
 
 
 

7
9

%

2
1

%

Y E S N O

Q 1 1  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT THE ULEZ  
BOUNDARY WILL  BE  EXTENDED UP TO THE 

SOUTH C IRCULAR WITHIN THE BOROUGH BY 
2021?

5
8

%

2
3

%

8
%

4
% 7
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 8/A - DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COUNCIL ’S  
POLICY  OF TRYING TO IMPROVE AIR  QUALITY  

WIT HIN  T HE B OROUG H?

Page 55



6 

 

 
 
 
Air Quality and Emissions - Is the council right to introduce lower rates for parking permits to 
vehicles with lower emissions, in order to help improve air quality? 
Agreement to the proposition that the Council is right to introduce lower rates for parking 
permits for vehicles with lower emissions in order to help improve air quality was consistent 
with the former questions and received 61% of approving votes from the 3,587 respondents, 
with 41% strongly agreeing. However, those that strongly disagreed, 22%, was greater than 
the opposition to the questions of the Council’s endeavours to encourage people to drive 
vehicles with lower emissions, which had polled 7% of strong descent apiece. 
 

 
 
 
In Question 9, participants were asked if they were aware that when compared to petrol cars 
with a catalyst, diesels have higher emissions of NOx and much higher emissions of 
particulate matter, and are therefore more harmful to health. 89% of the 3,586 respondents 
were aware, while 11% were unaware. 
 

5
2

%

2
5

%

9
%

6
% 7
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 8/B  - DO YOU AGREE THAT THE COUNCIL  
SHOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE  TO DRIVE  

VEHICLES WITH LOWER EMISSIONS?
4

1
%

2
0

%

7
% 1

0
%

2
2

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 8/C  - IS  THE COUNCIL  R IGHT TO INTRODUCE 
LOWER RATES FOR PARKING PERMITS TO 

VEHICLES WITH LOWER EMISSIONS,  IN  ORDER TO 
HELP IMPROVE AIR  QUALITY?

Page 56



7 

 

 
 
 
And when respondents were asked in Question 10 if they agree with a £50 surcharge on 
diesel fuelled vehicles, the outcome was relatively evenly split, with 53% of the 3,583 
respondents agreed, with 47% disagreeing. 
 

 
 
 
With regards to the upcoming extension of the  ULEZ by 2021, 79% of respondents in 
question 11 were aware of the changes, while 21% of the 3,591 respondents were not. 
 

 
 
 

8
9

%

1
1

%

Y E S N O

Q 9  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT WHEN COMPARED TO 
PETROL CARS WITH A  CATALYST ,  DIESELS HAVE 

HIG HER EMISSION S OF N OX & MUCH HIG HER 
EMISSION S OF PART ICULATE MAT T ER,  &  ARE 

THEREFORE MORE HARMFUL TO HEALTH?

5
3

%

4
7

%

Y E S N O

Q 10  - DO YOU AGREE WITH A  £50  SURCHARGE 
FOR DIESEL  VEHICLES?

7
9

%

2
1

%

Y E S N O

Q 11  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT THE ULEZ  
BOUNDARY WILL  BE  EXTENDED TO THE SOUTH 

C IRCULAR WITHIN THE BOROUGH BY 2021?

Page 57



8 

 

 
Business Permit Responses 
When offered the question of respondents’ awareness of the effects of air pollution on 
health, 96% of the 1,939 business permit holders surveyed were aware of the effects. 
 

 
 
Likewise, 99% of the 1,918 respondents to Question 16 were aware that exhaust fumes from 
vehicles contribute to local air quality and pollution. 
 

 
 
 
Question 17 asked business permit holders a series of three air quality and emissions 
questions associated with the Council’s effort to improve air quality in the borough.  
 
Of the 1,868 respondents, 81% were supportive of the Council’s policy to improve air quality 
within the borough, with 59% strongly agreeing with the policy, and 11% disagreeing, and 
8% neither agreeing nor disagreeing.  
 

9
6

%

4
%

Y E S N O

Q15 - ARE YOU AWARE OF T HE EFFECT S OF 
AIR  POLLUTION UPON YOUR HEALTH?

9
9

%

1
%

Y E S N O

Q16 - ARE YOU AWARE THAT EXHAUST  FROM 
VEHICLES CONTRIBUTE TO LOCAL  AIR  

QUALITY  & POLLUTION?

Page 58



9 

 

 
 
 
In the second part of the question, participants were asked if they agreed that the Council 
should encourage people to drive vehicles with lower emissions, to which 78% of the 1,833 
respondents were supportive, with 56% of those strongly agreeing with the statement. 12% 
of the sample disagreed and 9% neither disagreed nor agreed.  
 

 
 
 
The last of the air quality and emissions questions asked if participants believed that the 
Council is right to introduce lower rates for parking permits to vehicles with lower emissions 
in order to help improve air quality. While there was support from the 1,833 Business Permit 
holders, with nearly two-thirds of the sample in agreement with the proposal, and 45% 
strongly agreeing, there were 20% that strongly disagreed with the statement. 
 

5
9

%

2
2

%

8
%

4
% 7
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 17/A - DO YOU AGREE WITH THE 
COUN CIL 'S  POLICY  OF T RYIN G  T O IMPROVE 

AIR  QUALITY  WITHIN THE BOROUGH?
5

6
%

2
2

%

9
%

5
% 7
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 17/B  - DO YOU AGREE THAT THE COUNCIL  
SHOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE  TO DRIVE  

VEHICLES WITH LOWER EMISSIONS?

Page 59



10 

 

 
 
 
There is consistency with the sentiment in Question 19 where support for a £50 diesel 
surcharge was relatively evenly split, where 56% of the 1,847 participants agreed with the 
statement, and 44% did not agree. 
 

 
 
 
Participants show awareness in Question 18 that diesel vehicles have been shown to be 
more polluting and more harmful to health than petrol vehicles with 91% of the 1,919 
participant’s conscious of the effects of diesel powered vehicles. 

4
5

%

1
9

%

8
% 8
%

2
0

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 17/C  - IS  THE COUNCIL  R IGHT TO 
INTRODUCE LOWER RATES FOR PARKING 

PERMITS TO VEHICLES WITH LOWER 
EMISSIONS,  IN  ORDER TO HELP IMPROVE 

AIR  QUALITY?

5
6

%

4
4

%

Y E S N O

Q 19  - DO YOU AGREE WITH A  £50  SURCHARGE 
FOR DIESEL  VEHICLES?

Page 60



11 

 

 
 
With regards to the extension of the ULEZ boundary to the South Circular, which means that 
it will be within the borough by 2021, 80% of the 1,841 Business Permit holders samples 
were aware of the changes, and 20% were not. 
 

 
 
 
3.2 Visitor Permits 
Questions: 5, 14, 23-26 of the survey 
 
Regarding visitors permits, 47% of the 3,767 respondents did not use them, 46% used them 
for visitors, and 3% were guests of a Lewisham resident. 
 

 
 
 

9
1

%

9
%

Y E S N O

Q 18  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT DIESEL  VEHICLES 
HAVE BEEN SHOWN TO BE  MORE POLLUTING,  & 

MORE HARMFUL TO HEALTH,  THAN PETROL?

8
0

%

2
0

%

Y E S N O

Q 20  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT THE ULEZ  
B OUN DARY WILL  B E  EXT EN DED UP T O T HE 

SOUTH C IRCULAR WITHIN THE BOROUGH BY 
2021?

4
6

%

3
%

4
7

%

4
%

F O R  G U E S T S  
V I S I T I N G  M E

A S  A  G U E S T  O F  A  
L E W I S H A M  
R E S I D E N T

I  D O N ' T  U S E  
V I S I T O R  P A R K I N G  

P E R M I T S

O T H E R

Q 5  - DO YOU USE  VISITOR PARKING PERMITS?

Page 61



12 

 

Of the 2,982 respondents to Question 24, 84% were aware that they could purchase visitors’ 
parking permits, and 16% were not. 
 

 
 
Respondents were asked if they were in favour of giving all residents in a Controlled Parking 
Zone (CPZ) with a parking permit 10 hours of free visitor parking each year – to this 81% 
were in supportive, with 69% of respondents strongly agreeing, and 13% somewhat 
agreeing. 10% disagreed, and 9% neither agreed nor disagreed. 
 

 
 
 
To the question of whether the Council should review visitor parking permit charges annually 
to ensure pressure on roadside parking is managed and Lewisham doesn’t become a car 
park – there were 2,999 responses and 66% responded in the affirmative, with 44% strongly 
agreeing and 22% somewhat agreeing. 20% did not agree with the question, and 14% were 
undecided. 

8
4

%

1
6

%

Y E S N O

Q 24  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT YOU CAN 
PURCHASE VISITOR PARKING PERMITS?

6
9

%

1
3

%

9
%

3
% 7

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 25/A - IN  FAVOUR OF 10  HOURS FREE  VISITOR 
PARKING

Page 62



13 

 

 
 
 
3.3 Pay and Display 
Questions: 27-30 of the survey 
 
Question 27 sought to gauge opinion towards changes in the current P&D pricing and 
payment methods, and asked respondents three questions. Support for P&D hourly pricing 
to be consistent was supported favourably by the 3,107 responses, with 75% strongly 
agreeing, and 11% somewhat agreeing. 7% disagreed, and another 7% neither agreed nor 
disagreed.  
 

 
 
Respondents did not agree that P&D machines should be cashless (i.e. card or app 
payments only); with 53% of the 3,103 respondents disagreeing, 34% strongly disagreeing 
and 19% somewhat agreeing. 17% did strongly agree with the statement and 17% neither 
agreed nor disagreed.  
 

4
4

%

2
2

%

1
4

%

7
%

1
3

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  

A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 25/B  - IN  FAVOUR OF THE COUNCIL  
REVIEWIN G  VISIT OR PERMIT S AN N UALLY

7
5

%

1
1

%

7
%

4
%

3
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 27/A - HOURLY PARKING CHARGES SHOULD BE  
THE SAME,  NO MATTER THE PAYMENT METHOD?

Page 63



14 

 

 
 
 
When asked if Lewisham Council should switch to card or app only-machines, except in 
areas/car parks where use of cash payments remains high – 29% of the 3,101 responses 
strongly disagreed with the statement and 15% somewhat disagreed. 36% of respondents 
agreed with the statement (18% each for strongly agree and somewhat agree), and 21% had 
no opinion either way. 
 

 
 
 
Concerning P&D pricing, 42% of the 2,951 responses thought that parking should be set at 
£1.20/hour anywhere in the Borough, and 22% thought that it should be at £1.60/hour or 
higher.  
 

1
7

%

1
3

% 1
7

%

1
9

%

3
4

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 27/B  - P&D MACHINES SHOULD BE  CHANGED 
T O B EIN G  CARD OR APP ON LY?

1
8

%

1
8

% 2
1

%

1
5

%

2
9

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  
A G R E E  O R  
D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 27/C  - SHOULD THE COUNCIL  SWITCH TO CARD 
OR APP ONLY -MACHINES,  EXCEPT  WHERE USE  OF 

CASH PAYMENTS REMAINS HIGH?

Page 64



15 

 

 
 
 
3.4 Disability 
Questions: 31-33, 46, 48 of the survey 
 
There is significant support for the proposal that all marked disabled bays should be 
enforced through PCNs to ensure that only Blue Badge vehicles can use them, with 92% of 
the 2,611 respondents agreeing, and only 8% disagreeing. 
 

 
Question 46 of the survey sought to establish the size of the population that identified as 
being disabled and what access requirements existed. Of the 2,949 respondents, 275, or 9% 
identified themselves as disabled, while 5% preferred not to say. This meant that 86% of the 
sample population did not consider themselves as being disabled. 
 

1
0

%

4
2

%

1
2

%

1
1

%

1
%

1
0

%

1
4

%

£ 0 . 0 0 £ 1 . 2 0 £ 1 . 4 0 £ 1 . 6 0 £ 1 . 8 0 £ 2 . 0 0 O T H E R

Q 29  - WHAT DO YOU THINK THE COST  OF AN 
HOUR'S  PARKING ANYWHERE IN  THE BOROUGH 

SHOULD BE?

9
2

%

8
%

Y E S N O

Q 31  - DO YOU AGREE THAT ALL  MARKED 
DISABLED BAYS SHOULD BE  ENFORCED THROUGH 

PCNS TO ENSURE ONLY BLUE BADGE VEHICLES 
CAN USE  THEM?

Page 65



16 

 

 
 
 
When asked how to descried their disability in the second part of Question 46, there were 
616 responses. Of these 20% was physical or mobility related, 6% visual or hearing, 5% 
mental health, 13% with a long-term illness, and 37% preferred not to respond.  
 

 
 
 
When asked in the third part of question 46 what access requirements they had, of the 581 
respondents 53% preferred not to say and less than 10% for each of step-free access, 
wheelchair access, and chaperone or carer.  
 

9%

86%

5%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 46/A - DO YOU CONSIDER YOURSELF  TO BE  A  
DISABLED PERSON?

4%

5%

6%

13%

15%

20%

37%

C O G N I T I V E  O R  L E A R N I N G

M E N T A L  H E A L T H

V I S U A L  O R  H E A R I N G

I L L N E S S  O R  H E A L T H

O T H E R

P H Y S I C A L  O R  M O B I L I T Y

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 46/B  - HOW WOULD YOU DESCRIBE  YOUR 

DISABIL ITY?

Page 66



17 

 

 
 
 
Carers 
With respect to those who are carers, 459, or 17% of the 2,770 respondents, identified as 
providing unpaid care for someone, with 5% preferring not to say.  

 
 
 
Of the 769 respondents, 27% said they provide 0-5 hours per week of unpaid care, with 22% 
providing 21 hours or more per week.  
 
 

1%

3%

3%

6%

6%

7%

22%

53%

B S L / I N T E R P R E T E R

C H A P E R O N E / C A R E R

W H E E L C H A I R  A C C E S S

S T E P - F R E E  A C C E S S

A C C E S S I B L E  T O I L E T S

E A S Y  R E A D

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 46/C  - DO YOU HAVE ANY ACCESS 
REQUIREMENTS?

1
7

%

7
9

%

5
%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 48/A - DO YOU PROVIDE UNPAID CARE FOR 
AN YB ODY?

Page 67



18 

 

 
 
And of the 345 respondents, 13% receive a carers allowance and 3% receive direct 
payments. 
 

 
 
 
3.5 Parking Fines 
Questions: 34-37of the survey 
 
As part of the survey, respondents were asked on their opinion of the possibility to bring in 
uniform Penalty Charges across the Borough. At present, these are at a reduced price for 
parking offences in CPZs south of the A205. Of the 3,016 respondents 69% did not agree 
that they should be cheaper in the south of the Borough.  
 

2
7

%

1
0

%

5
%

5
%

2
2

%

3
1

%

0 - 5  H O U R S 6 - 1 0  H O U R S 1 1 - 1 5  
H O U R S

1 6 - 2 0  
H O U R S

2 1  H O U R S  
O R  M O R E

P R E F E R  N O T  
T O  S A Y

Q 48/B  - HOW MANY HOURS A  WEEK DO YOU 
PROVIDE UNPAID CARE?

1
3

%

3
%

8
4

%

C A R E R S  A L L O W A N C E D I R E C T  P A Y M E N T S O T H E R

Q 48/C  - DO YOU RECEIVE  ANY SUPPORT FOR THE 
UNPAID CARE YOU PROVIDE?

Page 68



19 

 

 
 
 
The effort to introduce uniform Penalty Charges for parking contraventions is supported by 
the 3,059 respondents, with 55% strongly agreeing and 20% somewhat agreeing. Of the 
respondents 11% in total disagreed, and 13% could not decide either way. 
 

 
 
 
3.6 Demographics 
Questions: 1-4, 38-45, 47, 49-52 of the survey 

 
Question 41 of the survey asked participants to identify their sex, and there was a relatively 
even split between females and male respondents, with 51% females and 44% males of the 
3,038 respondents to the question. 5% preferred not to say.  
 

3
1

%

6
9

%

Y E S N O

Q 34  - SHOULD PARKING F INES BE  CHEAPER IN  
THE SOUTH OF THE BOROUGH?

5
5

%

2
0

%

1
3

%

4
% 7

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 35  - DO YOU AGREE WITH THE PROPOSAL  TO 
INTRODUCE UNIFORM FINES FOR PARKING 

T ICKETS?

Page 69



20 

 

 
 
 
Of gender identity in Question 42, 93% of the 2,766 respondents confirmed that their gender 
now is the same as at birth, and 1% confirmed that it is now different from birth. 7% 
preferred not to say. 
 

 
 
 
Regarding the age profile of the demographic surveyed, the bulk of respondents were in the 
two bands that are in the 30-44 age range, with 30% of respondents confirming this (15% 
each for the bands 35-39, and 40-44). There was a good spread of ages across the 
spectrum, with 10% of respondents in the 30-34 age bracket, 11% in the 45-49 age bracket, 
10% between 55-59 years, and 9% between 60-64 years. There was a good level of 
responses to this question with 3,049 answering the question and only 2% that preferred not 
to answer. 
 

0%

5%

44%

51%

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

M A L E

F E M A L E

Q 41  - WHAT IS  YOUR SEX?

1%

7%

93%

G E N D E R  I D E N T I T Y  I S  D I F F E R E N T

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

G E N D E R  I D E N T I T Y  I S  T H E  S A M E

Q 42  - IS  YOUR GENDER IDENTITY  DIFFERENT 
FROM THE GENDER YOU WERE ASSIGNED AT  

B IRTH?

Page 70



21 

 

 
 
 
The ethnic breakdown of those surveyed shows that the significant majority of the 3,031 
respondents were white British (60%), followed by white other (13%). Of the respondents, 
5% identified as Black, 4% identified as Asian, and 3% identified as Mixed, while 6% of 
those that responded preferred not to say, and 2% were not categorised amongst the option 
available. The graph below illustrates the breakdown of all categories open to respondents, 
ranked in order of respondents. 
 

 
 
 

1%

5%

10%

15% 15%

11%
12%

10%

9%

5%

4%

2%

1%
0%

2%

1 8 - 2 4 3 0 - 3 4 4 0 - 4 4 5 0 - 5 4 6 0 - 6 4 7 0 - 7 4 8 0 - 8 4 P R E F E R  
N O T  T O  

S A Y

Q 40  - AG E PROFILE  OF RESPON DEN T S

0%
0%
0%

0%
0%

1%
1%
1%

1%
1%

1%
1%

2%
2%

3%

3%
4%

6%
13%

60%

W H I T E  - G Y P S Y  O R  I R I S H  T R A V E L L E R
A S I A N  - P A K I S T A N I

A S I A N  - B A N G L A D E S H I
B L A C K  - O T H E R

M I X E D  - W H I T E  &  B L A C K  A F R I C A N
A S I A N  - B R I T I S H

A S I A N  - O T H E R

M I X E D  - W H I T E  A N D  A S I A N
A S I A N  - C H I N E S E

M I X E D  - W H I T E  &  B L A C K  C A R I B B E A N
A S I A N  - I N D I A N

M I X E D  - O T H E R
B L A C K  - A F R I C A N

O T H E R  

W H I T E  - I R I S H
B L A C K  - C A R I B B E A N

B L A C K  - B R I T I S H
P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

W H I T E  - O T H E R
W H I T E  - B R I T I S H

Q 43  - WHAT IS  YOUR ETHNICITY?

Page 71



22 

 

Of those 2,066 that responded to the question of their first language being English, 86% 
were affirmative, while 11% did not, and 3% preferred not to say. 
 

 
 
 
The vast majority of the 2,066 respondents did not identify as using sign language, with 96% 
confirming as such, and 4% preferred not to say. It’s worth noting that nearly a half of the 
participants of the survey did not answer the question, however there was a sufficient 
number of respondents to be considered.  
 

 
 
 
Within the surveyed population, 77% of the 2,854 responses defined their sexual orientation 
as being straight or heterosexual, 5% as gay or lesbian and 2% as bisexual. Of these, 15% 
preferred not to say. 
 

8
6

%

1
1

%

3
%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 51/A - IS  ENGLISH YOUR F IRST  LANGUAGE?
0

%

0
% 0
%

9
6

%

4
%

Y E S ,  B S L Y E S ,  
D E A F B L I N D  

M A N U A L

Y E S ,  B U T  
N E I T H E R  B S L  

O R  D E A F B L I N D  
M A N U A L

N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  
S A Y

Q 51/B  - DO YOU USE  SIGN LANGUAGE AS YOUR 
F IRST  LANGUAGE?

Page 72



23 

 

 
 
 
On religious beliefs, 46% of the 2,806 respondents to the question identified as having no 
religion, followed by 34% Christians, 2% Muslim and 1% each for Buddhist and Jewish. Of 
the respondents, 13% preferred not to say and 3% identified as having another religious 
belief. 
 

 
 
 
In terms of the income profile of those surveyed, of the 3,567 participants that responded 
show that 46% of the sample are employed full time, and 13% part-time.  
 

1%

2%

5%

15%

77%

O T H E R  

B I S E X U A L

G A Y  O R  L E S B I A N

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

S T R A I G H T  O R  H E T E R O S E X U A L

Q 45  - HOW WOULD YOU DEFINE YOUR SEXUAL 
ORIENTATION?

0%

1%

1%

1%

2%

3%

13%

34%

46%

S I K H

H I N D U

J E W I S H

B U D D H I S T

M U S L I M

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

C H R I S T I A N

N O N E

Q 47  - WHAT IS  YOUR REL IGIOUS BEL IEF?

Page 73



24 

 

 
 
 
Question 1 of the questionnaire sought to identify those respondents that lived in the 
Borough, and who were visitors. The majority of the 4,321 responses, 82% identified as 
residents – split between 43% with a parking permit and 39% without. This is consistent with 
the statistic used in the consultation that 47% of households in the borough do not have a 
car. Following this, 10% identifies as regular visitors, 4% as occasional visitors, and 1% were 
business owners or employees working within the Borough. This question also gave 
respondents to give multiple ways to identify themselves, hence the reason for the higher 
number of responses than participants.  
 

 
 
 

0%

1%

1%

1%

2%

2%

3%

7%

7%

8%

9%

13%

46%

J O B  S E E K E R ' S

F A M I L Y  S U P P O R T

S T U D E N T  L O A N S

U N I V E R S A L  C R E D I T

H O U S I N G  B E N E F I T

D I S A B I L I T Y  B E N E F I T S

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

S A V I N G S / I N V E S T M E N T S

S T A T E  P E N S I O N

E M P L O Y E R  P E N S I O N

P A R T  T I M E

F U L L  T I M E

Q 50  - WHAT SOURCES OF INCOME DO YOU RECEIVE?

0%

1%

1%

3%

3%

4%

6%

39%

43%

R E P R E S E N T A T I V E  O F  A  P A R T N E R  
A G E N C Y  O R  S T A K E H O L D E R  G R O U P

O C C A S I O N A L  V I S I T O R  – W O R K

B U S I N E S S  O W N E R / E M P L O Y E E  I N  
L E W I S H A M

O T H E R

O C C A S I O N A L  V I S I T O R  –
L E I S U R E / S H O P P I N G

R E G U L A R  V I S I T O R  – W O R K

R E G U L A R  V I S I T O R  – L E I S U R E /  
S H O P P I N G

R E S I D E N T ,  N O  P E R M I T

R E S I D E N T  W I T H  P E R M I T

Q 1  - WHICH BEST  DESCRIBES YOU?

Page 74



25 

 

In terms of the living arrangements of the participants in the survey, 48% of the respondents 
had a mortgage and 21% owned their housing without a mortgage. Of those that rented, 
12% were private renters and 10% through social housing, while 2% were staying for free 
with friends/family. 
 

 
 
 
Question 2 of the survey asked participants if they had a car, and the bulk of the 
respondents have petrol vehicles, with a 54% share of the survey. Diesel vehicles are 
second, with 23% of respondents. Hybrid and electric vehicle owners made up 4% of the 
respondents. 17% of respondents did not have a car. 
 

 
 
Of the 3,767 respondents, 5% of the sample population had a van, as identified in Question 
3 of the survey. Of these, 3% of total respondents had diesel vans (or 61% of those with a 
van were diesel), 1% being petrol, and 1% of respondents having hybrid or electric vans.  
 
Question 4 of the survey sought to identify the various modes of transport people used in the 
borough. Of the ways that people get around Lewisham, walking and public transport 

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

2%

7%

10%

12%

21%

48%

C A R E  F A C I L I T Y

N O  F I X E D  A D D R E S S

W I T H  F R I E N D S  F O R  F R E E

S U P P O R T E D  H O U S I N G

T E M P .  A C C O M M O D A T I O N

W I T H  F A M I L Y  F O R  F R E E

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

S O C I A L / H O U S I N G  A S S O C I A T I O N

P R I V A T E  R E N T E D

O W N E R  W I T H O U T  M O R T G A G E

O W N E R  W I T H  M O R T G A G E

Q 49  - WHAT TYPE  OF HOUSEHOLD DO YOU L IVE  
I N ?

1%

1%

3%

17%

23%

54%

E L E C T R I C

O T H E R

H Y B R I D

I  D O N ' T  H A V E  A  C A R

D I E S E L

P E T R O L

Q 2  - DO YOU HAVE A  CAR?

Page 75



26 

 

attracting 29% of responses each. 27% of responses used a car, and 9% got around by 
bike. There were 9,950 responses to the question of the modes of transport used, which 
gave respondents the option to select as many as applicable, hence the higher volume of 
responses than participants. 
 

  
 
 

0%

1%

1%

1%

2%

9%

27%

29%

29%

R E N T  C A R S

V A N

O T H E R

M O T O R B I K E

C A R  C L U B S

C Y C L E

C A R

W A L K

P U B L I C  T R A N S P O R T

Q 4  - HOW DO YOU GET  AROUND IN  LEWISHAM?

Page 76



1 

 

Appendix 2 - Consultation Summary – London Borough of 
Lewisham staff 
 
 

1. Introduction 
 
The Council is in the process of updating its parking policy, and as a part of that a 
consultation program was put in place for 7-weeks over summer 2019, seeking the staff’s 
views on the key elements of the policy that we are seeking to change, and that this report 
provides a summary of the consultation methodology, and the responses received as a 
result 
 
The consultation sought to get feedback on six proposals: 

1. To amend the pricing for parking permits to reflect vehicle emissions. 
2. Provide 10-hours visitor parking free to all households in the borough where they 

hold a parking permit 
3. Implement uniform Penalty Charges across the borough. 
4. Mandate enforcement of disabled parking bays (currently advisory based). 
5. Amend application criteria in assessing medical need in determining installation of a 

disabled bay. 
6. Create uniform pay & display parking prices for cash and cashless transactions, 

harmonising tariffs from a mix of £1.40 per hour for cash payment and £1.60 per hour 
for cashless payments, to a uniform £1.60 for all types of payment. 

 
 

2. Consultation Methodology 
 
Following the Mayor and Cabinet approval in March 2019, LBL conducted a consultation 
with the public on key changes to the parking policy.  
 
The staff consultation ran from 10 June 2019, to 26 July 2019 and was a comprehensive 
consultation exercise with all stakeholders regarding the proposed policy updates, including 
the impact on air quality and the Council’s approach to the proposed introduction of 
emissions based charging in the borough. 
 
The objective was to establish if there is support from the staff for the proposals outlined in 
this report. 
 
The consultation was available on-line in the council’s consultation pages of its website and 
was communicated widely. 
 
The survey covered 26 separate questions for the participants to answer and there were 128 
staff members that participated in the survey. 
 
 

3. Results 
 
Question 1 seeks to identify the modes of transport respondents used when getting around 
Lewisham: the most popular amongst the 168 responses is by car with 54%, followed by 
24% of respondents declaring to use public transport, then 13% walking, and 7% cycling. 
 

Page 77



2 

 

 
 
Question 2 is seeking to establish from the 128 respondents is, if you have a car, how is it 
powered: 55% drive a petrol vehicle, 28% drive a diesel. 5% drive a hybrid, and 12% don’t 
have a car. 
 

 
 
Question 3 endeavours to establish what percentage of the sample population has a van. 
The overwhelming majority of the 128 respondents is that they do not have a van with 94% 
confirming, and of those that do, 5% are petrol and 2% are diesel. 
 

0%

0%

0%

1%

2%

7%

13%

24%

54%

C A R  C L U B S

R E N T  C A R S

M O T O R B I K E

V A N

O T H E R

C Y C L E

W A L K

P U B L I C  T R A N S P O R T

D R I V E  A  C A R

Q 1  - HOW DO YOU COMMUTE TO WORK? 

0%

1%

5%

12%

28%

55%

E L E C T R I C

O T H E R

H Y B R I D

I  D O N ' T  H A V E  A  C A R

D I E S E L

P E T R O L

Q2 - IF  YOU HAVE A  CAR,  IS  IT

Page 78



3 

 

 
 
Question 4 of the survey tests the participants awareness of the effects of air pollution on 
health, and 97% of the 122 respondents confirmed their awareness, while 3% did not. 
 

 
 
Question 5 of the survey delves deeper into the cognition of the audience following Question 
4 to the contribution of car exhaust to local air quality and pollution, to which 98% of the 121 
respondents were aware, and 2% were unaware. 
 

5
%

2
%

0
%

0
%

9
4

%

0
%

P E T R O L D I E S E L H Y B R I D E L E C T R I C I  D O N ' T  
H A V E  A  V A N

O T H E R

Q 3  - DO YOU HAVE A  VAN?

9
7

%

3
%

Y E S N O

Q 4  - ARE YOU AWARE OF T HE EFFECT S OF A IR  
POLLUTION UPON YOUR HEALTH?

Page 79



4 

 

 
 
Question 6 of the survey had four sub-parts relating to the Council’s policies towards air 
quality and emissions and the scale to which the respondents agreed or disagreed. In the 
first part, the question is ‘do you agree with the Council’s policy of trying to improve air 
quality within the borough?’ garnering 76% agreement, with 43% strongly agreeing, and 34% 
somewhat agreeing. Those who disagreed were in the minority with a combined 11%, and 
those that neither agreed nor disagreed was 12%. 
 

 
 
When asked if they ‘agree that the council should encourage people to drive vehicles with 
lower emissions?’ 68% agreed with the notion, with 37% somewhat agreeing, while 18% 
disagreed, and 15% neither agreed nor disagreed. 
 

9
8

%

2
%

Y E S N O

Q 5  - ARE YOU AWARE THAT EXHAUST  FROM 
CARS CONTRIBUTE TO LOCAL  AIR  QUALITY  & 

POLLUTION?
4

2
%

3
4

%

1
2

%

7
%

4
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 6/A - DO YOU AGREE WITH THE COUNCIL ’S  
POLICY  OF TRYING TO IMPROVE AIR  QUALITY  

WITHIN THE BOROUGH

Page 80



5 

 

 
 
In the third part of the question, the sample population was asked their opinion as to whether 
the Council right to introduce lower rates for parking permits to vehicles with lower 
emissions, in order to help improve air quality? Opinion was divided with 45% of the 122 
respondents agreeing and 42% disagreeing. Furthermore, there was a relatively even split 
between those that strongly agreed/disagreed with 25% and 22% respectively. 

 
 
 
And in the fourth and final question of this group, opining on the Council’s right to charge for 
staff parking permits in the same way as for the employees of other businesses in the 
borough – 34% of the 122 respondents strongly disagreed, with the those not in favour 
constituting 52% of all those responding. Those agreeing with the statement amounted to 
32% of the sample population, and 16% were undecided. 
 

3
1

%

3
7

%

1
5

%

1
1

%

7
%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 6/B  - DO YOU AGREE THAT THE COUNCIL  
SHOULD ENCOURAGE PEOPLE  TO DRIVE  VEHICLES 

WITH LOWER EMISSIONS?
2

5
%

2
0

%

1
2

%

2
0

% 2
2

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 6/C  - IS  THE COUNCIL  R IGHT TO INTRODUCE 
LOWER RATES FOR PARKING PERMITS TO 

VEHICLES WITH LOWER EMISSIONS,  IN  ORDER TO 
HELP IMPROVE AIR  QUALITY?

Page 81



6 

 

 
 
 
Question 7 sought to understand whether the sample population were aware that diesels 
have been shown to be the greater pollutant between them and petrol powered vehicles, to 
which 83% of the 121 respondents were aware.  

 
 
Of the 122 respondents, 53% did not agree with a £50 diesel surcharge and 47% were for 
the suggestion. Taking note that in Question 2 that 55% drove a petrol car and 28% drove a 
diesel, this result is not consistent. 
 

2
0

%

1
2

% 1
6

% 1
7

%

3
4

%

S T R O N G L Y  
A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
A G R E E

N E I T H E R  A G R E E  
O R  D I S A G R E E

S O M E W H A T  
D I S A G R E E

S T R O N G L Y  
D I S A G R E E

Q 6/D - IS  THE COUNCIL  R IGHT TO CHARGE FOR 
STAFF PARKING PERMITS IN  THE SAME WAY AS 
FOR THE EMPLOYEES OF OTHER BUSINESSES IN  

THE BOROUGH?

8
3

%

1
7

%

Y E S N O

Q 7  - ARE YOU AWARE T HAT  DIESEL  VEHICLES 
HAVE BEEN SHOWN TO BE  MORE POLLUTING,  

AND MORE HARMFUL TO HEALTH,  THAN PETROL?

Page 82



7 

 

 
 
 
Question 9 asks respondents if they are aware that the ULEZ will be expanded in 2021 as 
far as the South Circular and therefor extending into the borough, 81% of the 121 
respondents were aware, and 19% were not. 

 
 
Question 15 looks age the age profile of the sample population, with 33% falling into the 50-
54 age bracket. Next highest was those in the 45-49 age group, and 11% for both those in 
the 35-39 and 55-59 age groups. 
 

4
7

%

5
3

%

Y E S N O

Q 8  - DO YOU AGREE WITH A  £50  SURCHARGE 
FOR DIESEL  VEHICLES?

8
1

%

1
9

%

Y E S N O

Q 9  - ARE YOU AWARE T HAT  T HE ULT RA LOW 
EMISSION ZONE BOUNDARY WILL  BE  EXTENDED 

TO LEWISHAM BY 2021?

Page 83



8 

 

 
 
Females made up nearly two-thirds of the 107 sample population with 68%, and 28% were 
males. The remaining 4% preferred not to say. 

 
 
The sample population’s gender identity had 93% remaining as assigned at birth, with 3% 
different and 4% of the 94 respondents preferring not to say. 
 

0
% 1

%

4
%

6
%

1
1

%

8
%

1
6

%

3
3

%

1
1

%

7
%

2
%

0
%

0
%

0
%

0
%

2
%

Q 15  - WHAT IS  YOUR AGE?

2
8

%

6
8

%

4
%

0
%

M A L E F E M A L E P R E F E R  N O T  T O  
S A Y

O T H E R

Q 16  - WHAT IS  YOUR SEX?

Page 84



9 

 

 
 
With regard to the ethnicity of the sample population, 65% of the 103 respondents classified 
as white British, with the next highest population being black British.  

 
 
With regards to pregnancy of maternity leave, only 1% of the 103 respondents is pregnant, 
with none being pregnant in the last six-months, 92% declared to be neither of those options, 
and 7% preferred not to say.  
 

3
%

9
3

%

4
%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 17  - IS  YOUR GENDER IDENTITY  DIFFERENT 
FROM THE GENDER YOU WERE ASSIGNED AT  

B IRTH?

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

1%

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

2%

3%

3%

4%

4%

5%

8%

65%

M I X E D  - W H I T E  &  B L A C K  A F R I C A N

M I X E D  - W H I T E  &  A S I A N

A S I A N  - P A K I S T A N I

A S I A N  - C H I N E S E

B L A C K  - O T H E R

O T H E R

W H I T E  - G Y P S Y  O R  I R I S H  T R A V E L L E R

M I X E D  - W H I T E  &  B L A C K  C A R I B B E A N

A S I A N  - B R I T I S H

A S I A N  - B A N G L A D E S H I

A S I A N  - O T H E R

W H I T E  - I R I S H

M I X E D  - O T H E R

W H I T E  - O T H E R

A S I A N  - I N D I A N

B L A C K  - A F R I C A N

B L A C K  - C A R I B B E A N

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

B L A C K  - B R I T I S H

W H I T E  - B R I T I S H

Q 18  - WHAT IS  YOUR ETHNICITY?

Page 85



10 

 

 
 
Regarding sexual orientation, 77% of the 103 respondents identify as being heterosexual, 
3% as gay/lesbian, 1% being bisexual and 18% preferring not to say. 

 
 
Question 21 has three sub-questions establishing the number of those with a disability and 
their needs. In the first question, 81% of the 25 sample did not consider themselves to be 
disabled, while 13% did. 
 

1
%

0
%

9
2

%

7
%

I  A M  C U R R E N T L Y  
P R E G N A N T

I  H A V E  B E E N  
P R E G N A N T  I N  T H E  
L A S T  S I X  M O N T H S

N O N E  O F  T H E  
A B O V E

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  
S A Y

Q 19  - ARE YOU PREGNANT OR ON MATERNITY 
LEAVE?

7
7

%

3
%

1
%

1
8

%

1
%

S T R A I G H T  O R  
H E T E R O S E X U A L

G A Y  O R  
L E S B I A N

B I S E X U A L P R E F E R  N O T  T O  
S A Y

O T H E R

Q 20  - HOW WOULD YOU DEFINE YOUR SEXUAL 
ORIENTATION?

Page 86



11 

 

 
 
Of the 16 respondents, 36% preferred not to describe their disability. 20% described their 
disability as being a mental health condition, and 16% had a longstanding illness. 8% of 
those responding would describe their disability as being mobility related 

 
 
The final part of Question 21 seeks to identify any access requirements of the 16 
respondents. 56% preferred not to say, and 31% selected other.  
 

1
3

%

8
1

%

6
%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 21/A - DO YOU CONSIDER YOURSELF  TO BE  A  
DISABLED PERSON?

4%

4%

8%

12%

16%

20%

36%

V I S U A L  O R  H E A R I N G  R E L A T E D

C O G N I T I V E  O R  L E A R N I N G  D I S A B I L I T Y

P H Y S I C A L  O R  M O B I L I T Y  R E L A T E D

O T H E R

L O N G S T A N D I N G  I L L N E S S  O R  H E A L T H  
C O N D I T I O N

M E N T A L  H E A L T H  C O N D I T I O N

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 21/B  - HOW WOULD YOU DESCRIBE  YOUR 
DISABIL ITY?

Page 87



12 

 

 
 
 
Respondents were asked to nominate the sources of income that they receive. Given that 
it’s a staff survey, 78% of the population said their income was from full-time employment, 
and 8% as part-time employment. 

 
 
Question 23 is made up of three sub-questions in the field of carers. In the first question, the 
sample population were asked if they provide unpaid care for anyone, and while 69% of the 
98 respondents said that they do not, 20% did provide unpaid care. 
 

0%

0%

0%

0%

6%

6%

31%

56%

B S L / I N T E R P R E T E R

C H A P E R O N E / C A R E R  P R E S E N T

S T E P - F R E E  A C C E S S

W H E E L C H A I R  A C C E S S

E A S Y  R E A D

A C C E S S I B L E  T O I L E T S

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 21/C  - DO YOU HAVE ANY ACCESS 
REQUIREMENTS?

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

1%

1%

1%

3%

8%

8%

78%

S T U D E N T  L O A N S  A N D  G R A N T S

F A M I L Y  S U P P O R T

D I S A B I L I T Y - R E L A T E D  B E N E F I T S

J O B  S E E K E R ' S  A L L O W A N C E

U N I V E R S A L  C R E D I T

S A V I N G S  A N D  I N V E S T M E N T S

H O U S I N G  B E N E F I T

S T A T E  P E N S I O N

O T H E R  ( P L E A S E  D E S C R I B E  B E L O W )

E M P L O Y E R  P E N S I O N

P A R T  T I M E  J O B

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

F U L L  T I M E  J O B

Q 22  - WHAT SOURCES OF INCOME DO YOU CURRENTLY 
RECEIVE?

Page 88



13 

 

 
 
And of this 35 people that responded, 34% provide 0-5 hours per week, and 17% provided 
more than 21 hours per week, with 37% preferring not to say.  

 
 
In the final part of the question, when asked if they receive any support for the unpaid care 
they provide, only one received a Carers Allowance, and eight people received some other 
form of support. 
 

2
0

%

6
9

%

1
0

%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 23/A - DO YOU PROVIDE UNPAID CARE FOR 
ANYBODY?

3
4

%

3
%

6
%

3
%

1
7

%

3
7

%

0 - 5  H O U R S 6 - 1 0  H O U R S 1 1 - 1 5  
H O U R S

1 6 - 2 0  
H O U R S

2 1  H O U R S  
O R  M O R E

P R E F E R  N O T  
T O  S A Y

Q 23/B  - HOW MANY HOURS A  WEEK DO YOU 
PROVIDE UNPAID CARE?

Page 89



14 

 

 
 
 
Of the 100 respondents, 44% held Christian beliefs, while the other major religions of 
Buddhist, Muslim, Jewish and Hindu gathered 2% and less of the group. 30% had no 
religious beliefs and 17% preferred not to say. 

 
 
Of the 102 respondents, 50% of the group lived in a mortgaged property, and 15% rented 
privately. 12% owned their house mortgage free, and 10% lived in rented property through a 
housing association. 
 

1
1

%

0
%

8
9

%

C A R E R S  A L L O W A N C E D I R E C T  P A Y M E N T S O T H E R

Q 23/C  - DO YOU RECEIVE  ANY SUPPORT FOR THE 
UNPAID CARE YOU PROVIDE?

0%

1%

1%

1%

2%

4%

17%

30%

44%

S I K H

H I N D U

J E W I S H

M U S L I M

B U D D H I S T

O T H E R

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

N O N E

C H R I S T I A N

Q 24  - WHAT IS  YOUR REL IGIOUS BEL IEF?

Page 90



15 

 

 
 
Question 26 is in two-parts: your first language and if you use sign language. 93% of the 103 
sample population spoke English as a first language. And 95% of the 77 that answered did 
not use sign language as a first language. 

 
 

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

4%

10%

10%

12%

15%

50%

S T A Y I N G  W I T H  F R I E N D S  F O R  F R E E

T E M P O R A R Y  A C C O M M O D A T I O N

S U P P O R T E D  H O U S I N G

C A R E  F A C I L I T Y

N O  F I X E D  A D D R E S S

S T A Y I N G  W I T H  F A M I L Y  F O R  F R E E

R E N T  - H O U S I N G  A S S O C I A T I O N

P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

O W N  - W I T H O U T  M O R T G A G E

P R I V A T E L Y  R E N T E D

O W N  - W I T H  A  M O R T G A G E

Q 25  - WHAT TYPE  OF HOUSEHOLD DO YOU L IVE  IN?

9
3

%

3
% 4
%

Y E S N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  S A Y

Q 26/A - IS  ENGLISH YOUR F IRST  LANGUAGE?

Page 91



16 

 

 

0
%

0
%

0
%

9
5

%

5
%

Y E S ,  B S L Y E S ,  
D E A F B L I N D  

M A N U A L

Y E S ,  B U T  
N E I T H E R  B S L  

O R  D E A F B L I N D  
M A N U A L

N O P R E F E R  N O T  T O  
S A Y

Q 26/B  - DO YOU USE  SIGN LANGUAGE AS YOUR 
F IRST  LANGUAGE?

Page 92



Appendix 3 – parking permits issued in the London Borough of Lewisham 
 
Permit 
Type 

Description Price 

Resident 
Permits  
 

All applicants must be registered, and the resident address is 
within Lewisham controlled parking zones (CPZ). Applicants 
need to provide proof of address; council tax bill, a utility bill or 
a tenancy agreement.  
 

Residents’ permits are for 
12-months @ £120 p.a., 
or 3-months for £35. 
 

Resident 
Disabled 
Permit 

All applicants to provide proof as per Residents’ Permits, as 
well as a valid Blue Badge.  
 

Resident Disabled 
Permits are free of charge 
and valid for a year. 
 

Resident 
Low 
Emission 
 

All applications to provide proof as per Resident Permit 
applications, and are eligible if the vehicle’s carbon dioxide 
(co2) emissions are less than 110g/km. 

Resident Low Emission 
permits are £30 p.a. 
 

Resident 
Visitor 
Permit 
 

These can be bought by residents within the CPZ for visitors 
that do not have a required permit. The visitor permits can be a 
virtual permit issued through RingGo (online permit 
subcontractor) or a scratch card issued by the Council. 
 

There are a number of 
permits that can be 
purchased:  

 1 hour £1.40 

 5 hour £2.80 

 1 day £5.60 

 Weekly £20.00 
 

Business 
Permits 
 

Applications to be made on company letterhead proving that 
the business is in the Borough. Permit is available for the CPZ 
that the business is within. 

Business permits are 
priced at £255 for 6-
months £255, and £500 
p.a. 

Business 
Z Permits 
 

All applications to provide proof as per Business Permits, but 
entitle the permit holder to park in all CPZs within the Borough. 
 

Business Z permits are 

£750 p.a. 

 

Car Club All applications to provide proof as per Business Permits. 

There are a limited number of permits issued in the borough, 

and vehicles must park in designated club permit bays.  

 

Car Club permits are £500 
p.a. and payable by 
cheque 

Business 
Health 
Permits 
 

All applications to provide proof as per Business Permits, and 
are available to health care professionals that operate within 
the borough. Hospital administrators provide a pre-approved 
list from the hospital including names and the vehicle VRN.  
 

These are £200 p.a. and 
payable by cheque. 

Hospital 
Staff 

Hospital administrators send an approved list with staff details 

and permits are processed by the Parking Team. There are a 

maximum of 200 permits issued and are all day permits limited 

to Rushey Green CPZs, and Holbeach car park. 

Hospital Staff permits are 

available for 1 year @ 

£500, or 6 months @ 

£255, both payable by 

cheque. 

 

Staff Available to Lewisham Council staff and limited to Holbeach 
car park and Laurence House car park. 

Staff permits are valid for 
a year and paid from 
salary at the following 
grades:  

 5 days a week @ 
£500 p.a. 

 3 days a week @ 
£300 p.a. 

 2 days a week @ 
£200 p.a. 

Page 93



Permit 
Type 

Description Price 

Charity 
Business 

Vehicles must be registered to the charity where the address is 
the head office of a nationally registered charity who are in 
receipt of a Lewisham Council grant. Limited to the CPZ where 
the charity is operational. 
 

Charity Business permits 
are £120 p.a. 

Market 
Trader 

Available to applicants who have a license to operate at 
Lewisham, Deptford or Catford Market which is granted by the 
Lewisham Market Trading Department. 

Pricing for Deptford 

Market is 6-months @ 

£125, or £250 p.a. 

Lewisham Market is free 

per annum. 

 

Councillor These are free of charge and issued to Councillors, and 
members can access the Holbeach car park and the Laurence 
House car park for free. Councillors can apply for an all zone 
permit at £500. 

Holbeach car park and 
Laurence House car park 
1 year FREE, and 
Borough Wide Z permit is 
£750 p.a. discounted to 
£500 p.a. 
 

Lawn 
Bowls 

These are limited to eight permits per club in the Borough. 
Permits are limited to the Catford Station CPZ. 

Lawn Bowls permits are 

£30 for 6 months and 

payable by cheque. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



Appendix 4 – Recommended New Parking Charges 
Projected price plans and income modelling  

 

Contents 
1. Recommended Emissions-Based Bands .................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Introduction of New Permit Fees .............................................................................................................................. 2 

3. Recommended Permit Pricing .................................................................................................................................. 3 

Resident Permits ........................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Business Permits ........................................................................................................................................................... 4 

Business All Zones Permits ............................................................................................................................................ 5 

Business Hospital Permits ............................................................................................................................................. 5 

Health Permits .............................................................................................................................................................. 6 

Business Staff Permits ................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Hospital Health Permits ................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Visitor Permits ............................................................................................................................................................... 9 

4. Income Projection ................................................................................................................................................... 10 

5. Impact of the introduction of the ULEZ in 2021 ..................................................................................................... 14 

6. Pay and Display Review ........................................................................................................................................... 15 

 

 

 

 

Page 95



2 

1. Recommended Emissions-Based Bands 
The following bands reflect HMRC banding of cars (i.e. the bandings that are used to determine tax rates).  

 

Emissions Based 
Band 

Pre-2001 
(engine size, cc) 

Post-2001 
(emissions, CO2g/km) 

Example vehicle in band 

1 0-1300 0 Electric Vehicles 

2 1301-1400 101-110 VW Golf Hatchback 1.0L 

3 1401-1450 111-120 VW Passat 1.4L 

4 1451-1500 121-130 Nissan Quashqai 1.2L 

5 1501-1575 131-140 Audi A3 1.4L 

6 1576-1650 141-150 Ford Focus Titanium 2.0 TDCi 

7 1651-1750 151-165 Ford Mondeo 2.0L 

8 1751-1850 166-175 Peugeot 308 1.6L 

9 1851-1975 176-185 Range Rover Velar 2.0 

10 1976-2100 186-200 Alfa Romeo 147 1.6L 

11 2101-2500 201-225 Audi A8 3.0L 

12 2501-2750 226-255 Mercedes Benz C-Class 350 

13 2751+ 256+ Range Rover Sport 5.0 V8 Supercharged 

 

 Vehicles made prior to 2001 will be banded based on their engine size as per the details above; the DVLA does not hold information on the emissions of vehicles of this age.  

2. Introduction of New Permit Fees 
Applicant vehicles will be banded according to HMRC’s emissions banding, the cost of all permits will increase or decrease to the full new price from the date the emissions-based 

permits are introduced and implemented at the next renewal or application. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 96



3 

3. Recommended Permit Pricing 
The tables below outline the final cost of each type of permit, along with the percentage and number of vehicles that will be affected. 
 

Resident Permits 

 

The current price of a 12-month Resident Permit is £120. 

 There is no additional charge for 3-month and 6-month resident permits, which will be charged on a pro rata basis. 

 The price scale has been based on a 20 percent increase of Band 6 over the current permit price, with a £15 adjustment +/- of the bands on a linear basis. 

 Diesel vehicles will also be subject to a £50 diesel surcharge across the bands, this is pro rata adjusted for 3 and 6 month permits. 

 Disabled permits will remain free. 

 There will be an administration charge of £15 for all refunds. 
 

  

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price 

(3 months)

Permit Price 

(6 months)

Permit Price 

(12 months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price 

(3 months)

Permit Price 

(6 months)

Permit Price 

(12 months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 717 6% £18.00 £35.00 £70.00 534 7% £30.00 £60.00 £120.00 183 5%

2 800 7% £22.00 £42.50 £85.00 509 7% £34.00 £67.00 £135.00 291 8%

3 1005 9% £25.00 £50.00 £100.00 573 7% £37.00 £75.00 £150.00 432 11%

4 933 8% £29.00 £57.50 £115.00 634 8% £41.00 £82.00 £165.00 299 8%

5 1320 11% £33.00 £65.00 £130.00 809 10% £45.00 £90.00 £180.00 511 13%

6 1281 11% £37.00 £72.50 £145.00 947 12% £49.00 £97.00 £195.00 334 9%

7 1495 13% £40.00 £80.00 £160.00 1047 14% £52.00 £105.00 £210.00 448 12%

8 742 6% £44.00 £87.50 £175.00 573 7% £56.00 £112.00 £225.00 169 4%

9 635 6% £48.00 £95.00 £190.00 408 5% £60.00 £120.00 £240.00 227 6%

10 847 7% £52.00 £102.50 £205.00 606 8% £64.00 £127.00 £255.00 241 6%

11 724 6% £55.00 £110.00 £220.00 411 5% £67.00 £135.00 £270.00 313 8%

12 557 5% £59.00 £117.50 £235.00 364 5% £71.00 £142.00 £285.00 193 5%

13 485 4% £63.00 £125.00 £250.00 332 4% £75.00 £150.00 £300.00 153 4%

11541 7747 3794

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 97



4 

Business Permits 

 

The current price of a Business permit is £500. 

 Revised pricing scale is based on a 20 percent increase on the current Business permit price at Band 6, then adjusted by £50 +/- linearly. 

 The £50 diesel surcharge is applied on top of the revised permit price, this is pro rata adjusted for 6 month permits. 

 Business permits will be sold for Lewisham Council car parks only on a monthly pro-rata rate as per the costs above. 

  

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price (6 

months)

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price 

(6 months)

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 52 8% £210.00 £350.00 32 8% £235.00 £400.00 20 8%

2 60 9% £240.00 £400.00 32 8% £265.00 £450.00 28 11%

3 80 12% £270.00 £450.00 47 12% £295.00 £500.00 33 13%

4 73 11% £300.00 £500.00 58 14% £325.00 £550.00 15 6%

5 83 13% £330.00 £550.00 44 11% £355.00 £600.00 39 16%

6 68 10% £360.00 £600.00 46 11% £385.00 £650.00 22 9%

7 86 13% £390.00 £650.00 54 13% £415.00 £700.00 32 13%

8 39 6% £420.00 £700.00 29 7% £445.00 £750.00 10 4%

9 33 5% £450.00 £750.00 19 5% £475.00 £800.00 14 6%

10 25 4% £480.00 £800.00 13 3% £505.00 £850.00 12 5%

11 32 5% £510.00 £850.00 15 4% £535.00 £900.00 17 7%

12 15 2% £540.00 £900.00 9 2% £565.00 £950.00 6 2%

13 11 2% £570.00 £950.00 8 2% £595.00 £1,000.00 3 1%

657 406 251

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 98



5 

Business All Zones Permits 

 

The current price of a Business All Zone permit is £750. 

 Revised pricing scale is based on a 20 percent increase on the current Business Z permit price at Band 6, then adjusted by £50 +/- linearly. 

 The £50 diesel surcharge is applied.  

 

Business Hospital Permits 
The current policy is that Lewisham Hospital can purchase a limited number of permits for staff at the current business rate of £500 p.a. 

Recommended changes:  

 The permit will continue to replicate business permits at the new rate. 

 

  

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 46 11% £650.00 27 23% £700.00 19 7%

2 22 5% £700.00 17 15% £750.00 5 2%

3 31 8% £750.00 10 9% £800.00 21 7%

4 51 13% £800.00 11 9% £850.00 40 14%

5 27 7% £850.00 13 11% £900.00 14 5%

6 16 4% £900.00 9 8% £950.00 7 2%

7 52 13% £950.00 12 10% £1,000.00 40 14%

8 18 4% £1,000.00 3 3% £1,050.00 15 5%

9 47 12% £1,050.00 5 4% £1,100.00 42 15%

10 41 10% £1,100.00 5 4% £1,150.00 36 13%

11 45 11% £1,150.00 1 1% £1,200.00 44 15%

12 3 1% £1,200.00 0 0% £1,250.00 3 1%

13 4 1% £1,250.00 3 3% £1,300.00 1 0%

403 116 287

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 99



6 

Health Permits 

 

The current price of a Health permit is £200. 

 The revised pricing scale is based on a 27.5 percent reduction on the current Health permit price, then adjusted by £15 +/- linearly. 

 The £50 diesel surcharge is applied. 

 

Current policy: staff have to display the clock in the windscreen highlighting start time with maximum stay of 2 hours. 

Recommended change: staff will have to activate their parking duration on each visit via the app, maximum stay per location is 2 hours. 

 

 

 

 

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price 

(12 months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price 

(12 months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 28 9% £70.00 23 9% £120.00 5 9%

2 36 12% £85.00 31 12% £135.00 5 9%

3 38 12% £100.00 32 13% £150.00 6 10%

4 47 15% £115.00 39 16% £165.00 8 14%

5 57 18% £130.00 43 17% £180.00 14 24%

6 29 9% £145.00 23 9% £195.00 6 10%

7 35 11% £160.00 30 12% £210.00 5 9%

8 7 2% £175.00 7 3% £225.00 0 0%

9 10 3% £190.00 7 3% £240.00 3 5%

10 12 4% £205.00 10 4% £255.00 2 3%

11 2 1% £220.00 2 1% £270.00 0 0%

12 3 1% £235.00 2 1% £285.00 1 2%

13 5 2% £250.00 2 1% £300.00 3 5%

309 251 58

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 100



7 

Business Staff Permits 

 

The current price of the permit is £500. 

 Revised pricing scale is based on a 20 percent increase on the current Business permit price at Band 6, then adjusted by £50 +/- linearly. 

 The £50 diesel surcharge is applied. 

  

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 28 9% £350.00 20 9% £400.00 8 8%

2 32 10% £400.00 24 10% £450.00 8 8%

3 39 12% £450.00 22 9% £500.00 17 18%

4 40 12% £500.00 26 11% £550.00 14 15%

5 37 11% £550.00 27 12% £600.00 10 10%

6 30 9% £600.00 23 10% £650.00 7 7%

7 36 11% £650.00 26 11% £700.00 10 10%

8 21 6% £700.00 17 7% £750.00 4 4%

9 20 6% £750.00 15 6% £800.00 5 5%

10 20 6% £800.00 15 6% £850.00 5 5%

11 8 2% £850.00 4 2% £900.00 4 4%

12 5 2% £900.00 3 1% £950.00 2 2%

13 12 4% £950.00 10 4% £1,000.00 2 2%

# of vehicles 328 232 96

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 101



8 

Hospital Health Permits 
 

 

The current price of Hospital Health permits is £500. 

 Revised pricing scale is based on a 20 percent increase on the current Business permit price at Band 6, then adjusted by £50 +/- linearly. 

The £50 diesel surcharge is applied 

 

  

Hospital Health Current price £500

Emissions Based 

Band

# of vehicles in 

each band

% of total vehicles 

in each band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of petrol vehicles 

in band

% of all petrol 

vehicles in band

Permit Price (12 

months)

# of diesel vehicles 

in band

% of all diesel 

vehicles in band

1 18 5% £350.00 13 6% £400.00 5 5%

2 8 2% £400.00 5 2% £450.00 3 3%

3 16 5% £450.00 8 3% £500.00 8 8%

4 24 7% £500.00 16 7% £550.00 8 8%

5 16 5% £550.00 13 6% £600.00 3 3%

6 10 3% £600.00 8 3% £650.00 2 2%

7 14 4% £650.00 9 4% £700.00 5 5%

8 7 2% £700.00 4 2% £750.00 3 3%

9 2 1% £750.00 2 1% £800.00 0 0%

10 5 2% £800.00 2 1% £850.00 3 3%

11 5 2% £850.00 3 1% £900.00 2 2%

12 1 0% £900.00 0 0% £950.00 1 1%

13 0 0% £950.00 0 0% £1,000.00 0 0%

# of vehicles 126 83 43

Petrol Vehicles Diesel Vehicles

P
age 102



9 

Visitor Permits 
Current Visitor Permit pricing: 

 1hr = £1.40 on line or a book of 10 = £10.00 
 
Permits can be obtained via the library or by post sent recorded delivery at a cost of £1.67, with the rates as following: 

 5hr = £2.80 

 Daily = £5.60 

 Weekly = £20.00 
 
Our current policy is that upon application, a book of 10 one hour visitor parking permits will be provided free of charge to all households that currently have at least one paid 
annual resident parking permit. Also, upon application, a book of ten (1 hour) visitor parking permits will be provided free of charge to any residents in CPZs who are over 60, and in 
receipt of Council Tax support, and do not have another parking permit per annum. 
 
Recommended changes: 
 
The recommendation is to provide ten hours of visitor parking credit free of charge to all households that currently have at least one paid annual resident parking permit. This will 
be credited to their on-line account and can be used via their app (which will be provided as part of the new IT system) at their convenience. For visitors who have limited or no 
internet access, a book of vouchers can be sent on application. 
 

 Visitor permits will rise to £1.60 per hour 

 Book of 10 vouchers will be £16.00  

 5hr will be £3.20 

 Daily will be £6.40 

 Weekly will be £25.60 
 

 
 
There will be no change to the issuing of a book of ten (1 hour) visitor parking permits will be provided free of charge to any residents in CPZs who are over 60, and in receipt of 
Council Tax support, and do not have another parking permit per annum. 
 

Visitor Permit Pricing Change

Current Price Current Income # sold

Updated 

Price

% increase in 

price

Projected annual income 

on updated price

Var. current income & 

projected

Hourly 1.40£            6,170.64£                       4,408 1.60£            14.3% 7,052.16£                        881.52£                     

Book of 10 x 1hr 10.00£          12,612.00£                     1,261 16.00£          60.0% 20,179.20£                      7,567.20£                  

5-hours 2.80£            16,371.36£                     5,847 3.20£            14.3% 18,710.13£                      2,338.77£                  

Daily 5.60£            23,170.56£                     4,138 6.40£            14.3% 26,480.64£                      3,310.08£                  

Weekly 20.00£          10,816.80£                     541 25.60£          28.0% 13,845.50£                      3,028.70£                  

69,141.36£                     16,194 86,267.63£                      17,126.27£                

P
age 103



10 

4. Income Projection 
The below section outlines the projected income change that would follow from a move to emissions-based bandings at 

the above detailed prices; vehicle information from current permits is used for projection analysis. This analysis assumes 

that customers do not change their vehicles. Under the projection, a £50 per annum surcharge has been applied to all 

diesel vehicles in all Bands, on a pro rata basis for 3 and 6 month permits. 

Resident Permits 

 
 

Residents will receive 10 hours of free visitor parking credit with each residents’ permit which represents £115,410 of 

income that is not collected by Lewisham. 

 

 

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £63,990.00 717 6% £45,791.50 -£18,198.50

2 £72,600.00 800 7% £64,302.50 -£8,297.50

3 £89,820.00 1005 9% £94,050.00 £4,230.00

4 £83,160.00 933 8% £94,274.00 £11,114.00

5 £118,440.00 1320 11% £153,298.00 £34,858.00

6 £116,010.00 1281 11% £157,541.25 £41,531.25

7 £139,350.00 1495 13% £209,175.00 £69,825.00

8 £67,710.00 742 6% £107,342.50 £39,632.50

9 £57,930.00 635 6% £104,257.00 £46,327.00

10 £73,920.00 847 7% £141,322.50 £67,402.50

11 £65,100.00 724 6% £136,438.50 £71,338.50

12 £48,210.00 557 5% £107,582.50 £59,372.50

13 £42,900.00 485 4% £101,582.50 £58,682.50

Change in income generated from Emissions band: £331,752.25

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge: £146,065.50

Overall Change £477,817.75

Page 104



11 

Business Permits 

 
 

Business All Zones Permits 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £26,000.00 52 8% £19,200.00 -£6,800.00

2 £30,000.00 60 9% £25,400.00 -£4,600.00

3 £40,000.00 80 12% £37,650.00 -£2,350.00

4 £36,500.00 73 11% £37,250.00 £750.00

5 £41,500.00 83 13% £47,600.00 £6,100.00

6 £34,000.00 68 10% £41,900.00 £7,900.00

7 £43,000.00 86 13% £57,500.00 £14,500.00

8 £19,500.00 39 6% £27,800.00 £8,300.00

9 £16,500.00 33 5% £25,450.00 £8,950.00

10 £12,500.00 25 4% £20,600.00 £8,100.00

11 £16,000.00 32 5% £28,050.00 £12,050.00

12 £7,500.00 15 2% £13,800.00 £6,300.00

13 £5,500.00 11 2% £10,600.00 £5,100.00

Change in income generated from Emissions band: £51,750.00

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge: £12,550.00

Overall Change £64,300.00

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £34,500.00 46 11% £30,850.00 -£3,650.00

2 £16,500.00 22 5% £15,650.00 -£850.00

3 £23,250.00 31 8% £24,300.00 £1,050.00

4 £38,250.00 51 13% £42,800.00 £4,550.00

5 £20,250.00 27 7% £23,650.00 £3,400.00

6 £12,000.00 16 4% £14,750.00 £2,750.00

7 £39,000.00 52 13% £51,400.00 £12,400.00

8 £13,500.00 18 4% £18,750.00 £5,250.00

9 £35,250.00 47 12% £51,450.00 £16,200.00

10 £30,750.00 41 10% £46,900.00 £16,150.00

11 £33,750.00 45 11% £53,950.00 £20,200.00

12 £2,250.00 3 1% £3,750.00 £1,500.00

13 £3,000.00 4 1% £5,050.00 £2,050.00

Change in income generated from Emissions band: £66,650.00

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge: £14,350.00

Overall Change £81,000.00

Page 105



12 

Health Permits 

 

Business Staff Permits 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £5,600.00 28 9% £2,210.00 -£3,390.00

2 £7,200.00 36 12% £3,310.00 -£3,890.00

3 £7,600.00 38 12% £4,100.00 -£3,500.00

4 £9,400.00 47 15% £5,805.00 -£3,595.00

5 £11,400.00 57 18% £8,110.00 -£3,290.00

6 £5,800.00 29 9% £4,505.00 -£1,295.00

7 £7,000.00 35 11% £5,850.00 -£1,150.00

8 £1,400.00 7 2% £1,225.00 -£175.00

9 £2,000.00 10 3% £2,050.00 £50.00

10 £2,400.00 12 4% £2,560.00 £160.00

11 £400.00 2 1% £440.00 £40.00

12 £600.00 3 1% £755.00 £155.00

13 £1,000.00 5 2% £1,400.00 £400.00

-£22,380.00

£2,900.00

Overall Change -£19,480.00

Change in income generated from Emissions band:

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge:

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £14,000.00 28 9% £10,200.00 -£3,800.00

2 £16,000.00 32 10% £13,200.00 -£2,800.00

3 £19,500.00 39 12% £18,400.00 -£1,100.00

4 £20,000.00 40 12% £20,700.00 £700.00

5 £18,500.00 37 11% £20,850.00 £2,350.00

6 £15,000.00 30 9% £18,350.00 £3,350.00

7 £18,000.00 36 11% £23,900.00 £5,900.00

8 £10,500.00 21 6% £14,900.00 £4,400.00

9 £10,000.00 20 6% £15,250.00 £5,250.00

10 £10,000.00 20 6% £16,250.00 £6,250.00

11 £4,000.00 8 2% £7,000.00 £3,000.00

12 £2,500.00 5 2% £4,600.00 £2,100.00

13 £6,000.00 12 4% £11,500.00 £5,500.00

£26,300.00

£4,800.00

Overall Change £31,100.00

Change in income generated from Emissions band:

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge:

Page 106



13 

Hospital Health Permits 

 

 

 

Total Projected Income Change 

 

 

The total number of vehicles affected by the diesel surcharge as highlighted in this report is 4529. This does not take into 

account the number of diesel vehicles which meets Euro6 standards (or above) which as part of the recommendations to 

be exempt from the surcharge.  

 We have made the assumption that 50% of these vehicles will be impacted by the surcharge (2265). Given the 

implementation of ULEZ in October 2021 we anticipate that this figure will drop significantly before this date as it will not 

be finically viable to pay the daily charge of £12.  

Band

Current permit 

income from 

vehicles in band

# of vehicles to be 

charged in band

% of vehicles in 

band

Total projected 

permit income in 

Year 1

Projected change 

from current year 

to Year 1

1 £9,000.00 18 5% £6,550.00 -£2,450.00

2 £4,000.00 8 2% £3,350.00 -£650.00

3 £8,000.00 16 5% £7,600.00 -£400.00

4 £12,000.00 24 7% £12,400.00 £400.00

5 £8,000.00 16 5% £8,950.00 £950.00

6 £5,000.00 10 3% £6,100.00 £1,100.00

7 £7,000.00 14 4% £9,350.00 £2,350.00

8 £3,500.00 7 2% £5,050.00 £1,550.00

9 £1,000.00 2 1% £1,500.00 £500.00

10 £2,500.00 5 2% £4,150.00 £1,650.00

11 £2,500.00 5 2% £4,350.00 £1,850.00

12 £500.00 1 0% £950.00 £450.00

13 £0.00 0 0% £0.00 £0.00

£63,000.00 £70,300.00 £7,300.00

£5,150.00

£2,150.00

Overall Change £7,300.00

Change in income generated from Emissions band:

Change in income generated from diesel surcharge:

Page 107



14 

5. Impact of the introduction of the ULEZ in 2021 
The expansion of the Ultra Low Emissions Zone to include Lewisham in 2021 will likely lead to changes in customer vehicles over the coming years. The emissions bandings 

proposed in this document mirror the bands used by the government for vehicle tax, which are based on CO2 emissions. The ULEZ, however, uses Euro Standards which measure 

carbon monoxide, nitrogen oxides, hydrocarbons and particulate matter.  

Given these differences, it is not anticipated that changes to customer vehicles will significantly impact income from permits; for example, a customer may trade in a band 3 vehicle 

that is not ULEZ compliant for a band 9 vehicle that is ULEZ compliant, and vice versa. It cannot be assumed that a consumer trading a non-ULEZ compliant vehicle for a compliant 

one will get a vehicle in a lower, and therefore cheaper, emissions-based band, as the emissions banding proposed here and TfL ULEZ compliance measurements are not 

comparable; it therefore follows that we cannot assume changes to ULEZ-compliant vehicles in the coming years will increase the number of vehicles in lower bands, and 

therefore decrease the income received from permits.  

The table below indicates the estimated* numbers and % of vehicles that are/ are not ULEZ compliant in each of the proposed bands, indicating the spread of vehicles across the 

bands. There are proportionately more non-compliant vehicles in the higher bands within each type of permit, but it is not possible to accurately model in which bands customers’ 

new ULEZ-compliant vehicle would fall into to assess the impact upon income thoroughly. 

Summary of existing vehicle stock, measuring compliance against ULEZ 

  Resident Business Business All Zone Business Health Staff 

Emissions 
Based 
Band 

Post-2001 
(emissions, 
CO2g/km) 

# vehicles 
compliant 

# vehicles 
non-

compliant 
# vehicles 
compliant 

# vehicles 
non-

compliant 
# vehicles 
compliant 

# vehicles 
non-

compliant 
# vehicles 
compliant 

# vehicles 
non-

compliant 
# vehicles 
compliant 

# vehicles 
non-

compliant 

1 0 525 (67%) 303 (37%) 42 (81%) 10 (19%) 44 (96%) 2 (4%) 26 (93%) 2 (7%) 22 (79%) 6 (21%) 

2 101-110 608 (66%) 318 (34%) 50 (83%) 10 (17%) 19 (86%) 3 (14%) 34 (94%) 2 (6%) 28 (87%) 4 (13%) 

3 111-120 737 (64%) 420 (36%) 61 (76%) 19 (24%) 22 (71%) 9 (29%) 35 (92%) 3 (8%) 30 (77%) 9 (23%) 

4 121-130 768 (68%) 354 (32%) 64 (88%) 9 (12%) 49 (96%) 2 (4%) 44 (94%) 3 (6%) 31 (77%) 9 (23%) 

5 131-140 885 (60%) 596 (40%) 57 (69%) 26 (31%) 18 (67%) 9 (33%) 42 (70%) 15 (30%) 29 (78%) 8 (22%) 

6 141-150 769 (54%) 647 (46%) 45 (66%) 23 (34%) 10 (62%) 6 (38%) 22 (71%) 7 (29%) 24 (80%) 6 (20%) 

7 151-165 880 (55%) 721 (45%) 56 (65%) 30 (35%) 45 (87%) 7 (13%) 26 (74%) 9 (26%) 23 (43%) 13 (57%) 

8 166-175 418 (53%) 372 (47%) 27 (69%) 12 (31%) 10 (56%) 8 (44%) 6 (86%) 1 (14%) 11 (52%) 10 (48%) 

9 176-185 302 (46%) 350 (54%) 18 (55%) 15 (45%) 40 (85%) 7 (15%) 7 (70%) 3 (30%) 11 (55%) 9 (45%) 

10 186-200 401 (48%) 436 (52%) 15 (60%) 10 (40%) 24 (59%) 17 (41%) 9 (75%) 3 (25%) 10 (50%) 10 (50%) 

11 201-225 207 (33%) 415 (67%) 9 (33%) 23 (67%) 39 (87%) 6 (13%) 1 (50%) 1 (50%) 1 (12%) 7 (88%) 

12 226-255 100 (24%) 322 (76%) 6 (40%) 9 (60%) 2 (67%) 1 (33%) 2 (66%) 1 (33%) 1 (20%) 4 (80%) 

13 256+ 96 (24%) 307 (76%) 5 (45%) 6 (55%) 3 (75%) 1 (25%) 0 5 (100%) 4 (33%) 8 (67%) 
*Compliance figures shown here are an estimation based on fuel type and age of car. It is assumed that petrol vehicles manufactured prior to 2005 (Euro 5 Standard 

implementation date) and Diesel vehicles manufactured prior to 2015 (Euro 6 Standard implementation date) are not compliant, however it must be noted that some vehicles 

manufactured prior to these dates may be compliant. 

P
age 108



15 

6. Pay and Display Review 
Currently, the Council has 187 Pay & Display machines in the Borough. The machines are between 10 and 15 years old and 
many are beyond repair. The cost of replacing all the machines would be in the region of £750,000. One way to mitigate 
this cost as well as create efficiencies within the service is to further encourage customers to opt for the cashless payment 
service. Over the years, motorists have been migrating from cash to cashless payments, as highlighted in the chart below. 
The volume of cashless transactions in 2017/18 was 38% higher than the previous year.  

 

 
 

Current income from Pay and Display 

The total income received from Pay and Display in 2018/19 is projected to be: 

 £889,000 for cash transactions. 

 £1,492,000 for cashless transactions.  
 
It is proposed that a full review is undertaken to rationalise the number of Pay and Display machines in the Borough which 
will consider the following: 

 The number of machines located in a street 

 The usage of each machine 

 Cost analysis which will consider replacement of machines, cash collection and maintenance costs. 
 

 

Pay and Display Charges v Cashless Charges 

The Pay & Display hourly rate for parking is £1.40. Customers who chose to use the cashless payment system are charged 
an additional £0.20 per parking session; this is called a convenience fee and is charged by the service provider. Of this 
convenience fee, £0.08 is retained by the council, and £0.12 is paid to the cashless service provider (RingGo). 
 
Below is a summary of the projected annual income received from cash and cashless payments for the year 2018/19. 
 

Income Stream Amount 

Cashless Gross Parking Fee Income (£1.40ph) £1,518,000 
8p Gross Convenience Fee retained by Council £48,000 

12p Convenience Fee paid to RingGo £72,000 
VAT (Convenience Fee) £8,000 

VAT (Cashless Parking Fee, Off Street only) £66,000 
Cashless Net Income £1,492,000 

Cash Parking Fee Income £956,000 
VAT (Cash, Off Street only) £67,000 

Cash Net Income £889,000 
Total P&D Net Income £2,381,000 

 
 

0

10000

20000

30000

40000

50000

60000

Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Cashless Transactions

14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18

Page 109



16 

Recommended Adjustments to Charges & Impact on Income 

It is recommended that the following changes are made to parking fees: 
 

1. The convenience fee is removed from the cashless parking service, to further encourage the use of cashless 
transactions. 

2. The hourly rate for parking is raised to £2.00 for both cash and cashless transactions. This would generate in the 
region of £500k income per year however the aim is to reduce non-essential parking in the Borough which would 
reduce this sum.  

 

Page 110



Appendix 5 – Pay and display machines review 
 

Number of 
machines in 
Lewisham 

Number to be 
removed 

Number of 
machines 
remaining 

191 98 93 

 

Table 1: Locations of machines identified for removal by weekly income 

STREET NAME Weekly Income (£) 

ELVERSON ROAD - 

FERNBROOK ROAD - 

MANOR LANE TERRACE - 

QUENTIN ROAD - 

ST SWITHUN'S ROAD - 

WESTDOWN ROAD - 

BLACKHEATH RISE 0.13 

LONGHURST ROAD 0.16 

LEATHWELL ROAD 0.26 

STAPLEHURST ROAD 0.38 

LONGHURST ROAD 1.65 

WELLMEADOW ROAD 2.47 

DERMODY ROAD 3.08 

OAKCROFT ROAD 3.08 

ELMER ROAD 3.20 

RAVENSBOURNE PARK CRESCENT 3.63 

SANGLEY ROAD 3.76 

LALEHAM ROAD 4.36 

SLAITHWAITE ROAD 5.46 

HOLME LACY ROAD 5.63 

MANOR LANE 5.69 

BARMESTON ROAD 5.74 

SANGLEY ROAD 6.10 

DAVID’S ROAD 6.16 

LEAHURST ROAD 6.41 

LEAHURST ROAD 6.51 

MORLEY ROAD 6.90 

ELMER ROAD 7.85 

ROXLEY ROAD 7.87 

DERMODY ROAD 8.23 

PASCOE ROAD 8.51 

LENHAM ROAD 8.65 

CONINGTON ROAD 9.34 

LEE PARK 9.84 

DAVID’S ROAD 10.02 

LEATHWELL ROAD 10.11 Page 111



STREET NAME Weekly Income (£) 

SLAGROVE PLACE 10.24 

MARSALA ROAD 10.55 

BOURNVILLE ROAD 10.58 

DUNCRIEVIE ROAD 10.92 

ALGERNON ROAD 11.19 

CAMPSHILL ROAD 11.23 

COURTHILL ROAD 11.31 

PRINCES RISE 12.13 

THE GLEBE 12.20 

STAPLEHURST ROAD 12.93 

LAMPMEAD ROAD 13.90 

RAVENSBOURNE PARK 13.99 

ROSENTHAL ROAD 14.34 

TORRIDON ROAD 14.38 

FARLEY ROAD 14.57 

WALERAND ROAD 14.74 

SPRINGBANK ROAD 14.83 

BRIGHTFIELD ROAD 14.85 

MOUNT PLEASANT ROAD 15.16 

BROOKMILL ROAD 15.88 

ROXLEY ROAD 15.93 

GEORGE LANE 16.04 

NIGHTINGALE GROVE 16.33 

FORDYCE ROAD 17.16 

GEORGE LANE 17.47 

BOYNE ROAD 17.52 

SPRINGBANK ROAD 17.83 

ELIOT PLACE 18.20 

SPRINGBANK ROAD 18.31 

ELVERSON ROAD 18.59 

MORDEN HILL 19.17 

RYCULFF SQUARE 19.65 

THE GLEBE 19.68 

ELIOT VALE 19.83 

MOUNT PLEASANT ROAD 20.12 

MOUNT PLEASANT ROAD 20.49 

LALEHAM ROAD 21.10 

GRANVILLE PARK 21.25 

ROSENTHAL ROAD 21.31 

WISTERIA ROAD 21.84 

NIGHTINGALE GROVE 22.71 

ELMIRA STREET 22.75 

RINGSTEAD ROAD 22.96 

BERTRAND STREET 23.30 Page 112



STREET NAME Weekly Income (£) 

LEWISHAM HILL 23.56 

ST AUSTELL ROAD 23.56 

THORNFORD ROAD 23.66 

FARLEY ROAD 23.75 

LEE ROAD 24.04 

LIMES GROVE 24.06 

FELDAY ROAD 25.34 

COURTHILL ROAD 25.45 

BONFIELD ROAD 25.77 

WHITBURN ROAD 25.80 

DARTMOUTH GROVE 26.09 

BEACON ROAD 26.59 

BLESSINGTON ROAD 27.38 

OLD ROAD 27.53 

ALGERNON ROAD 28.97 

BLESSINGTON ROAD 29.41 

DOGGETT ROAD 29.73 

DOGGETT ROAD 29.88 

 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Appendix 6 – Disabled Parking Bays – proposed criteria for application 

 
 
Disabled Parking Bays are designated parking spaces on the public highway, which allow Blue 
Badge holders to park close to residential properties and key destinations.  
 
Lewisham Council only offer ‘formal’ disabled parking bays, which carry a Traffic Management Order 
and are therefore legally enforceable. Advisory bays (bays without sign and post), which do not carry 
a Traffic Management Order, are no longer offered due to changes in the Traffic Signs Regulations 
and General Directions 2016. These bays are being phased out with qualifying residents able to 
apply for a formal bay at any time.  
 
Qualifying residents are entitled to apply for a disabled parking bay to be installed near to their 
property, subject to meeting both the medical and highway criteria outlined below. Not all 
applications will be successful, and Lewisham Council will not approve more than one application 
per formal address for a disabled parking bay.  
 
If a disabled parking bay is approved and installed, the bay may be utilised by all blue badge holders, 
and are not for the sole use of the resident for which the bay was implemented.   
 
Approved disabled parking bays would be require a Traffic Management Order installed in batches 
in order to reduce the cost borne by the council and the applicant, so it may take several months for 
a disabled parking bay to be installed.  
 
 
Medical Criteria 
 
1. To qualify for a formal disabled parking bay, applicants must be in receipt of either:  

a) Disability Living Allowance (DLA) Higher Rate Mobility OR; 
b) Personal Independence Payment (PIP) mobility component with 10 points or more for 

‘moving around’ OR;  
c) receives the mobility component of PIP and has obtained 10 points specifically for Descriptor 

E under the “planning and following journeys” activity, on the grounds that they are unable to 
undertake any journey because it would cause them overwhelming psychological distress 

d) Attendance Allowance Higher Rate; OR 
e) Assessment by a council approved assessor certifying that they meet equivalent criteria to 

the above.  
 
2. Applicants must hold a valid blue badge.  
 
3. The blue-badge holder does not have to be the driver of a vehicle, but any driver (if not the 

applicant) must live at the same address as the blue badge holder. 
 
4. Parents/carers of children under the age of three, would not be entitled to apply for a formal 

disabled parking bay for the use of that child unless that child is always accompanied by bulky 
medical equipment which cannot be carried around without great difficulty and/or need to kept 
near a vehicle at all times. Applications of this nature will be assessed on a case by case basis 
depending on the circumstance of the applicant.  

 
 
  

Page 115



 

Highway Criteria 
 
1. Disabled parking bays are considered on a case by case basis, but they will not be installed in 

locations where the bay:  
a) Compromises safety;  
b) Restricts traffic flow;  
c) Blocks access;  
d) Would be situated more than 50 metres from the property front door;  
e) Would replace existing waiting and loading restrictions;  
f) Would be positioned on a red route.  

 
2. The closest available parking space to the applicant’s front door will be the only location that is 

considered for the installation of any bay.  
 
Highway conditions will be assessed by an Engineer from Lewisham Council by means of a site 
visit.  
 
Off-Street Parking 
 
Disabled parking bays will not be authorised if the applicant has access to an adequate off-street 
parking facility such as a garage or a driveway/hardstanding. Please see notes below. Any adequate 
off-street parking facility available to a household shall be prioritised to the disabled user, and not to 
other non-disabled vehicle users from within the same household/building.  
 
Existing Garage  
 
Garages will be deemed adequate off-street parking facilities if:  

 The internal dimensions of the garage are a minimum of 5.0 metres deep and 2.7 metres 
wide; 

 The passage from the garage to the property is suitable for disabled access; 

 There is a vehicular crossover serving the garage (dropped kerb).  
 
Where internal dimensions are provided, but are obstructed by the storage of household goods or 
similar, it is the responsibility of the resident to remove the items to provide adequate parking space.  
 
If reasonable alterations can be made within the boundary of the property to improve access to a 
garage, then this will also be the responsibility of the resident and the DPB application will be 
refused. 
 
Where there is a garage that meets the above criteria, but there is no vehicular crossover (dropped 
kerb) serving that garage, applicants will be expected to apply for a vehicular crossover to park their 
vehicle off-street, and a Disabled Parking Bay application would be refused.  
 
Where there is a garage that meets the above criteria, and the blue badge holder requires a specially 
adapted vehicle that cannot fit within the space, then the application for a disabled parking bay may 
still be approved, but will be assessed on a case by case basis.  
Curtilage Parking Space (Driveway/Hardstanding)  
 
Curtilage parking spaces will be deemed adequate off-street parking facilities if:  

 There is a vehicular crossover (dropped kerb) serving the space; 

 The dimensions of the space are a minimum of 4.8 metres deep and 2.7 metres wide (or a 
minimum of 2 metres wide if the vehicle door on one side can be fully opened); 

 The gradient of the space does not exceed 5% (1 in 20) 
 

Page 116



 

Where the minimum dimensions for a curtilage parking space can be achieved through reasonable 
alterations on the applicant’s property, then the applicant is expected to make these alterations and 
an on-street Disabled Parking Bay application will be refused.  
 
If reasonable alterations can be made within the boundary of the property to improve access to the 
curtilage parking space, then this will also be the responsibility of the resident and the DPB 
application will be refused.  
 
Where there is a curtilage parking space that meets the above criteria, but there is no vehicular 
crossover (dropped kerb) serving that space, applicants will be expected to apply for a vehicular 
crossover to park their vehicle off-street, and a Disabled Parking Bay application would be refused.  
 
Where there is an off-street parking space that meets the above criteria, and the blue badge holder 
requires a specially adapted vehicle that cannot fit within the space, then the application for a 
disabled parking bay may still be approved, but will be assessed on a case by case basis. 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Appendix 8 -  Minor Parking Projects programme appraisal  

 
The Council receives a number of requests for the implementation of new waiting and loading 
restrictions or other small changes to parking provision. The majority of these requests are for 
yellow line restrictions at junctions and bends to ease access and/or improve road safety.  
 
The majority of the cost of introducing such restrictions is associated with consultation on and 
changes to the Traffic Management Order (TMO). To make the process more cost efficient 
requests are evaluated and, if approved, batched together into a single TMO.  
 
The criteria under which requests are assessed and prioritised are provided below: 
 

Public/Cllr Requests (Weight Factor 2) 

0 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes that have generated no public or councillor 

correspondence.  

1 Point Will be awarded to proposed schemes where one member of the public has 

requested changes.  

2 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes where two or more members of the public 

have requested changes. 

3 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes where ten or more members of the public 

have requested changes, either through a petition or numerous requests.  

 

Road Safety (Weight Factor 3) 

0 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes where there has not been a Personal Injury 

Collision (PIC) relating to the parking issue within the last available 5 years of 

police data. 

1 Point Will be awarded to proposed schemes where there has been one Personal Injury 

Collision (PIC) at a slight severity relating to the parking issue within the last 

available 5 years of police data. 

2 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes where there has been more than one 

Personal Injury Collision (PIC) at a slight severity relating to the parking issue 

within the last available 5 years of police data OR one PIC at a serious severity 

relating to a parking issue within the last available 5 years of police data.  

3 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes where there has been either; more than 

five Personal Injury Collisions (PICs) at a slight severity relating to the parking 

issue within the last available 5 years of police data OR more than one PIC at a 

serious severity relating to the parking issue within the last available 5 years of 

police data OR at least one PIC at a fatal severity relating to a parking issue within 

the last available 5 years of police data.  

 
  

Page 119



 

 

Technical Need (Weight Factor 2) 

0 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where the existing Traffic 

Management Order (TMO) is correct and sufficient in terms of enforcement.  

1 Point Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where the existing Traffic 

Management Order (TMO) requires a minor alteration to improve validity. 

2 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where the existing Traffic 

Management Order (TMO) requires a substantial change to improve validity. 

5 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where a substantial change 

to the TMO is required to improve the validity of the TMO, and where PCNs 

have been issued and successfully challenged. 

 

Supporting Local Business (Weight Factor 1) 

0 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes that have no positive effect on available 

parking facilities for local businesses. 

1 Point Will be awarded to proposed schemes that may indirectly improve the parking 

amenities for local businesses. 

2 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes that directly improve the amenities for 

one local business. 

3 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes that directly improve the amenities for a 

number of local businesses. 

 

Traffic Flow and Access (Weight Factor 3) 

0 Points Will be awarded to schemes in locations where there is currently either; not a 

traffic flow or access issue OR the issue is reported gaining access from a 

singular driveway. 

1 Point Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where parked vehicles 

currently cause difficulties for access and traffic flow on occasions or on 

specific times/days of the week. 

2 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where parked vehicles 

currently cause regular difficulties for access and traffic flow. 

3 Points Will be awarded to proposed schemes in locations where parked vehicles 

currently cause regular difficulties for access and traffic flow, and emergency 

vehicles (2.55m wide) cannot access all areas of the carriageway. 

 

Page 120



 

Appendix 8 – DRAFT Consultation and implementation process for CPZs 
 

TABLE 1 – Consultation and implementation process 

 Establishing the programme Consultation  Implementation 

Step 1 – Criteria to 
prioritise areas 
 

2 – Financing the 
programme and 
Annual Report 
 

3 – Local 
engagement 
 

4 – Public 
consultation  
 

5 – Analysis and 
decision 

6 – Publication 
of results and 
decision 
 

7 – Record of 
decision 

8 – Statutory 
consultation 
(Permanent 
TMO) 
 

9 – 
Implementation 
 

10 – Review 
 

K
e
y

 e
le

m
e

n
ts

 o
f 

th
e
 s

ta
g

e
 

 

STAGE 1 – 
Assessment of 
public support 
Highlight potential 
CPZ areas from 
borough-wide 
consultation data 
and other requests 
received. Create a 
shortlist of CPZ 
study areas based 
on assessment of 
the volume and 
location of requests 
using criteria in 
Table 2,  
 
STAGE 2 - 
Prioritisation 
From the shortlist, 
use the criteria in 
Table 2 to identify a 
priority for the CPZ 
consultation 
programme. 
 

Calculate the cost 
of consulting and 
implementing 
each of the 
highest priority 
CPZs.  
 
Agree outcome of 
‘Steps 1-2’ with 
Executive 
Director, when 
new additions or 
changes to the 
programme are 
proposed. Include 
update within the 
annual report 
which shows the 
parking control 
account for the 
previous year and 
schedule of 
consultations for 
the coming year 
 

Meet with Ward 
Councillors and 
other local 
community 
groups to 
discuss the 
parking issues 
and attractors in 
the area, and 
agree the 
boundary for 
consultation and 
the consultation 
process 
envisaged as 
part of ‘Step 4’. 
 
 

Consult 
residents in the 
consultation 
area on the 
available 
options. There 
could be a 
number of 
stages in this 
process, 
depending on 
the complexity 
of the CPZ.  
 
Provide drop-in 
events and 
consult Local 
Assemblies and 
TRAs allowing 
time to raise 
issues at their 
meetings if 
necessary.  
 
 

Analyse results 
of consultation. 
 
Discuss results 
with Ward 
Councillors and 
agree on 
whether to 
proceed with the 
CPZ. 
 
 

Publish the 
results on the 
Council 
consultation 
portal, 
identifying 
favoured 
options for the 
design and 
timings of the 
zone should it 
be implemented 
 

Review any 
objections 
received at 
statutory 
consultation 
stage and 
amend design if 
necessary.  
 
Report on 
consultation 
result and seek  
formal approval 
to proceed to 
implementation. 

Conduct 
statutory 
consultation on 
the approved 
design with 
groups such as 
the Police and 
public transport 
operators etc.  
 
Where 
appropriate, this 
part of the 
process may be 
varied to use the 
Experimental 
TMO process 
where a CPZ is 
being introduced 
alongside other 
measures. 
 

Implement the 
zone, and 
install all 
associated road 
markings and 
signs.  
 
Notify residents 
of the CPZ 
start-date by 
letter.  
 

Six months 
following 
implementation, 
review the 
effectiveness of 
the CPZ and 
apply any 
requested 
alterations to 
further improve 
the function of 
the CPZ. 

R
e
s

p
o

n
s

ib
il

it
y
 

 

Transport Policy 
and Development 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development, 
Finance, Parking 
Services, 
Executive 
Director. 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development, 
Local Assembly 
groups, Ward 
Councillors 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development , 
Comms Team 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development, 
Ward 
Councillors 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development, 
Comms Team 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development. 
Service Group 
Manager 
Highways & 
Transport. 
 

Transport Policy 
and 
Development, 
TMO Consultant  
 

Transport 
Policy and 
Development,, 
Highways 
contractor, 
Parking 
Services  

Transport 
Policy and 
Development  

Timescales 
(indicative) 

Annual process Up to 6 months 2 months 2 months Varies 

 P
age 121



 

 

DRAFT  CPZ programme appraisal 
 
Assessment and prioritisation – methodology   

 
As detailed in ‘Step 1’ of Table 1 above, potential projects will be assessed in two different stages:  
 
Stage 1  
 
All areas are assessed and ranked by the number of public requests for each proposed CPZ consultation 
area, as set out in Table 2. This would include evidence from the latest available borough-wide survey and 
also include requests made by members of the public including individual request and petitions from local 
residents and business owners. Requests received from community bodies such as local assemblies, ward 
councillors, and resident associations would also be considered. The consultation areas that score the 
highest will be subject to the second stage. The number of areas that are taken to the second stage will be 
dependent on the volume of responses received and the resources available to progress the areas through 
subsequent steps in the process outlined in Table 1.  
 
Stage 2 
 
The highest ranking projects from stage 1 will then be prioritised, based on a comparative assessment of 
the strength of the evidence. The criteria set out in Table 2 will be used to determine this. This second 
methodology is designed to prioritise areas with specific circumstances and will present a clear and 
pragmatic framework to facilitate the prioritisation process.  
 
Urgent implementation 

 
Where new or amended CPZs are required urgently in response to extraordinary or acute issues around 
safety or access, the CPZ programme may be amended in consultation with the Executive Director of 
Resources and Regeneration. 
 
Safeguarding against predicted changes to parking stress 

 
Where significant parking problems are predicted as a result of significant levels of development, or 
transport projects, a presentation of evidence and specific solutions will be considered on a case by case 
basis, to be approved by Mayor and Cabinet. This may include consultation with residents to influence the 
design of the CPZ, but not on whether a zone will be implemented. 
 
TABLE 2 – DRAFT CPZ programme appraisal 

Category Criteria Description 

Stage 1 

Borough-wide 
survey results 

Requests made via our borough-wide CPZ consultation 

Public 
requests  

Requests for a CPZ made via email, letter, comments box system (online) 

Stakeholder 
representation 

Requests for CPZs via petitions, from ward members, local assemblies, residents associations, 
and community organisations etc. 

Stage 2 

Review or 
Extension of 
recent CPZ 

Reports / Evidence of overspill or safety issues resulting from a previously implemented CPZ 
suggesting the need for a review / extension of control 

Upcoming 
new 
developments 

Upcoming new developments, e.g. car-free developments that may have an impact on parking 
demand in the local area 

Healthy 
Streets 

Evidence that the scheme would help contribute to the Healthy Street approach, including 
collision data, alignment with the Healthy Neighbourhoods programme and other associated 
benefits. 

Changes to 
the transport 
network  

Introduction or changes to local transport hubs or schemes that are anticipated to have an impact 
on the local parking situation, for example the Ultra Low Emission Zone being extended by TfL to 
the A205 South Circular Road late in 2021. 

Technical 
data 

Data from technical surveys, such as parking stress surveys. 

 

Page 122



 

 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Cycling update 

Contributors 
Alex Crush, Transport Policy & Development Manager 

Josh Learner, Walking and Cycling Programme Manager 
Item 5 

Class Part 1 (open) 4 December 2019 

 
1. Summary 

1.1. This Committee report provides an overview of the Council’s commitment to cycling 
highlighted in the Lewisham Corporate Strategy 2018-22 (see background 
documents) and the 2017 Lewisham Cycling Strategy (see background documents). 
The report seeks to update the committee on progress against the projects included 
within these documents.  

1.2. These projects include developing a cycle network across the borough, creating 
safer and healthier streets and neighbourhoods, delivering secure cycle parking, 
facilitating a dockless bike hire scheme, working with schools to encourage modal 
shift towards cycling and delivering a comprehensive road safety education 
programme. 

2. Purpose 

2.1. This Committee report provides an update to the Committee on the commitments 
made to cycling within the 2018-22 corporate strategy and 2017 cycling strategy.  

2.2. The report also provides an opportunity for the Committee to provide feedback and a 
discussion with council officers on the progress made to date.  

3. Recommendations 

3.1. It is recommended that the Committee: 

 note the content of the report and associated Appendices 

 Provide officers with any feedback on the following schemes: 

o Deptford Parks Liveable Neighbourhood  

o Cycleway 4 

o A21 healthy Street  

o Cycle Parking  

o Contra Flow cycling 

o Broader cycle network 

Page 123

Agenda Item 5



 

 

o Dockless Bikes 

o 20mph compliance 

o Road Safety Education  

 
4. Policy context 

4.1. The Mayor of London’s Transport Strategy (2017) contains an aim that by 2041, 80% 
of all trips in London to be made on foot, by cycle or using public transport. This target 
is reflected in Lewisham’s Transport Strategy & Local Implementation Plan 2019-2041 
(LIP3). 

 
4.2. LB Lewisham’s Corporate Strategy (2018-22) sets out an ambitious vision to create 

positive change in the borough to improve the lives of everyone in Lewisham. One 
commitment under this strategy is “Making Lewisham Greener”. Within this 
commitment the Council pledges to “make cycling safer and more attractive”, as well 
as to “promote cycling through our own bike-loan scheme and dockless bike hire 
schemes” 
 

The Lewisham Cycling Strategy (2017) set out Lewisham’s policy objectives and an 
implementation plan for cycling in the borough. The proposals support the Council’s 
commitment to promote and increase cycling. This will encourage active travel within 
the borough and particularly shift journeys from short bus and car trips with potential 
benefits to air quality and public health. 
 

4.3. The borough set ambitious targets within this strategy to make Lewisham’s roads 
safer and more pleasant for walkers and cyclists. The four key targets are: 

 Double the number of cycling journeys 

 Increase the proportion of employed residents cycling to work to 10% 

 Halve the casualty rate of cyclists 

 Increase the number of children cycling to school by 50% 

4.3.1. The borough will be conducting a comprehensive update on these targets in 2021/22 
once more of the infrastructure and schemes identified in the strategy have been 
completed and comparable figures can be analysed against the baseline data. 
However officers do regularly review cyclist collision data, which is provided below. 

In 2018, 6 people were killed on Lewisham roads: 2 cyclists, 1 motorbike rider, 1 
Driver, and 2 Pedestrians. There were 101 people seriously injured of which 30 were 
pedestrians, 16 were cyclists and 30 were powered two wheeler riders. 

Data for 2019 so far shows that 3 road users were killed on Lewisham roads: 1 
pedestrian, 1 cyclist and 1 powered two wheeler rider. 

 
5. Cycle scheme updates 

Page 124



 

 

5.1. Cycleway 4 (formerly Cycle Superhighway 4) 

5.1.1 TfL led a public consultation for Cycleway 4 in April 2018, with LB Lewisham Mayor 
& Cabinet approval for the implementation for the scheme in Lewisham in autumn 
2019. The scheme will see a segregated cycle route constructed between Tower 
Bride and Greenwich, via Evelyn Street. Construction has been split into four 
sections: 

 

 Section 1 (construction July 2019 – April 2020) – Tower Bridge to Rotherhithe 
roundabout  

 Section 2 (construction November 2019 – March 2020) – Creek Road to 
Deptford Church Street (RB Greenwich) 

 Section 3 (construction April 2020 – February 2021) – Deptford Church 
Street to Lower Road (LB Lewisham section) 

 Section 4 (Construction dates TBC) – Rotherhithe Roundabout to Lower Road 
(subject to separate LB Southwark led ‘Rotherhithe Movement Plan’ 
consultation and approval process) 

 
5.1.2 LB Lewisham are working with LB Southwark on the Rotherhithe Movement Plan to 

ensure that Lewisham residents, particularly in the Evelyn Ward are not negatively 
impacted by the Lower Road Gyratory proposals, as initial modelling results suggest 
a potential increase in traffic waiting time and flows one of the adjacent streets within 
Lewisham. 

5.2 “Healthy Street” corridors 

5.2.1 Lewisham is one of the most pro-cycling Boroughs in London, and has a track record 
of working collaboratively with TfL to deliver cycling infrastructure, including London’s 
first Quietway and CS4 which is under development.  The A21 is the central spine of 
the Borough. It links our main TLRN routes, rail and Tube services, and our two 
major town centres. It also links in with CS4 in the north (which will provide a route 
into central London), and Bromley to the south, providing just the kind of vital link 
between inner and outer London that would be required to achieve the ambitious 
targets set out in the MTS vision. It is included as a key aspiration within the 
Council’s Cycling Strategy. 

5.2.2 The Council committed 20k from the 2019/20 LIP budget to help TfL undertake the 
necessary Outcome Definition work. A series of site visits, stakeholder meetings and 
workshops have taken place over the last year and the report is expected to be 
finalised early in 2020. This will include high-level design considerations for a 
physically separated cycle route from the top of Deptford Church Street to the 
boundary of LB Bromley in Downham. 

5.2.3 It is important to note that this route is not in TfL’s business plan and has no funding 
beyond the Outcome Definition work. However, the report will be presented to the 
TfL ‘Healthy Street’ board next year to seek approval for additional funding to go to 
the “feasibility stage”.  

5.2.4 In addition, Officers have been working with TfL to develop Cycle Future Route 14, a 
proposal to provide a full segregated cycle connection from Oval to Greenwich via 

Page 125



 

 

the A2 within Lewisham. Currently TfL are in the ‘Outcome Plan’ stage to consolidate 
an alignment. This will be followed by the ‘Outcome Definition’ in Spring 2020.  

5.2.5 A further proposal being developed is the Southend Lane/Whitefoot Lane Healthy 
Street corridor, which looks to create an east-west pedestrian and cycle route. The 
corridor consists of long sections of dual carriageway separated by central 
reservations. This is largely underutilized and creates severance between the 
residential areas on both sides, as well as hostile environments for walking and 
cycling. Early proposals are looking at reducing the width of the road to provide 
segregated cycling infrastructure, improved pedestrian environments and bus route 
improvements. The scheme would likely need to be funded through a successful 
Liveable Neighbourhood bid supplemented with other funding such as Bus Priority 
and developer contributions.  

5.3 Cycleways (formerly Quietways on some routes) 

5.3.1 The following Cycleways are now complete: Quietway 1 (Greenwich to Waterloo)), 
Greenwich to Bexley, and Bermondsey to Catford. The latter two are awaiting formal 
numbers. The following routes are still partially under construction. These routes are 
all shown in the map in the Cycling Strategy (p32): 

 Greenwich to Kent House – construction 85% complete with three 
interventions still to be built (Waterlink Way Bridge, Southend Lane crossing 
and Catford Trading Estate entrance) – expected completion date Autumn 
2020.   

 Canada Water to Deptford – construction 95% complete with one 
intervention still to be fully finished (Grove Street road markings) 

5.3.2 Healthy Neighbourhood Cycleways – Officers have been working with TfL to 
identify cycle routes that have a medium to high demand within the Strategic Cycling 
Analysis and fall within one of the first three Healthy Neighbourhood cells, as well as 
the proposed routes within the Lewisham Cycling Strategy. The following three 
routes were selected.  

 Lewisham to Lee (Lewisham and Lee Green HN cell) 

 Forest Hill to Sydenham (East Sydenham HN cell) 

 Brockley to C1 (Telegraph Hill HN cell)  

High level analysis of traffic flows, speeds and collisions is currently taking place in 
order to develop the proposals, with design work is to follow, subject to TfL approval   

5.3.3 Maintenance of cycleways in Lewisham – on-highway cycle routes will be 
programmed into the LB Lewisham’s ‘highway maintenance’ programme. Routes 
that run through green/park spaces will be maintained by our park services 
contractor Glendale who will pick up issues such as vegetation overgrowth and 
cracked paths. Where possible we will work with communities to enable to take 
ownership of maintaining certain components of the routes such as maintaining 
flower beds. 

Page 126



 

 

5.4 Deptford Parks Liveable Neighbourhood (DPLN) 

5.4.1 The DPLN will include new cycling and walking links, including the removal of local 
traffic, road closures, the creation of a world class north/south traffic-free walking and 
cycling facility, public realm improvements and healthy routes to schools. The 
interventions will transform streets, travel choices and the health of people, by 
connecting them with schools, parks, public transport, local businesses and high 
streets, as well as enabling new journeys beyond the neighbourhood. The project will 
mobilise the local community, fostering collaboration at the neighbourhood level and 
empowering people to have a say in the design of their streets and public spaces. 
LIP funding will contribute £50,000 during the second year of the LIP period. The 
concept design for Rolt Street constitutes a key part of the scheme, and was 
developed in partnership with the community, although this will be subject to further 
feasibility/design work and consultation. 

5.4.2 The project is now being formally consulted upon until 3rd January 2020, after 
extensive community engagement was carried out from November 2018 through to 
September 2019. Consultation responses will be analysed followed by any relevant 
design changes in January/February with detailed design programmed in from March 
for a 6 month period. Construction is due to begin in winter 2020 for a period of 12 
months, although the continuous footway crossing construction is due to commence 
slightly earlier from winter 2019. 

5.5 Bike Hangars 

5.5.1 Officers delivered 77 bike hangars in the 2018-19 financial year, with coverage in 14 
out of the 17 wards in the borough. £100k has been set aside from the cycling 
improvements LIP budget for the 2019-20 financial year which will be delivered in 
two phases In October 2019 and February 2020. In addition, LB Lewisham 
successfully bid for £224k of cycle parking funding from TfL’s dedicated Cycle 
parking fund - this includes 65 bike hangars, 349 Sheffield stands and 2 double tier 
units covering stations, town centres as well as schools, the Healthy 
Neighbourhoods zone and Deptford Parks Liveable Neigbhourhood zone. 

5.5.2 By the end of the 2019/20 financial year It is projected LB Lewisham will have a total 
of 182 bike hangars across the borough in all wards, as well as good cycle parking 
provision at train stations.  

5.6 Contra-Flow cycling  

5.6.1 Allowing contra flow cycling in many low trafficked streets will provide more 
convenient access as well as reducing the need for people on cycles to use busier 
streets. 

5.6.2 LB Lewisham commissioned Waterman group to carry out a high level feasibility 
report to identify suitable locations for converting one way streets in the borough to 
two way working for cyclists. The report also identifies a series of ‘quick win’ 
schemes within the first four healthy neighbourhood cells. In the 2019/20 financial 
year the quick win schemes will be delivered as well as outline design completion for 
the remaining 16 schemes. A list of these schemes can be found in Appendix 1. 

Page 127



 

 

5.7 Dockless Bikes 

5.7.1 Dockless cycle hire is a generic term for a short term cycle hire schemes, similar to 
Santander Cycles, but entirely ‘free floating’ – with no on-street docking 
infrastructure required. However, users may park bikes on or near public cycle 
stands. The schemes are commercially operated and do not require any public 
funding, other than the staff time involved in agreeing the parameters of the 
scheme’s operation. 

5.7.2 The borough had initially intended to launch a trial dockless bike scheme in summer 
2018 with operators Ofo and Mobike. However, this was not progressed due to Ofo 
going out of business and Mobike shrinking their operations to the central London 
zone. However, the emergence of ‘E-dockless bikes’ in London has seen a new 
wave of operators starting business in the capital. 

5.7.3 As such there is likely to be an ongoing need to manage dockless bike sharing 
schemes, and to find a way of addressing boroughs’ concerns regarding the impacts 
of the inconsiderate parking of dockless bikes. 

5.7.4 The LB Lewisham transport team has been working proactively with Transport for 
London (TfL) and London Councils, as well as neighbouring boroughs, to assess the 
right approach for implementing dockless bikes over the last year. A number of 
meetings have been held with operators including Ofo, MoBike and electric bike 
operators, Lime Bike and Jump.  

5.7.5 As a result of the above discussions the making of a pan-London set of byelaws has 
been proposed and will give London boroughs the power to regulate the use of 
dockless bikes including prohibiting dockless bike operators from causing or allowing 
the parking of the bikes other than at parking spaces approved by the borough. This 
proposal is being presented for approval at Full Council on November 25th.  

5.8 20mph speed compliance  

5.8.1 In September 2016 a 20mph speed limit was introduced on all borough highways. At 
that time the existing 30mph roads in the borough were just signed with the new 
speed limit and no physical traffic calming implemented. 

5.8.2 Although the signed only arrangement was successful at reducing speeds the overall 
reduction was small at around 0.5mph which is typical where limits are signed only 
without further interventions. However the speed reductions have been found to be 
greater on the roads that originally recorded the highest speeds where the average 
speed reduction over the “fastest” 20 roads measured is 2.3mph. 

5.8.3 In September 2018 a programme of speed reduction measures on 30 roads was 
approved by Mayor and Cabinet following a prioritisation exercise based on traffic 
speeds and personal injury traffic collisions. Implementation of the traffic calming 
works on the 30 road/routes commenced in 2019/20 and is expected to be 
completed in 2020/21. 

5.8.4 At the present time only one of the roads / routes has been completed and new 
traffic surveys carried out.  This was at Prince Charles Road where the traffic 

Page 128



 

 

calming works were able to be incorporated with a cycle crossing scheme and 
delivered earlier than expected. Survey results suggest that this has resulted in an 
average speed reduction of 6.3mph (28.7mph to 22.4mph) which is very 
encouraging. As more roads/routes are completed further traffic surveys will be 
undertaken to gain a wider appreciation of the effectiveness of the new measures. 

5.8.5 Reductions in general traffic speed have a positive effect on cycling both for existing 
users and those wishing to switch from other modes. A general reduction in traffic 
speed has a number of positive effects including reducing the “feeling” of road 
danger and also the number and severity of any collisions that do occur. A reduction 
of general traffic speeds is seen as essential to achieve Vision Zero.       

5.9 Road Safety Education and Smarter Travel 

5.9.1 The road safety and sustainable transport team work within schools delivering 
traditional road safety messages.  However the borough recognises that our road 
danger reduction approach needs to target the road users that cause harm rather 
than the victim alone. We are moving towards this but also still delivering the 
programmes that are part of the STARS accreditation scheme 

Current programmes include;- 
 

 Scooter Training – aimed at year 1 pupils was carried out in the summer of 
2019.  

 Junior Citizen – this is carried out over 4 weeks a year, it covers all aspects of 
safety from fire Safety to road safety to travelling on public transport, with each 
group of year 6 children receiving a 10 minute interactive lesson. 

 LB Lewisham’s Bike loan scheme still operates on a twice monthly available 
basis on a Tuesday and Thursday and offers a bike loan scheme for £10 for 
one month with an option to buy at a reduced rate. In 2018/19 we loaned out 
312 bikes and in 19/20, 266 bikes 

 Pre CBT Programme – aimed at younger, smaller moped and scooter riders. In 
partnership with Lewisham Motorcycle Rider Training (LMRT) Company the 
borough offers a pre Compulsory Basic Training course. A discounted CBT is 
offered to any rider who lives, works or studies in the borough. The course was 
developed by Lewisham, and has been successful in encouraging over 300 
young riders to attend the 2 hour classroom session. This was further 
developed to an online course, allowing more young riders to take up the offer. 

 2 Wheel London – Lewisham is a leading borough in improving the safety of 
two wheeler riders, working to develop London wide motorbike awareness. 
Angry Al is a social media campaign, this is being developed further to ensure 
drivers are aware of the part they play in causing harm to 2 wheelers, both 
motorcyclists and cyclists.  

 School Streets – the borough will be delivering the school street programme 
and supporting Car Free events. 

 34 road closures were carried out for car free day in September. 

 Play streets were successfully run at Sandhurst School, Myatt Garden, 
Holbeach, Torridon in the summer term. The procedure to run a play street has 
been simplified to encourage more schools to sign up to a car free summer 
event in 2020.  

Page 129



 

 

 A Learn Street was carried out in Lee, by Brindishe Lee where children had 
lessons out in the road throughout the day. 

 
6. Legal implications 

6.1 The Council has, by virtue of a mixture of legislation and common law, legal 
obligations and powers in respect of the highways for which it is the highway and 
traffic authority. So, for example, it has a duty to maintain the highways for which it is 
the highway authority and must also prepare and carry out a programme of 
measures designed to promote road safety.  

6.2 The measures set out in body of this report are proposals which the Council in its 
various capacities,  has the necessary powers to implement 

 

6.3 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) introduced a public sector equality duty (the equality 
duty or the duty).  It covers the following protected characteristics: age, disability, 
gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
 

6.4 In summary, the Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the 
need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act. 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic 
and those who do not. 
 

6.5 It is not an absolute requirement to eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, 
victimisation or other prohibited conduct, or to promote equality of opportunity or foster 
good relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and those who 
do not. It is a duty to have due regard to the need to achieve the goals listed above.  
 

6.6 The weight to be attached to the duty will be dependent on the nature of the decision 
and the circumstances in which it is made. This is a matter for the Mayor, bearing in 
mind the issues of relevance and proportionality. The Mayor must understand the 
impact or likely impact of the decision on those with protected characteristics who are 
potentially affected by the decision. The extent of the duty will necessarily vary from 
case to case and due regard is such regard as is appropriate in all the circumstances. 
 

6.7 The Equality and Human Rights Commission has issued Technical Guidance on the 
Public Sector Equality Duty and statutory guidance entitled “Equality Act 2010 
Services, Public Functions & Associations Statutory Code of Practice”. The Council 
must have regard to the statutory code in so far as it relates to the duty and attention 
is drawn to Chapter 11 which deals particularly with the equality duty. The Technical 
Guidance also covers what public authorities should do to meet the duty. This includes 
steps that are legally required, as well as recommended actions. The guidance does 
not have statutory force but nonetheless regard should be had to it, as failure to do so 
without compelling reason would be of evidential value. The statutory code and the 

Page 130



 

 

technical guidance can be found at: https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-
and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice  
 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-
guidance  
 

6.8 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) has previously issued five 
guides for public authorities in England giving advice on the equality duty:  
 
• The essential guide to the public sector equality duty 
• Meeting the equality duty in policy and decision-making 
• Engagement and the equality duty: A guide for public authorities 
• Objectives and the equality duty. A guide for public authorities 
• Equality Information and the Equality Duty: A Guide for Public Authorities 
 

6.9 The essential guide provides an overview of the equality duty requirements including 
the general equality duty, the specific duties and who they apply to. It covers what 
public authorities should do to meet the duty including steps that are legally required, 
as well as recommended actions. The other four documents provide more detailed 
guidance on key areas and advice on good practice. Further information and resources 
are available at:  
 
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-
duty-guidance#h1  

 

7 Financial implications  

7.1 There are no direct financial implications from noting the contents of this report. 

8 Equalities implications 

8.1 All the schemes will adhere to LB Lewisham’s Equalities Impact Assessment. The 
Council’s Comprehensive Equality Scheme for 2016-2020 provides an overarching 
framework and focus for the Council’s work on equalities and helps to ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act 2010. 

9 Sustainability implications 

9.1 It is likely that the cumulative effects of all the schemes listed, will bring about 
significant positive effects sustainability objectives relating to health, air quality, 
promoting more sustainable modes of transport, promoting safer communities, 
improving road safety, and improving accessibility in the Borough. 

10. Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 – Contra-flow cycling assessment 

 
11.  Background Documents  

Page 131

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-codes-practice
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/equality-act-technical-guidance
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1
https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/advice-and-guidance/public-sector-equality-duty-guidance#h1


 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report 
reference  

Short Title 
Document 

Date File Location Contact 
Officer 

Exempt 

1 Mayor’s 
Transport 
Strategy 
2018 

March 
2018 

https://www.london
.gov.uk/what-we-
do/transport/our-
vision-
transport/mayors-
transport-strategy-
2018 

Josh 
Learner 

 

2 Lewisham 
Cycling 
Strategy 

October
2017 

http://councilmeeti
ngs.lewisham.gov.
uk/documents/s53
983/Lewisham%20
Cycle%20Strategy
%202017.pdf 

Josh 
Learner 

 

3 Lewisham 
Corporate 
Strategy  

October 
2018  

https://lewisham.go
v.uk/mayorandcou
ncil/corporate-
strategy 

Josh 
Learner 

 

Page 132



 

 

Appendix 1 – Contra-flow cycle schemes 
 
Table 1 – contra flow long list 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 133



 

 

Table 2 contra flow ‘quick win’ list 

 
 

Page 134



 

 

Sustainable Development Select Committee 

Title Select Committee work programme 

Contributor Scrutiny Manager Item 6 

Class Part 1 (open) 4 December 2019 

 
1. Purpose 

1.1 To advise members of the Committee’s work programme for the 2019/20 

municipal year and to agree the agenda items for the next meeting. 

2. Summary 

2.1 The Committee drew up a draft work programme at the beginning of the 

municipal year for submission to the Business Panel for consideration.  

2.2 The Business Panel considered the proposed work programmes of each 

committee on 7 May 2019 and agreed a co-ordinated overview and scrutiny 

work programme.  

2.3 The work programme can, however, be reviewed at each select committee 

meeting to take account of changing priorities. 

3. Recommendations 

3.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 consider the work programme attached at Appendix B – and discuss any 

issues arising from the programme 

 consider the items scheduled for the next meeting – and specify the 

information the committee requires to achieve its desired outcomes 

 review the forthcoming key decisions set out in Appendix C – and 

consider any items for further scrutiny 

4. The work programme 

4.1 The work programme for 2019/20 was agreed at the meeting on 30 April 2019. 

4.2 Members are asked to consider if any urgent issues have arisen that require 

scrutiny and if any items should be removed from the work programme.  

4.3 Any additional items should be considered against the prioritisation process 

before being added to the work programme (see flow chart below).  

4.4 The Committee’s work programme needs to be achievable in terms of the 

meeting time available. If the Committee agrees to add additional items, 

members will also need to consider which lower-priority items should be 

removed to create sufficient capacity. 

Page 135

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 136



 

 

 

4.5 Items within the Committee’s work programme should be linked to the 

priorities of the Council’s Corporate Strategy.  

4.6 The Council’s Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 was approved at full council 

in February 2019.  

4.7 The strategic priorities of the Corporate Strategy for 2018-2022 are: 

1. Open Lewisham - Lewisham is a welcoming place of safety for all, 
where we celebrate the diversity that strengthens us. 

 
2. Tackling the housing crisis - Everyone has a decent home that is 

secure and affordable. 
 
3. Giving children and young people the best start in life - Every child 

has access to an outstanding and inspiring education, and is given the 
support they need to keep them safe, well and able to achieve their full 
potential. 

 
4. Building an inclusive local economy - Everyone can access high-

quality job opportunities, with decent pay and security in our thriving 
and inclusive local economy. 

 
5. Delivering and defending: health, social care and support - 

Ensuring everyone receives the health, mental health, social care and 
support services they need. 

 
6. Making Lewisham greener - Everyone enjoys our green spaces, and 

benefits from a healthy environment as we work to protect and improve 
our local environment. 

 
7. Building safer communities - Every resident feels safe and secure 

living here as we work together towards a borough free from the fear of 
crime. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 137

https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/open-lewisham
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/tackling-the-housing-crisis
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/giving-children-and-young-people-the-best-start-in-life
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-an-inclusive-local-economy
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/delivering-and-defending-health-social-care-and-support
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/making-lewisham-greener
https://lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/corporate-strategy/our-priorities/building-safer-communities


 

 

5. The next meeting 
 
5.1 The following items are scheduled for the next meeting on 28 October 2019. 
 
5.2 The Committee is asked to specify the information and analysis it requires for 

each item, based on the outcomes it would like to achieve, so that officers are 
clear about what information they need to provide. The Committee is also asked to 
decide the priority rating for each item. 

 

Agenda item Review type 
Relevant Corporate 

Priority 
Priority 

Climate emergency 
action plan 

Standard item CP6 High 

Local Plan Policy 
development 

CP6 High 

Flood risk action plan 
update 

Standard item CP6 Medium 

Surrey Canal Triangle 
draft SPD 

Policy 
development 

CP6 High 

Parks management in-
depth review evidence 
session 

In-depth review CP6 High 

 
6. Referrals 
 
6.1 Below is a list of the referrals the committee has made in this municipal year: 
 

Referral title 
Date of 
referral 

Date 
considered 
by Mayor & 

Cabinet 

Response 
due at Mayor 

& Cabinet 

Response due 
at committee 

Home energy 
conservation 

4 June 2019 26 June 20 November 21 January 

 
7. Financial implications 

7.1 There are no financial implications arising from the implementation of the 
recommendations in this report.  
 

Page 138



 

 

8. Legal implications 

8.1 In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, all scrutiny select committees must 
devise and submit a work programme to the Business Panel at the start of each 
municipal year. 

 
9. Equalities implications 

9.1 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, 
Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new public sector equality duty, replacing 
the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came 
into force on 6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: 
age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy 
and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

9.2 The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct prohibited by the Act 

 advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

 foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
9.3 There may be equalities implications arising from items on the work programme 

and all activities undertaken by the select committee will need to give due 
consideration to this. 

 
Background documents 

 
Lewisham Council’s Constitution 

 
Centre for Public Scrutiny: the Good Scrutiny Guide 

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Work Item Type of item Priority
Corporate 

priority

Delivery 

deadline
30-Apr-19 04-Jun-19 04-Jul-19 11-Sep-19 28-Oct-19 04-Dec-19 21-Jan-20 02-Mar-20

Development of the Lewisham Local Plan Performance monitoring Medium All Ongoing

Catford Town Centre Regeneration Performance monitoring Medium CP2,4,6 Ongoing

Parks management review In-depth review High CP6 Dec Scope Evidence Evidence Evidence Report & referral

Home energy conservation Standard item Medium CP2,6 Jun

Neighbourhood CIL strategy Standard item High CP6 Jun

Economy and partnerships Standard item High CP4 Sep

Budget cuts Performance monitoring High All Ongoing Cuts

Implementation of the air quality action plan Performance monitoring Medium CP6 Oct

Parking policy update Standard item High CP4,6 Oct

Surrey Canal Triangle design framework draft SPD Standard item Medium CP2,4,6 Oct

Cycling Standard item High CP6 Dec

Management of the borough's 'red routes' Standard item Medium CP6 Tbc

Flood risk action plan update Performance monitoring Medium CP6 Jan

Waste strategy implementation and performance monitoring Performance monitoring Low CP6 Jan

Climate emergency action plan Standard item High CP6 Dec

Corporate priority (2) - tackling the housing crisis - 'everyone 

has a decent home that is secure and affordable'.

Sustainable Development Select Committee work plan 2019-20

P
age 141



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
  

 
 

 

  
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS 

 

   
 

Forward Plan December 2019 - March 2020 
 
 
This Forward Plan sets out the key decisions the Council expects to take during the next four months.  
 
Anyone wishing to make representations on a decision should submit them in writing as soon as possible to the relevant contact officer (shown as number (7) in 
the key overleaf). Any representations made less than 3 days before the meeting should be sent toKevin Flaherty 0208 3149327, the Local Democracy Officer, 
at the Council Offices or kevin.flaherty@lewisham.gov.uk. However the deadline will be 4pm on the working day prior to the meeting. 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

A “key decision”* means an executive decision which is likely to: 
 
(a) result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the Council’s budget for the service or function to which the 

decision relates; 
 

(b) be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards. 

 
 

P
age 143



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

February 2019 
 

Insurance Renewal 
 

12/11/19 
Executive Director 
for Resources and 
Regeneration 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Award of Contract for an 
Integrated Housing IT System 
 

12/11/19 
Executive Director 
for Customer 
Services 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Early Help Support Services - 
Review and Permission 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Ladywell Playtower: progress 
update 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

April 2019 
 

Contract Award Tier 2/3 Drug 
Services/Shared Care 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 

 
  

 

P
age 144



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Retention of Right to Buy 
Receipts 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

School Meals Provision 
 

20/11/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Polling District Review 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Leo 
Gibbons 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Dockless Bikes bye-law 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Constitutional Update 
 

27/11/19 
Council 
 

Kath Nicholson, Head of 
Law and Councillor Kevin 
Bonavia, Cabinet 
Member for Democracy, 
Refugees & 

 
  

 

P
age 145



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Accountability 
 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award Report for 
Extra Care Service at Conrad 
Court 
 

03/12/19 
Overview and 
Scrutiny Business 
Panel 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of Draft Conservation 
Area Appraisal, Boundary 
Change and Article 4 Direction 
for Deptford High Street and St 
Paul's Conservation Areas 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

August 2019 
 

Consultation: Proposal to 
Transfer Management of 5 
Community Centres to 
Lewisham Homes 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Jonathan Slater, Cabinet 
Member for Community 
Sector 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Reduction & Recycling Plan 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 

 
  

 

P
age 146



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

October 2019 
 

Old Town Hall works - 
permission to tender 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Preferred Tender for Travel and 
Transport Programme 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Re-commissioning of 
Healthwatch & NHS Complaints 
Advocacy Services 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract Award for Stage 2 of 
Greenvale School Expansion 
Project 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

P
age 147



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Schools Minor Works 
Programme 2020 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract extension Tier 2/3 
Drug Services for adult 
substance misuse services 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Expansion of Drumbeat School 
& ASD Service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Building for Lewisham New 
Homes Programme parts 1 & 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Response to TfL consultation 
on Bakerloo Line Extension 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 

 
  

 P
age 148



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

October 2019 
 

State of the Highways 
Infrasructure and Update on 
Asset Management Strategy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

PLACE/Ladywell parts 1 & 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Contract award Violence 
against Women and Girls 
service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Joani Reid, Cabinet 
Member for Safer 
Communities 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Achilles Street Update parts 1 
& 2 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 

 
  

 

P
age 149



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

October 2019 
 

Parking Policy Update 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approach to Boroughwide pot 
of Neighbourhood Community 
Infrastructure Levy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Learning Disability Framework 
- Permission to Reprocure 
Contracts from Framework 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Post Consultation for two 
Article Directions Perry Vale 
and the Christmas Estate CA 
and Lewisham Park CA 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Improvement Work Social Care 
Software Systems (LiquidLogic 
Adults - LAS & Childrens LCs) 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 

 
  

 

P
age 150



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
 

Contract Award LSL Sexual 
Health Promotion Service 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval for the Procurement 
of a cafe at Mountsfield Park 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Catford Town Centre Housing 
Infrastructure Fund Grant 
Agreement 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Playing Pitch Strategy 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Andre Bourne, Cabinet 
member for Culture, Jobs 
and Skills (job share) 
 

 
  

 

P
age 151



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 
 

The Leathersellers' Federation 
of Schools Instrument of 
Government 
 

11/12/19 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Sara Williams, Executive 
Director, Children and 
Young People and 
Councillor Chris 
Barnham, Cabinet 
Member for School 
Performance and 
Children's Services 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 
 

Disposal of former Wide 
Horizon Sites in Wales & Kent' 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Mayor Damien Egan, 
Mayor 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Acquisition of land at Pool 
Court. parts 1 & 2 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

May 2019 
 

Performance Monitoring 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Private Sector Housing 
Borough-wide Licensing 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

June 2019 Adopting a Residents Charter 15/01/20 Kevin Sheehan,   

P
age 152



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 for Lewisham 
 

Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

  

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Draft Housing 
Strategy 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Housing Strategy and 
Homelessness Strategy 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Mayow Road Supported Living 
Service Parts 1 & 2 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 

 
  

 

P
age 153



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

Care 
 

October 2019 
 

Highway Contract Tendering 
strategy for 2021 award 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Brenda 
Dacres, Cabinet Member 
for Environment and 
Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval for the procurement 
of lake operations for 
Beckenham Place Park 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Setting the Council tax Base 
NNDR Tax Base & Discounts 
for Second Homes and Empty 
Homes 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Supported Accommodation 
Permitted Contract Extension 
 

15/01/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

NHS Commissioning 
Arrangements in Lewisham 

22/01/20 
Council 

Aileen Buckton, 
Executive Director for 

 
  

 P
age 154



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

  Community Services and 
Councillor Chris Best, 
Deputy Mayor and 
Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
 

Setting the Council tax Base 
NNDR Tax Base & Discounts 
for Second Homes and Empty 
Homes 
 

22/01/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Social Care 
software systems 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of revenue and 
benefits software systems 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

P
age 155



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Renewal of Oracle Licensing 
arrangements 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Kevin Bonavia, 
Cabinet Member for 
Democracy, Refugees & 
Accountability 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Learning Disability Framework 
- Award of call off contracts 
 

05/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Tom Brown, Executive 
Director for Community 
Services and Councillor 
Chris Best, Deputy Mayor 
and Cabinet Member for 
Health and Adult Social 
Care 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget Update 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Precision Manufactured 
Housing (PMH) Procurement 
Process Outcome and Decision 
 

12/02/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Paul Bell, 
Cabinet Member for 
Housing 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Budget 2020-21 
 

26/02/20 
Council 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Amanda De 
Ryk, Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Resources 
 

 
  

 

P
age 156



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

October 2019 
 

Lewisham Climate Emergency 
Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Air Quality Action Plan 
 

11/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

October 2019 
 

Adoption of the Catford 
Regeneration Masterplan 
Framework 
 

25/03/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and Mayor 
Damien Egan, Mayor 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Approval to appoint operator 
for concessions contract at the 
lake, Beckenham Place Park 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

Kevin Sheehan, 
Executive Director for 
Housing, Regeneration & 
Environment and 
Councillor Sophie 
McGeevor, Cabinet 
Member for Environment 
and Transport (job share) 
 

 
  

 

 
 

Corporate Equalities Scheme 
 

29/04/20 
Mayor and Cabinet 
 

David Austin, Acting 
Chief Finance Officer and 
Councillor Jonathan 
Slater, Cabinet Member 

 
  

 

P
age 157



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

for Community Sector 
 

P
age 158



FORWARD PLAN – KEY DECISIONS 

Date included in 
forward plan 

Description of matter under 
consideration 

Date of Decision 
Decision maker 
 

Responsible Officers / 
Portfolios 

Consultation Details Background papers / 
materials 

 

      

      

P
age 159



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the meeting held on 28 October 2019
	2 Declarations of interest
	4 Parking policy update
	04 Appendix 1 - Public Consultation Summary
	04 Appendix 2 - Staff Consultation Summary
	04 Appendix 3 - Parking permits issued in Lewisham r1
	04 Appendix 4 - Recommended New Parking Charges
	04 Appendix 5 - Pay and Display review
	04 Appendix 6 - Criteria for disabled parking places
	04 Appendix 7 - Minor Parking Projects Criteria 2019
	04 Appendix 8 - PROPOSED CPZ criteria

	5 Cycling
	6 Select Committee work programme
	06 Appendix B - work plan 041219
	06 Appendix C - Key decision plan 041219


